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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE F[ERJE

CHAIRMAN'’S
MESSAGE

F FEHIEE

Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SBS, SC, JP
MEBEFARN > REFAEE » KTFHL

Chairman &

While the year under review has not been without its frustrations,
as a rather robust economic recovery in the second half of 2021
gave way to a serious new wave of the COVID-19 pandemic
in early 2022, it has been a year of positive developments for
the Consumer Council. Under the new normal, the Council
has achieved several breakthroughs and innovations across a
broad spectrum of consumer protection work during the year.
This included the launch of a brand new website, a revamp of
the Consumer Rights Reporting Awards and the expeditious
dissemination of much-needed information on Rapid Antigen
Test (RAT) kits, to name a few. Perhaps most significantly, we
commenced a three-year strategic plan that will enable us to
chart new horizons going forward.
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Many online and offline retailers saw a welcome revival in business as
2021 progressed, though inevitably this was accompanied by a surge
in fraud cases or complaints about late or non-delivery of goods and
services. On the other hand, some other businesses still struggled
to survive or simply closed down, including a number of restaurants,
several major fitness centres and a cinema chain. These impacted
couples who had booked wedding banquets or consumers who had
prepaid for gym contracts or movie vouchers.

Strengthening Consumer Protection on
Purchase of Properties Outside Hong Kong

One key area of the Council's work is policy advocacy and engagement
with stakeholders including the Government, the business sector
and the media. In this regard, the Council published 2 major studies
covering purchase of properties situated outside Hong Kong (POH) and
sustainable consumption (SC), both the products of several years of
research.

POH have become increasingly popular in recent years, as evidenced
by the growing number of advertisements in various media. Complaints
received by the Council concerning such purchases have surged
from two or three dozen a year in the recent past to over 100 in 2021,
primarily related to trade practices. However, the promotion and sale
of POH is not generally governed by the current regulatory framework,
as estate agents dealing exclusively with POH are generally exempted
from licensing under the Estate Agents Ordinance enacted in 1997,
which focused on local property transactions. The Council’s study
report on the subject was extensive and comprehensive, covering
local and non-local legal research, analysis of complaint cases, surveys
of advertisements, mystery visits, stakeholder engagement and a
benchmark comparison with other jurisdictions. It concluded that there
was much room for improvement in the regulatory framework and put
forth 5 recommendations to the relevant authorities. These proposed
regulatory changes are not intended to make the purchase of POH risk-
free, but to safeguard consumers making these significant and complex
purchases by ensuring the presentation of accurate and adequate
information and the provision of professional services from estate
agents.

Promoting Sustainable Consumption for a
Greener Hong Kong

An equally important element of the Council's mission is nurturing
responsible consumption. We have been promoting SC for a number
of years and as part of these efforts, published a baseline survey on
consumer behaviour in 2016. In 2020, we tracked changes in consumers’
attitudes and behaviour, and monitored the latest SC developments
locally and overseas. The results were published in 2021.
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE F[ERJE

Our latest findings show marginal progress in terms of the 2 major SC
indexes. The index score of “Consumer Awareness and Attitude” has
increased from 74 in the baseline survey to 77 currently, while that for
“Consumer Behaviour and Readiness” has risen from 69 (Behaviour)
and 65 (Readiness) to a collective 71. Disappointingly, however, 32% of
respondents indicated they seldom or never recycled plastics, a step
backwards compared with 27% in the baseline survey. Clearly there
is much room for improvement and some challenging work ahead. In
this regard, we put forward 9 consumer-oriented recommendations'
for change, for the consideration of the Government, businesses and
consumers themselves.

Being the Voice of Consumers in Public Policies

During the year, the Council responded to various consultation papers
from the Government and other public bodies on regulatory and
legislative initiatives, mainly those covering environmental issues and
the use of plastics.

We believe that regulating disposable plastics by banning products
such as expanded polystyrene tableware in phases is an effective and
pragmatic measure to reduce plastic waste at source. The Council
believes Hong Kong has the capability to bring forward the timetable
for such regulations from 2025 in order to keep up with international
pace in this area of development. In parallel, the Government should
encourage the wider use of reusable tableware. Given the current
unsatisfactory recycling rate for plastics, it is a top priority to minimise
the environmental impact generated from such waste. To make
Hong Kong a truly green city, all single-use plastic products should
eventually be regulated, though higher priority and more stringent
control measures should be accorded to those products for which
sustainable alternatives are readily available in the market, or have
no essential need in daily life, such as excess packaging materials and
plastic shopping bags.

Besides speaking out on environmental matters, we commented this
year on the regulatory approach of cryptocurrencies and stablecoins.
Crypto-assets and stablecoins are highly volatile as compared with other
common investment products. Hence it is essential for the authorities
to anticipate changes in the market and adopt an adequate regulatory
framework. The Council believes regulatory oversight should cover
cryptocurrencies not only as an investment tool but also as a token for
daily consumer transactions. Even at the early stage of development,
the number of scams related to crypto-assets is on the rise and related
consumer protection is far from sufficient.

1 Details of the recommendations are covered in the chapter “Promoting Sustainable Consumption”.
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The Council's submission to the Hong Kong Monetary Authority on
the subject pointed out that as a leading global financial centre, Hong
Kong should take prompt action and align with international regulators
when considering an optimal regulatory model. Such a model needs to
cover a comprehensive consumer protection framework that includes
the regulation of promotion and sales tactics; the enhancement
of information disclosure in areas such as background of issuer,
authorisation status, risk factors and redemption arrangements; market
stability; and a high level of data privacy and cybersecurity.

Empowering Consumers amid COVID-19 Pandemic

Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the Council has consistently
disseminated test reports relating to combatting the pandemic. Over
the past year, we have remained diligent in conducting tests and surveys
on various new anti-epidemic products entering the market. With more
residents now cooking at home, the Council has conducted safety tests
on kitchen appliances such as cast iron pots and air fryers, as well as
food tests on ham, biscuits and other popular foods.

Demand for RAT Kkits soared in late February amidst the fifth wave of the
pandemic. The sudden influx of these kits in the market with different
countries of origin and international accreditations left consumers
bewildered. It was difficult for laymen to digest such complex
information let alone make informed purchasing choices. In response to
this urgent need, besides providing practical tips for selecting RAT kits,
the Council developed and released within 10 days a “Search Tool for
Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) Kits Approved for Use by Various Regions" to help
consumers verify and select suitable products. This topic generated
over 220 items of media coverage while the search tool clocked one
million page views in just 11 weeks, an exceptionally high usage rate.

Businesses have faced unprecedented hardships during the past 2 years
of the pandemic and it was very unfortunate that some have been
forced to close down. During the past year, a number of the closures had
considerable impact on consumers, including those of several fitness
centre chains, together affecting thousands of subscribers, and a major
cinema network for which pre-purchased vouchers or accumulated
incentive rewards could no longer be redeemed. Probably the most
serious case was the closure of Bonjour Beauty which operated beauty
salons and a massage parlour, resulting in 1,040 complaints involving
over HK$40 million. These incidents once again highlight the risks of
prepayment.
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To help revive the hard-hit economy, the Government announced a
consumption voucher scheme in mid-2021, sparking a shopping craze
amongst the general public. To prevent zealous consumers from being
blindsided by so many promotions and discounts, and overlooking the
terms and conditions of the offers, or falling into high-value prepayment
traps, the Council disseminated information to the public a month ahead
of the first disbursement, then again when the vouchers were released.
Along with the results of the Council’s survey on 250 traders, consumers
were provided with helpful tips on selecting the most suitable Stored
Value Facility (SVF) and reminded to spend wisely and shop rationally.

The fifth and most serious wave of COVID-19 in February 2022 brought
confirmed daily cases to tens of thousands and rumours spread of an
imminent citywide lockdown for universal testing. This led to a panic
buying frenzy, with long lines building at supermarkets where stocks of
fresh produce and other groceries were quickly depleted. The Council's
Chief Executive and | personally spoke publicly to urge consumers to
remain rational in stocking up food and other necessities, and gave
assurances that the Government was doing all it could, working closely
with Mainland counterparts, to alleviate any shortage of fresh food.

To make the situation even worse, prices at 3 major supermarkets
increased during the height of the pandemic, with an increase in
aggregate average price recorded across 11 product groups, the
highest being 24.8% when comparing March and January 2022 data.
We issued media statements calling upon traders to maintain stable
prices and stock levels, while advising consumers to compare prices at
different stores before making purchases in haste. In fact, our annual
supermarket pricing survey revealed that although there was a slight
1.9% drop in the aggregate average price of a basket of supermarket
goods in 2021, such marginal savings were unable to offset the
pandemicinduced surge in prices for common food and household
products during the first year of the outbreak.

Steering Long-term Vision in Safeguarding
Consumers

The pandemic s likely to linger, albeit on a more moderate scale. Despite
these uncertainties, the Council never loses sight of the importance of
longer-term planning and has put in place a three-year strategic plan
covering 2022-25, encompassing 5 major goals to guide its development
and direction, namely safeguarding consumer interests under the
digital economy; enabling better quality of living through informed
consumption choice; equipping vulnerable consumers - notably youth,
the elderly and consumers with special needs - with proper knowledge
and skills for self-protection; sustaining and developing partnerships to
synergise consumer protection work at international, Mainland/Greater
Bay Area and local levels; and upholding the Council as an effective and
high-performing statutory body through staff enrichment and strong
corporate governance.
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Going Beyond the Call of Duty

With Hong Kong again feeling the full force of the COVID-19 pandemic
in early 2022, it was only possible to get through such difficult times by
pulling together as a team, working even harder and going beyond the
call of duty. Therefore, | wish to extend my heartfelt gratitude to all our
staff and management who showed such impressive resilience, flexibility
and initiative. | should of course also thank Members of the Council and
the many important stakeholders and partners with whom we have
worked during the past 12 months for their unwavering support and
guidance.

This is the last full financial year | will serve as Council Chairman, having
had the honour and privilege to be part of the incredible organisation
since early 2019 and to play a role during one of the most momentous
and difficult periods in Hong Kong's recent history. | would like to
send my best wishes to the Council's new leadership, and | am sure
that under their guidance it will continue to innovate and rise to the
challenges in the many years and decades to come.

Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SBS, SC, JP
Chairman
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE #8385

MESSAGE FROM
THE CHIEF

EXECUTIVE
MR ENEE

Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han
HREMHZL

Chief Executive 488425

Major Breakthroughs Despite Pandemic’s
Headwinds

The past year was marked with continued disruptions to the
economy and local businesses as the COVID-19 pandemic
entered its second year - yet on the other side of the coin,
people became more agile in the new normal. Watching the new
economy and marketplace increasingly evolve from offline to
online is as exciting as it is challenging for the Council and many
local consumers.

Despite these unprecedented challenges, the Council remained
focused on its objectives and goals in 2021-22 to protect and
empower consumers by disseminating information, organising
public education activities, and effectively handling and
resolving complaints, as well as working in partnership with key
stakeholders such as the Government and the media. The Council
also saw a number of breakthroughs and milestones in the year,
including the 45th Anniversary of CHOICE Magazine and the
launch of a new website, integrated with the eCHOICE platform,
making 2021-22 another momentous year in the Council’s history.
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Information Empowers Consumers

Possibly the most potent tool for enhancing consumer protection is
to empower consumers to shop smart through timely dissemination
of information about major products and services in the marketplace.
As consumers increasingly shop online and gather information from
the Internet, the Council’'s website has become its most important
touchpoint with the public. It has therefore become crucial for us to
undertake a major makeover of our website, packing it with 4 major new
functions and more than 200 free “Shopping Guide” articles covering 9
product categories, to enhance the overall navigation experience.

The new website optimises our online enquiry and complaint services
to reinforce consumer safeguards in dispute resolution, supported by a
user-friendly e-Form. For CHOICE subscribers, it offers a Product Picker
feature to compare easily the ratings and details of each product in
specific tests. During the 12 months under review, the Council's website
recorded 7.8 million page views, with peaks seen for several popular
CHOICE topics, in particular the test report on pre-packaged biscuits in
October 2021.

We did not, however, lose sight of the needs of many consumers who
still prefer to lay their hands on the physical publication CHOICE, which
marked the significant milestone of its 45th year in circulation in 2021.

Circulation of the magazine has now reached over 200,000, up from
40,000 when it was launched in 1976, making it one of the bestselling
monthly publications in Hong Kong. We began the celebrations with a
special event at the annual Book Fair in July 2021, and invited Olympic
gold medallist Guo Jingjing to grace the cover of the November issue.
The finale of the celebrations was an online quiz contest in late 2021,
giving out a total of 131 CHOICE covers autographed by 12 iconic
celebrities or groups to share the joy with readers.

Amongst issues published this year, the top seller covered test results
on pre-packaged biscuits, revealing that some were found to contain
genotoxic carcinogens. Ranked second and third were the issues about
meatballs and cast iron cooking pots respectively, a clear indication that
public health remains a primary concern among consumers.

Enriched Media Partnership for Consumer
Protection

The well-established Consumer Rights Reporting Awards (CRRA) which
has been successfully held for 21 years underwent a major revamp this
year in an effort to keep pace with the new media landscape where
social media journalism is fast becoming mainstream. Various enhanced
features were added to the CRRA such as piloting of the social media
category, reworked categories, awards structure, judging process,
judging criteria and cash prize value. Importantly, public participation in
the form of voting was also introduced for 2 categories to raise public
awareness on consumer rights.
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Safeguarding the Vulnerable

In the past year, 1,053 complaint cases were filed by consumers aged 65
or above. With the biggest increase in complaints among all age groups
during the period - and at 36% compared with a year ago, it was a fairly
substantive hike. To further safeguard interests of the ‘silver-haired’, we
appointed our first group of senior educators through the Pilot Educator
Scheme for Senior Citizens (ESSC) and launched a brand new Elderly
Hotline in early 2022. The ESSC is aimed at training senior educators
to host community talks for their fellow elderly, sharing the latest
consumption-related information with them and also strengthening
their support for each other through the social network. The dedicated
Elderly Hotline provides a user-friendly service for elderly consumers,
encouraging them to seek help, make enquiries or lodge complaints in
case of disputes with traders.

Apart from senior citizens, our public education efforts were also
directed towards youths and mentally handicapped consumers.
The objective is to empower them with the right knowledge to fight
against trade malpractices in the marketplace. In collaboration with
the Education Bureau, the Council continued to educate young
consumers via its flagship programme, the annual Consumer Culture
Study Award, which attracted 597 teams, covering over 2,500 students
from 77 secondary schools. Another initiative, Earth 2038, which is
an experiential learning journey to instil the concept of sustainable
consumption to young students, continued receiving enthusiastic
support with the participation of over 3,600 students from 32 primary
schools in the 2021/22 school year.

The third group of vulnerable consumers are those with special needs.
The “Support Programme for Persons with Special Needs” entered its
second year in 2021. The programme was designed to empower social
work and education practitioners, who would then deliver consumer
education workshops for persons with autism spectrum disorder, mild
intellectual disability, and common mental disorder, enhancing their
self-protection capacity.
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Handling Complaints of Diverse Nature
Under the New Normal

The emergence of a new economy and the “new normal” way of life
under the pandemic has radically changed consumer behaviour. Online
purchases of goods and services have grown substantially, not only
in volume but in value too, resulting in a growing number of related
complaints. In particular, the number of complaints about online
clothing and accessory purchases has spiked, as have those related to
online food order platforms. Meanwhile, as outbound travel dwindled
amid the pandemic, the “staycation” trend continued to flourish,
alongside a corresponding surge in complaints.

After a steep increase in complaints at the beginning of the pandemic
outbreak in 2020, mainly due to travel restrictions and the shortage of
anti-epidemic supplies, the situation in 2021 showed a gentle decline
in light of the stabilised supply of anti-epidemic products. In total
29,207 cases were received in the year under review, a slight 2% year-
on-year (YoY) increase, but the total value involved was a staggering
HK$1.11 billion, a 62% YoY surge; this was due mainly to the purchase
of properties and the closure of a beauty chain. Complaints relating to
properties have been consistently on the rise for the past 3 years and
the amount involved in the reporting year reached HK$730 million, a
96% increase from a year ago. Amongst the complaints, the purchase of
properties outside Hong Kong was concerning, rising 12% YoY.

As consumers have been spending more time at home during the
pandemic, the number of complaints related to electrical appliances
soared to a 5-year high, while those involving furniture and fixtures
rose by 20%. Food and entertainment services ranked second, while
telecommunication services clocked the third-highest number of
complaints with 2,224 cases recorded, as more families shifted to
working and schooling from home. Looking ahead, the Council needs to
pay heed to new consumer complaint trends amidst the new normal.

Since the outbreak of COVID-19, apart from updating the dedicated
“hub” of the website, we have consistently issued test reports related to
combatting the pandemic. Entering the second year of the pandemic
in 2021, we remained diligent in conducting tests and surveys on new-
fangled anti-epidemic products that had cropped up in the market.
Additionally, as more people stay at home, our safety tests on novel
kitchen appliances including cast iron pots and air fryers helped
safeguard consumers’ health, as did food tests on ham, biscuits and
other popular groceries.
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE {#&%Er75E

Annual Consumer News Voting Reflects
Key Public Concerns in 2021

Public voting of the annual Top 10 Consumer News organised by the
Council in collaboration with several media organisations continued
this year. The results were a good barometer of consumer issues
attracting wide public concern. Three of the 10 top stories this year
were related to the pandemic, including the closure of a cinema chain,
the ongoing disputes resulting from postponed or cancelled wedding
banquets, and the demand for foreign domestic helper quarantine
facilities far exceeding supply. Another 3 stories that made it to the list
were related to newly enacted or proposed bills, including municipal
solid waste charging, regulation of disposable plastic tableware, and the
ban on electronic cigarettes and heated tobacco products. The news
story about The Pavilia Farm lll, a major real estate project found to be
substandard during construction and was required to be demolished
and rebuilt ranked third amongst the top 10 while also receiving the
highest votes in the “Most Outrageous” news category.

Rising to the Challenge of New Market Trends

In fighting the pandemic alongside Hong Kong people in the past
2 years, the Council has remained steadfast in its mission, striving to
reinforce consumer protection with a special focus on safeguarding
public health and well-being. We are acutely aware of the need to rise
to the challenge from an increasingly digitised society and stay ahead
of market trends in order to uphold the best interests of consumers.
We have spared no effort in promoting responsible and transparent
practices by all merchants, both on- and offline.

Looking ahead, we are cautiously optimistic that we will be able to
achieve the Council's strategic objectives and meet the goals set for
the coming years, including sustaining our efforts to safeguard the
consumer interests of vulnerable groups and the wider public we serve.
None of this would be possible without the valued support and advice
rendered to the Council by our Members and Chairman, as well as by
the multitude of key stakeholders and partners. To all of them we are
extremely grateful.

Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han
Chief Executive
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MANAGEMENT TEAM OF THE CONSUMER COUNCIL HEEZSEEIE
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MANAGEMENT TEAM OF THE

CONSUMER COUNCIL

HEERXETEIRE (2021.04.01 - 2022.03.31)
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Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han
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Principal Research & Survey Officer
Dr Keith KWOK Wing-yin
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Head of Legal Affairs Division
Mr Michael KAN Kin-hang
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RIS (from 2021.12.13 #8)

Principal Public Affairs Officer
Ms Amy WONG Pui-shan
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Head of Human Resources Division

Head of Consumer Education Division
Mr LEE Wing-kai

Ms Joey LAI Cho-yee
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Principal Planning & Trade Practices Officer
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Mr Eddy TONG Chi-chung
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Principal Complaints & Advice Officer
Mr Francis HO Ying-foo
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Head of Information Technology Division
Mr Ricky NG Chi-wah
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Head of Finance & Administration Division
Mr Steven WONG Chun-man
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THE CONSUMER COUNCIL

HEEZEE

The Consumer Council has been a champion of consumer rights in Hong Kong
for nearly half a century, taking up roles similar to its counterparts all over the
world. Apart from advocating consumer protection policies, the Council also
promotes fair competition, seeks redress for consumers and provides useful
and reliable information on various consumer goods and services.

BEMFER HEEREEEFAABBERANE R - — RSB RER
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RECHEEN

The Consumer Council

The Consumer Council is a statutory body established in 1974. Pursuant
to the Consumer Council Ordinance (Cap. 216), the Council’s functions
are to protect and promote the interests of consumers of goods and
services, and purchasers, mortgagors and lessees of immovable

property by:

* collecting, receiving and disseminating information concerning goods
and services and immovable property;

* receiving and examining complaints and giving advice to consumers
of goods and services, and purchasers, mortgagors and lessees of
immovable property;

* taking such action as it thinks justified by the information in its
possession, including tendering advice to the Government or to any
public officer;

* encouraging business and professional associations to establish
codes of practice to regulate the activities of their members; and

* undertaking such other functions as the Council may adopt with the
prior approval of the Chief Executive in Council of the Government.
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Consumer Council Membership

The Council comprises a Chairman, a Vice-Chairman? and not more than 20
other Members® appointed by the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region for a term not exceeding 2 years. Members may be
reappointed upon the expiry of their respective terms of office.

In the year under review, 2 new Members joined the Council: Dr Catherine
CHAN Po-ling and Ms Miranda KWAN Ching-yi. The Council would like to
express its gratitude to 2 retired Council Members: Mr Marvin HSU Tsun-
fai, J;, and Mr Ramon YUEN Hoi-man for their unrelenting commitment and
dedication during their terms of office.

Council and Committees

The Council operates with a committee structure comprising
10 Committees and Working Groups® and the Full Council
meetings are held on a bimonthly basis.

The Council co-opts professionals of different disciplines as members
of the Committees or Working Groups in order to benefit from their
expertise and to facilitate the Council's work or studies in specific fields.

10 Co-opted Members continued to serve the Council upon
their retirement: Dr Jason CHAN Kai-yue, MH, JP, Mr Clement
CHAN Kam-wing, MH, JP, Mr Johnny FEE Chung-ming, JP, Prof.
Michael HUI King-man, MH, Mr Richard KHAW Wei-kiang, SC,
Mr Daniel C. LAM, SBS, BBS, JP, Ms Queenie Fiona LAU, Prof.
Angela NG Lai-ping, Mr SHIH Wing-ching, JP, and Mr Tony
TANG Kwok-wai.

The Council expresses sincere gratitude for the support and expertise
contributed to the Council of 3 Co-opted Members who retired during
the year: Ms Amy FUNG Dun-mi, MH, JP, Mr Ambrose HO, SBS, SC, JP,
and Mr Alex LAl Ting-hong.

Besides, the Council administers the Consumer Legal Action Fund via a
Board of Administrators and a Management Committee.

2 See Appendix 1 for the list of former Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Council.
3 See Appendix 2 for the list of Full Council Members and Co-opted Members.
4 See Appendix 3 for the full list of Committees and Working Groups.
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The Council Office

Under the leadership of the Council's Chief Executive, the 160-staff-
strong Council Office operates with 9 functional divisions, namely
Complaints and Advice Division, Consumer Education Division, Finance
and Administration Division, Human Resources Division, Information
Technology Division, Legal Affairs Division, Planning and Trade Practices
Division, Public Affairs Division, and Research and Survey Division®.

Finance

The Council derives its income mainly from Government subvention.
Other sources of income (approximately 2.5%) include proceeds from
sales of the Council's CHOICE Magazine and interest income. Total
recurrent and non-recurrent expenditures for the year under review
was HK$131.68 million and HK$16.32 million respectively®.

5 See Appendix 4 for the organisation chart of the Council. #R#8iZ2H4 B 400 -
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Sustainable Consumption
Tracking Study and Joint Conference
with CUHK

FREETABHMA REARAS R E

In June 2021, the Consumer Council published "Embracing
Sustainable Consumption for a Happy Life - A Tracking Study on
Consumer Behaviour”, an in-depth study to monitor changes
in consumers’ attitude and behaviour towards sustainable
consumption (SC) 5 years after its baseline survey in 2016.

Comparison of the current and baseline surveys' scores of the
2 major SC Indexes indicated that consumers showed progress,
albeit marginally. There was still a gap between consumers’
awareness and their behaviour in reality, in particular their
participation in the crucial habit of recycling.

Given a sustainable SC culture requires tripartite effort by
consumers, businesses and the Government, the Council puts
forward 9 recommendations for consideration by all related
stakeholders.

To enable an informed dialogue among stakeholders, the Council
co-hosted a Sustainability Conference with the Centre for Business
Sustainability of the CUHK Business School a week after the release
of the study report.
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More in “Fostering Competition and a Fair Marketplace”
HERR T REMSEHRFNATES, —&

. Embracing ! “Embracing Sustainable Consumption for a
Sustainable Consumption Happy Life - A Tracking Study on Consumer
r a Happy L Behaviour"
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Consumption Voucher
Communications Campaign

REFMEEFEA

Once the Government announced the consumption
voucher scheme in mid-2021, traders and the
designated Stored Value Facilities were quick to roll
out a variety of offers as they vied for consumers’
$5,000 worth of consumption vouchers, sparking a
shopping craze across the city.

While supporting the Government's efforts to
revive the battered economy through the scheme,
the Council also foresaw the potential risks of
prepayment transactions and other consumption
traps early on. In light of this, an extensive
communications campaign was launched to share
essential consumption tips and complaint cases with
the public, both before and after the disbursement
of the consumption vouchers.
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More in “Disseminating Consumer Information”
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Launch of the Consumer Council
and eCHOICE Integrated Website

EMHERILER
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In August 2021, the Council unveiled its newly revamped
website integrated with the eCHOICE portal, offering an
enhanced and personalised user experience that better
caters to the preferred information access habits of
consumers.

Apart from a refreshed interface, the new website features
an array of new sections and functions closely related to
daily life, including “Shopping Guide” with 9 categories of free
information to enrich consumer knowledge; a rich archive
of almost 50 educational videos on different shopping
advice; "Product Picker” which allows CHOICE subscribers to
compare the test ratings and details of products in specific
tests; as well as optimised online enquiry and complaint
services.
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More in “Disseminating Consumer Information”
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22nd Consumer Culture Study
Award (CCSA)

F 22 BHEN(LERRES

The 22nd CCSA, the Council's annual flagship programme
run in collaboration with the Education Bureau, was
successfully concluded with an Award Presentation
Ceremony on 21 October 2021, resuming in-person format
after the unprecedented live-streamed ceremony of the
previous year. A total of 653 teams from 59 secondary
schools had participated in the programme.

For the 23rd CCSA, the Council has newly introduced
4 theme exemplars to guide participants through the
projects and further enrich their learning experiences.
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More in “Empowering Consumers Through Education
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2021-22 HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR FE XE[EIE

Advocating Enhanced Consumer
Protection for Purchase of
Properties Outside Hong Kong

(BRI EETEIRIMIRAAERIE

In October 2021, the Council released the study
report “Purchase of Properties Outside Hong Kong -
A Study on Enhancing Consumer Protection”, putting
forward 5 recommendations covering the licensing
of estate agents, information disclosure, content of
advertisements, as well as a mandatory cooling-off
period, with a view to strengthening the regulation
of sales of properties situated outside Hong Kong for
the betterment of consumers purchasing non-local
properties.

202110 B> A2 Bk (RIBEXRFRE) HRBE (F
HOREZ RMERERR ERKE BERNE 2
MRABRLIEAT BHETBEIMENES RE
BERXHEERIRERS

More in “Advancing Legal Protection for Consumers”
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“Purchase of Properties Outside Hong Kong - A Study on
Enhancing Consumer Protection”
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CHOICE 45th Anniversary
Celebrations

Eim (Z1E) AT 45 AFRLE

The 45th birthday of CHOICE Magazine in 2021 was marked
with an exciting series of celebrations, which kicked off with
a birthday party-themed booth at the Hong Kong Book
Fair in July and culminated in November with a cake-cutting
ceremony, while renowned Olympic gold medallist Guo
Jingjing was the cover celebrity of the November issue. A
campaign giving away autographed classic CHOICE covers
of 12 iconic celebrities and groups attracted overwhelming
response from the public and readers.

While CHOICE celebrated 45 years in circulation, it continued
to publish a host of topics which raised public concern
during the year, including a test report on pre-packaged
biscuits as the cover story of the bestselling issue.
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More in “Disseminating Consumer Information”
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Top 10 Consumer News -
Year of the Ox

FE+KFRBEHR

Entering its 18th year, the annual Top 10 Consumer News
voting campaign concluded in January 2022 with yet another
record-high number of 6,425 voters.

The results reflected consumers’ most pressing concerns of
the year, with the top 3 news stories being the permanent
closure of UA Cinema, passage of the waste charging bill,
and the demolition and reconstruction of 2 towers of
The Pavilia Farm 1lI. In addition, 2 news stories related to
the Council’'s work made it into the top 10, including the
test report on 60 models of pre-packaged biscuits, and
complaints relating to consumption vouchers.
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More in “Disseminating Consumer Information”
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A New Era for the Consumer
Rights Reporting Awards (CRRA)

Y M RRERHRIEER,

The 21st CRRA concluded with a presentation ceremony in
August 2021, conferring a total of 32 awards in 7 categories.

Responding to the rapidly changing media landscape and
increasingly diversified information dissemination channels
in recent years, the revamped CRRA was launched in
February 2022 as it entered its 22nd year. Notable changes
and new features included restructured categories with a
newly added “Topical Reporting Award”, piloting of the social
media category to expand participation, as well as opening
up 2 categories for public voting, whereas the cash prize
was also doubled.
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More in “Disseminating Consumer Information”
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Strengthening Consumer

Protection for the Elderly —

Launch of the Pilot Educator Scheme
for Senior Citizens (ESSC) and Elderly
Hotline

2% 'EREEHEAE. R BREFEREG,
RS A EER

As population ageing has become a global trend, a fair and age-
friendly marketplace coupled with protection of consumer rights
for the elderly have become ever more important. The Council
launched the Pilot ESSC and the Elderly Hotline in the year under
review, marking a significant milestone in the Council’s mission to
promote and safeguard elderly consumer rights.

The Pilot ESSC, organised by the Council with 5 partner NGOs,
aims to equip the elderly with knowledge in consumer rights and
public speaking techniques, so that they could transfer knowledge
to other senior citizens by hosting community talks, sharing
consumption-related news, and forming a strong social support
network.
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More in “Empowering Consumers Through Education”
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The Council has launched the Elderly Hotline — 2110 2288 — to
provide a convenient and accessible channel for elderly consumers
to make enquiries and seek help when consumer issues and
disputes arise. This dedicated hotline is purposely designed to
reduce the number of steps or buttons to press before patching
the caller through to the Council's staff, greatly enhancing the user-
friendliness for senior citizens.
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More in “Resolving Disputes Between Consumers and Businesses”

FENZE T AEEEEREBECMOMG, —&

Disseminating Information
on Rapid Antigen Test (RAT)
Kits and Pandemic-related
Consumer Issues

ERRE N R SRR IREER
HEEH

The Council remained highly diligent in educating and
providing the public with anti-epidemic information
through the dedicated “Together, We Fight COVID-19"
webpage.

In response to the acute situation and the
Government’'s announcement recognising RAT
results as early identification of positive cases in late
February 2022, the demand for RAT kits soared and
related complaint cases also surged. The Council
swiftly developed and launched a “Search Tool for
RAT Kits Approved for Use by Various Regions” within
10 days to help consumers verify and select suitable
products amongst the vast selection on the market.
The search tool clocked 1 million page views in
11 weeks' time, an exceptionally high usage rate.

reZEBFRN(ELNE) BR BEREES
BRBRNTUEEM-

BEREBREMNBUGTH 2 B AR RERFRN
BR ERFPZDHRD2ERNAIIN SREREFR
ABWFTRAEN L7 MEE R ERINBEEIA T -
REDHEENTHDERENAEBERENFIAEE
f ZHANEBERTAEE A2REE 10 BN
BHTARABERTHRENRISERELSSE, -
THESH BRRENESR ABEERE—BEEA
R REEBEENENARFIERXES-

More in “Collecting Market Information on Goods
and Services” and “Disseminating Consumer
Information”

HEUZRTRAEHERNMBRBENTHREN R
TMERBENE ) ME

Search Tool for Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) Kits
Approved for Use by Various Regions

¢ TRtER AR RERRAR R EESE
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RESOLVING DISPUTES BETWEEN
CONSUMERS AND BUSINESSES

RfF HEAMEE A ZEIM M

To help members of the public seek redress from businesses providing unsatisfactory goods or
services, the Council operates an easily accessible platform to help consumers and traders resolve
disputes by means of conciliation, aiming to help the two parties reach a mutually acceptable
agreement. Over the past two years, changes in consumption patterns and the disruption to
established marketplaces brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic have given added importance
to this role. Although the Council is not a law enforcement agency and does not hold investigative
powers, it works closely with different authorities to exchange information and facilitate law
enforcement actions to combat unscrupulous trade practices. The Council also proactively
monitors the marketplace and releases timely alerts to consumers.

RIBBEEERAREBF CARANBREXERMGIRNFR BRSRUERNRFTE EBRAEHRE
Billy FHEENEPHEREDEMNMNMBELSR - BEME HERXHRBEEE N LEHEHATER
RERERE ARERT BRXSHHERDNACENER - BEASUIFNEIFT RERTED BX
E-HEARBMREEFE REESNEBNEGHETE DITBARERT - RF ASTEHERD
BEmTIE TEFAAREHIEEER

Complaints and Enquiries Received WER R AR

The Council received 65,311 enquiries and 29,207 complaints in 2021- £ 2021-22 > AetiEE 65,311
22, representing a 1% increase and 2% SUHBRAL 29,207 SUHBIRE &
increase year-on-year (YoY) respectively. FT—EEARBAI% R 2% XN
The use of e-Form remained the major D7 L B RRERNASTREN NS
complaint channel in 2021-22 that

ted f 76% (22,067 fth %ﬁﬁ"]zgﬁ?g’ {ﬁﬁ‘%% 6% ( 22,067
accounted for /6% (22,067 cases) of the COMPLAINTS y =) LB e A P B O

total complaint cases received. During 135K - . .
the year, 89% of enquiries were received o RGBT 9 9 (89%) -

by telephone.

Overvi 4 Trend HERBZ

verview an rends . o
REEREFETH 2020-21 F£ER 28,590 5

The total number of complaints during the year edged up a slight 2%, T EF 2% Z 20207 =0 Zrh A EESK

from 28,590 cases in 2020-21 to 29,207 cases in 2021-22. Amongst RIS RIS AR 2 15,418 = (53%) » B EFRE

these, services-related complaints showed a 10% YoY increase with FI10%; TR E BN R ERZA 13,789

15,418 cases (53%) while goods-related complaints constituted 47%
with 13,789 cases. The top 3 categories in 2021-22 were “Electrical
Appliances” (2,738 cases), “Foods & Entertainment Services” (2,498
cases) and “Telecommunication Services” (2,224 cases). Complaints
involving late or non-delivery (4,399 cases), price dispute (4,224 cases)

5o (HBRFETE 47%- 2021-22 FEEH 3 fiL
HEFENAERAM(2,738R) RERR
£ (2,498 R) MBARKE (2,224 R) @R
FESRIEH/REXE (4,399R) BRFEZE

and sales practices (3,944 cases) contributed to a sizeable share of (4;224 =) MEBMFIA (3,944 %) BRMEHR
complaints (15%, 14% and 14% respectively). RARET 15% 14% R 14%
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The overall success rate in case resolution dropped slightly from 67%
to 66% YoY (see Fig. 4). A large number of non-pursuable or unresolved
cases were attributed to cessation of trader’s business, which included
beauty and fitness centre chains. Conciliation also became more
difficult as the traders hesitated in offering settlement as a result of
the economic uncertainty brought by COVID-19. For cases with traders
refusing to resolve the dispute, the complainants would be advised to
seek redress via alternative channels, including civil legal action.

Upsurge in Complaints Relating to
Anti-epidemic Supplies

Since the onset of the fifth wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in early
2022, complaints concerning anti-epidemic supplies have spiked
sharply. Amid the severe outbreak, there was increasing demand from
the general public to purchase Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) kits for self-
testing. The Council received a total of 271 complaints related to RAT
kits in the first quarter of 2022, mainly regarding “Late / Non-delivery /
Loss” (67%) and “Quiality of Goods” (11%). As the pandemic persists, face
masks have become a daily necessity and the Council recorded 263 face
mask-related complaints in 2021-22, concerning “Late / Non-delivery /
Loss” (45%), “Quality of Goods” (17%) and “Price / Charges Dispute” (11%).

Disputes on Online Shopping Prevail

The COVID-19 pandemic and anti-epidemic measures have changed
the purchasing patterns of consumers. Triggered by the “stay-at-home
economy”, online shopping disputes reached a total of 8,207 cases that
accounted for almost 28% of the overall complaints. “Late / Non-delivery
/ Loss” (33%), “Sales Practices” (14%) and “Quality of Goods” (13%) were
the main issues covered by these complaints.

When shopping online, consumers need to be vigilant of the terms and
conditions of the offers to better understand their rights and obligations
under the contract. Consumers are also reminded to pay heed to the trader’s
background, such as whether they have a physical store or provide a valid
means of contact to avoid failure of delivery or even falling into sales traps.

Shop Closures and Economic Sentiment

The COVID-19 situation in Hong Kong in 2021-22
remained challenging and has taken a sharp economic
toll on the retail industry. In 2021-22, the Council received
a total of 1,832 complaint cases related to shop closures,
representing a sharp increase of 149% when compared
with that of the previous year (736 cases). Most of the
complaints concerned the closure of spa and beauty
chains (1,072 cases) and fitness centres (615 cases). In
view of economic uncertainty, consumers are reminded
to minimise high-value prepayment transactions.

According to the complaint statistics, unscrupulous and high pressure sales
tactics were prevalent in “Fitness Centres” (32 cases) and “Beauty Services”
(68 cases), but the successful resolution rate in these 2 sectors was only
55% and 60% respectively. Therefore, the Council will continue to monitor
the situation and advocate for the introduction of a mandatory cooling-
off period in the service contracts of these 2 industries, so as to deter
traders or their representatives from engaging in undesirable sales tactics.

MR EHINERBEEN 67% KM TRE 66%

(RE4) > ERADBEREEF K ILLEMARAEE
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increase in complaint
cases related to shop
closures
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Fig. 1 Complaint Trends in the Past 3 Years
1 Bk 3 FRENRSKET

Year F{3 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22
Total number of complaints % 37 /E 22 §& £ 26,545 28,590 29,207
YoY changes 1R &E &) - +8% +2%

Fig. 2 Top 10 Consumer Complaints by Industry in 2021-22
2 2021-22 EEE10MLERHEREFITT

Electrical Appliances | 2,738
ERAE 213 2548

Foods & Entertainment Services | 2,498
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Fig. 3 Nature of Consumer Complaints in 2021-22
3 2021-22 EEZHRME
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Fig. 4 Resolution Rate of Cases with Pursuable Grounds in 2021-22

4 2021-22 FEFRIEHIHE

Total number of cases received & FFHa5L
Number of cases with pursuable grounds’ A ER R FF{E 2"

Number of cases in progress {7E iR ETHIEZR
Number of cases resolved RS #RRRIEZ

Resolution rate §B{ERKINE

Top 5 Complaint Categories

1. Electrical Appliances

Electrical appliances recorded 2,738 complaint cases in 2021-22, a
28% YoY upsurge, making it the top among all complaint categories -
probably as a result of more time spent at home during the pandemic.
The top 3 most complained-about appliances were the same as last
year, namely air conditioners (15%), television sets (13%) and washing
machines (11%). Concerns about the “Quality of Goods” (30%) and
“Repair / Maintenance Services” (28%) accounted for more than half of
the complaints.

2. Foods & Entertainment Services

“Foods & Entertainment Services” ranked second with 2,498 complaint
cases, representing a YoY increase of 57%. Restaurants (33%), online
foods delivery services (28%) and fast food outlets (15%) were the most
common subjects of complaint. Among all these complaints, “Price
Dispute” accounted for 20% while another 19% were related to “Quality
of Services” and 18% for “Variation / Termination of Contract”.

3. Telecommunication Services

Complaints against telecommunication services remained in third place
with a total of 2,224 cases recorded. Close to half of the complaints
involved mobile phone services (47%) while Internet services accounted
for 31%. The complaint nature was mainly related to “Price Dispute”
(30%), followed by “Variation / Termination of Contract” (25%) and “Quality
of Services” (24%).

4. Beauty Services

Beauty services related complaints surged 168% YoY from 800 cases
to 2,142 cases, making it the fourth-highest category in 2021-22. The
sudden closure of 3 spa and beauty chains was a main source with 1,072
complaints, accounting for half of this category. Apart from cases related
to shop closures, 18% (384 cases) and 12% (247 cases) were related to
“Sales Practices” and “Quality of Services"” respectively.

29,207
20,214

4,498

10,354
66%

B 5 (B RERAER

1. ERAM
TRERABNRRERLING L K5
2738 % B LEEBE LI 28% fasten
EXRGAI BERFRSNIEEEAL
HEEFERR AARRHE (15%) Bk
(139) FIMAHE (119)  TIABIB— K HORFF 1%
BREKEE (30%) RS/ RERH (28%)
CEE

2. REERIRE
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REERAGREE MEMKFAIRERTF
ENBRBEER 9845 18% (384 ) K& 12%
(247 R) -

7 Anonymous complaints, cases with insufficient information, and complaints outside the Council’s terms of reference are in general non-pursuable.
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5. Travel Matters

Travel plans were still disrupted due to the pandemic in 2021-22 with
1,299 complaints recorded. Among these, complaints related to air
tickets (569 cases) accounted for 44%. “Hotel Booking” had the second-
highest volume of complaints, with a total of 346 cases (27%) recorded.
The most noticeable types of complaint nature were “Variation /
Termination of Contract” and “Price Dispute” with 503 and 406 cases
received individually, constituting 39% and 31% respectively of all “Travel
Matters” complaints.

Launch of the Elderly Hotline to Strengthen
Consumer Protection for Senior Citizens

To foster an age-friendly consumption environment especially amidst
the ageing population, it is vital to provide a convenient and accessible
channel for elderly consumers to make enquiries and seek help when
consumer issues and disputes arise.

In light of the above, the Council has officially launched the Elderly
Hotline — 2110 2288 — in January 2022. This is the first ever hotline
established by the Council for a dedicated consumer group, with the
aim to provide user-friendly and direct customer service for elderly
consumers, allowing them to easily access the Council’s services from
home or anywhere. Senior citizens can call the Elderly Hotline when they
encounter consumption disputes or wish to make enquiries relating
to consumer issues, and the Council will endeavour to help resolve
disputes between the consumer and trader through conciliation.

To enhance accessibility based on the elderly’s needs, this brand new

hotline is purposely designed to reduce the number of steps or buttons

to press before the caller is patched through to the Council’s staff,
reducing it down to only the language selection and input of age
range. With enhanced accessibility to seek help, senior citizens can
be better empowered to protect themselves.
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IMPROVING PRODUCT
QUALITY AND SAFETY

DNEEmERREZE

Product quality and safety are of paramount importance to consumers, especially in the current
circumstances when the pandemic has shifted consumption priorities and reshaped consumer
behaviour. The pandemicinduced global inflation has driven consumers to search for more
value-for-money products, while heightened health awareness and more time spent at home
are also key factors for this sea change in consumer demand.

As part of its ongoing research and testing programme, the Council monitors more than 1,000
products a year, evaluating their essential product features including safety, performance, ease
of use, durability and environmental sustainability, serving as reliable reference for consumers.

RREREVHEEM T BB VHERD ERERAREWHEERSEAER - BRYRERIBSIRNEIR
Bk REHEESHEERYENERZIN REESNRSARFERTNE TEEBHEERR
HIEEERIBERAR

AEEFEETIMELOUFG R SFEER 1,000 #ER FREMNERSE BERE2 X

g ERLERE  MARERREAFEL REEEREIENSS -

Research and Test Reports

A total of 53 testing, survey and research reports were published in the
Council's monthly CHOICE Magazine during the year®. The products
surveyed ranged from popular foodstuffs and household goods to
cosmetic and personal care products, clothing and apparel, children’s
products, pet products, electrical appliances and consumer electronics.
The findings alerted consumers to immediate or potential product
hazards and offered objective guidance to making informed choices.

Products found to be non-compliant with Hong Kong regulations
or international standards were referred to the relevant regulatory
authorities by the Council for immediate follow-up, while the concerned
manufacturers, agents and service providers were called on to rectify
the faults and improve the quality and standards of their offerings.
Over the years, such market monitoring mechanisms have proven to be
effective in facilitating law enforcement and driving different businesses
to ensure value creation in their offerings.

M RARRS

R AGE (BB AT LBRNERNR #
EMHRBRERE 530" BEMNERBELS
RHNRSNRERS HHeNEAERES
BE REER UNES ERNETER-A
PR AR RS LB ESNNBUEEAR
PABER SR -

BERREMAEF TR ERNERANEFEZ
R ASHEBAEEEERBIUARE WY
BEEm NEmkRFHEmM ISR NEE
mERMEFAERKE ZER ERHHETE
HIIREA MBI ENHE R R ABERAIEIEE

8 See Appendix 6 for the lists of testing reports, market survey and in-depth study reports published during 2021-22.
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Types of Product Tests

The Council conducts tests on more than a thousand products
during the year by engaging universities or internationally recognised
laboratories and through collaboration with Government departments.
As an active member of the International Consumer Research & Testing
(ICRT), which is an international consortium of more than 30 consumer
organisations, the Council benefits from the experience of the other
markets by accessing ICRT's product tests and valuable resources.

Food

As consumers have become increasingly health-conscious, the Council
has stepped up resources in testing popular food products and advised
consumers on their safety and nutrition levels, with 13 test reports
published during the year compared to 10 test reports in the previous
reporting year.

Meatballs

As meatballs are a popular ingredient in Hong Kong-style dishes such
as soup noodles, hot pot and barbecue, their nutritional value and
safety are a topic of public interest. The Council tested 60 samples of
pre-packaged and non-prepackaged meatballs covering 5 categories,
namely beef meatballs (including beef balls and beef tendon balls),
gong wan (a type of meatball typically known to contain pork), fish balls,
cuttlefish balls and lobster balls.

In this first-ever DNA test on meatballs, all 10 samples of lobster balls
were not detected with crustacean DNA, while 12 samples of beef balls
or beef tendon balls were found to contain pig DNA. Besides reminding
people with religious dietary restrictions to pay heed to the meat
ingredients when purchasing meatballs, the Council also urged traders
to enhance the transparency of the types of meat used for making
meatballs.

75% of the meatballs were found to be "high-sodium” foods (over
600mg sodium content per 100g solid food sample), amongst which the
fish ball samples had the highest average sodium content. Gong wan
was found to be the category with the highest average total fat content,
while that for lobster balls was the lowest. 4 gong wan and 2 beef balls
reached "high-fat” levels (over 20g total fat content per 100g sample).

Samples detected with heavy metal contamination were
mostly seafood-type meatballs, 50% of which were detected
with mercury or methylmercury. The fish ball sample with §
the highest level of methylmercury was considered not in
compliance with the relevant regulations by the Centre for
Food Safety (CFS) after investigation. Consumers were advised
to consume meatballs
in moderation, control
the portion to avoid
excessive intake
of sodium, fat, and
consequent health
risks.
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Coffee

Coffee is an energy-booster for many office workers, as well as a pick-
me-up for consumers who wish to sneak a break from the daily grind.
In the Council’s test on 49 coffee products of 4 different categories,
the genotoxic carcinogen acrylamide was detected in 47 samples
with amounts varying by almost 14 times, of which the instant coffee
samples had a higher content. The Council reminded consumers that
immature coffee beans contain a large amount of free asparagine which
forms acrylamide when roasted at high temperatures.

Test results revealed that the caffeine content among the samples
differed considerably. The average caffeine content of instant coffee
was higher than coffee beans, coffee capsules and coffee powders, due
to its extraction and concentration process. Based on the preparation
formula indicated on the samples, the highest caffeine content of 1
cup of coffee could be around 295mg, which means drinking 2 cups
would exceed the daily recommended intake limit for adults (400mg).
Consumers should note that prolonged caffeine intake will
increase their tolerance to caffeine, consequently requiring
a higher caffeine level to achieve the same physiological
effects. This may also lead to physiological
dependence on caffeine,
possibly causing withdrawal
symptoms such as headaches,
irritability and fatigue once
consumption stops.

Moreover, pesticides
were detected in 46
coffee samples, out of
which 45 contained folpet, a
pesticide commonly found in
fruits and vegetables, which
could cause irritation to the
eyes and throat. 13 contained
2-phenylphenol, which, despite
its acute toxicity not being high,
could cause bladder tumours as e
shown in animal experiments. @&
3 samples contained pyridaben,

a pesticide commonly found in nut plants,
and exhibits a mild to moderate acute toxicity.
1 sample contained biphenyl, which may cause
kidney poisoning or symptoms of the central
nervous system with prolonged intake. The levels of
folpet in 38 samples, 2-phenylphenol in 1 sample, and
pyridaben in 1 sample exceeded the maximum residue
limit set by the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA)
(Folpet: 0.10mg/kg, 2-phenylphenol and pyridaben:
0.05mg/kg); the detected amount of folpet in 1 A%
sample even exceeded the upper limit by more 4
than 6 times.
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Milk and Milk Beverages

Known for its nutritional values, milk is a daily source of calcium and
protein for many people. The Council tested 40 samples of milk and milk
beverages, including 26 treated with ultra-high temperature processing
(UHT) and 14 pasteurised samples. Test items included veterinary drugs,
preservatives, microbiological and nutrient contents. The labelling
information of the samples was also reviewed.

All tested samples showed a satisfactory overall level of hygiene. The
Milk Regulation lays out that after pasteurisation, milk or milk beverages
should have a total bacterial count of less than 30,000 per millilitre. Only
1 sample of pasteurised milk was found to contain 20 colony-forming
units of bacteria. The Council reminded consumers that pasteurised milk
and milk beverages should be stored at 4°C or below, while unopened
UHT sterilised products could be stored at room temperature in a cool,
dark place away from direct sunlight.

According to the test results, 27 samples had calcium contents that
could be regarded as a “source of calcium”
(not less than 60mg calcium per 100ml liquid
food sample). Even though 30% (13 samples)
reached “high calcium” level (not less than
120mg calcium per 100ml liquid food sample),
the calcium content varied as much as
onefold. Therefore, consumers were advised
to check the nutrition label when purchasing
“high calcium” products.

As for the protein content, apart from 2 milk
beverage samples which only contained 2.1g
and 2.5g of protein per 100ml sample, the
other 38 samples could be regarded as a
“source of protein” (not less than 3g protein
per 100ml liquid food sample). Based on the
average protein content of all samples (3.4g
per 100ml), consuming 235ml of the milk
would provide a protein intake of around
8g, only amounting to 12.3% and 14.5% of
the recommended daily protein intake for
adult males and adult females (65g and 55g) respectively. Consumers,
especially the health-conscious and vegetarians, were reminded not
to rely on milk as the sole source of protein, but to maintain a healthy,
balanced and diverse diet.
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IMPROVING PRODUCT QUALITY AND SAFETY SZEEREREEZE

Biscuits

As one of the most versatile snacks, biscuits are popular with adults
and kids alike. The Council tested 60 samples of pre-packaged biscuits
on the market, including 17 crackers, 9 sandwich biscuits, 8 wafers,
7 biscuit sticks/finger biscuits/cigar biscuits, 6 soda biscuits, 4 digestives,
2 ring biscuits, 1 marie biscuit, and 6 types of other biscuits. Test items
included the food safety and nutrient content of the samples.

Glycidol and acrylamide are both genotoxic carcinogens which may
induce cancer in experimental animals, and the intake of genotoxic
carcinogens should be as low as reasonably practicable/achievable.
The test revealed that 54 samples contained glycidol. Acrylamide was
also detected in 55 samples, amongst which 4 samples exceeded the
benchmark level (350ug/kg) for general biscuits and wafers laid out
by the European Union (EU), while 3 cracker samples exceeded the
benchmark level (400pg/kg) for crackers. The Council anticipates the
authorities to make reference to the EU and impose benchmark levels
for foods with a higher risk of containing excessive levels of acrylamide,
such as French fries, crisps, biscuits and crackers, for the industry to
follow.

Another contaminant 3-MCPD was detected in 56 samples with a huge
disparity in the levels. Taking the biscuit sample with the highest 3-MCPD
level (2,000ug/kg) as an example, consuming 8 pieces (66.7g) would
incur a 3-MCPD intake that exceeded the Tolerable Daily Intake (not
more than 120pug for a 60kg adult) recommended by the EFSA.

In terms of the nutrition, 33 samples reached the "high-fat” food
benchmark, while 46 samples were found to contain trans fatty acids
(TFA), the highest being a sample of wafer which contained 1.36g TFA
per 100g. TFA could affect the levels of “good” and “bad” cholesterols,
consequently increasing the risk of coronary heart disease. Furthermore,
27 samples reached the benchmark for “high-sugar” foods (more than
15g sugars per 100g solid food sample), while 13 samples were classified
as "high-sodium” foods. If 7 pieces (105g) of the cracker sample with the
highest sodium content (1,090mg per 100g) was consumed, the sodium
intake would be over 50% of WHO's recommended daily limit for adults
(2,000mg sodium).

The Council reminded consumers to pay heed to the health risks
of consuming various types of biscuits, and at the same time urged
manufacturers to improve the formula
and raw materials to reduce the levels of
contaminants, fat, sugar, and sodium in food.
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Rice Noodles

Easy to cook and often considered a healthier staple food, noodles
made from rice are a key part of many consumers’ daily diet. The
Council tested 30 samples of pre-packaged rice noodles, out of which
27 were dried noodles, including vermicelli, flat rice noodles (“ho fun”),
rice noodles (“mixian”), Thai rice noodles, and Korean noodles, while
3 were fresh mixian. The test covered only the noodles and excluded
the seasoning or sauce, with test items including metallic contaminants,
nutrient content and the allergen gluten, while the labelling information
was also reviewed.

The protein content (per 100g) was found to have a huge variance of
over 21 times amongst the 27 dried noodles. Manufacturers might
add corn starch or other types of starch to rice noodles to improve
the texture during cooking, but this will simultaneously reduce its ratio
of rice ingredient, lowering the protein ratio. Although the addition of
starch could make the rice noodles more al dente, it is also harder to
digest. Senior citizens or people suffering from indigestion were advised
to pay extra heed.

Aside from 7 samples which could not be directly compared due to
the nutrient contents of seasoning, sauces and other flavourings
being included in their nutrition labels, over 70% (17) of the remaining
23 samples were found to have a discrepancy between the declared
and detected nutrient contents incompliant with the requirements
set out in the CFS' “Technical Guidance Notes on Nutrition Labelling and
Nutrition Claims”, amongst which the sodium content of 1 dried Thai
rice noodles sample even exceeded the labelled value by over 41 times.
Besides, 2 samples were detected with the allergen gluten but failed to
declare this in the packaging as regulated, which could potentially cause
health risks to individuals with gluten intolerance. Furthermore, over
80% (26) of the samples were detected with metallic contaminants —
24 with cadmium, 14 with chromium, and 9 with the carcinogen
inorganic arsenic. The Council reminded consumers to pay attention
to the differences in nutrient, energy and fat contents between rice
noodles and rice, so as to maintain a balanced diet.

Children’s Products
Plastic Toys

With less chance to play outdoors during the pandemic, children
have spent much more time housebound with toys as their main
companions. In particular, stress-relieving squeeze toys and poppits
have become highly popular in recent years. As children are often in
close contact with such sensory toys, kneading and squeezing them all
the time, their safety is a major concern.

In the Council's test on 29 plastic toys, 22 models failed to
comply with the requirements of the EU toy safety standard
*on mechanical and physical aspect, of which 15 models
+*+ showed structural safety problems. In the EN 71-1 tension
test for reasonably foreseeable use or abuse, all 8 stress-relieving
silicone toys (poppits), 3 squeeze toys, and 2 bath toys broke into small
parts, amongst which the inflation valve of 1 inflatable bath toy fell off
after the test. If toddlers or children swallow the small parts
by accident, there might be airway blockage resulting in
suffocation risks. In addition, the elastic constant of 1 .
squeeze toy model — a yo-yo — exceeded the upper
limit of the standard, indicating that the toy's rebound
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ARRER

HERH ERHBREENARER  RADHEE
ENHFER AR 30 RFALBEKRE
BEAR ER 2T RARLEREA BRI
AR BRI REBRARIER BT 3
RREKIREAR BARAIBERANERE
7 AEEARGSET ARREEESEBSR
W ERRIERIENBRE TRETEERNR

BERANERERER K LB I100RtE
0 FEERBANERERENHEER 21 fF- R
ERNBTERRIE RN INFAKR AR - L
HEZERNER BIBRKSAANINER
AYLEBUR A - FRAEEB LB - RN T RDAIKER
BERHFEABREES ERHHL RENEHHL
ARMHALTEZINEE:

T REARNRBER LHEERERS TARNIE
TERHNERERSE REERLE MEK
3FEAR BT (17T IETHNERRS
BEAABRNEEATRRZPOL(ERRER
ERBEEES) NER BF 1 RLSBHEK
AHMEE BREREMEER 4 E- B 8
AREA 2 FEARBED BREKEFIFHR
™ AR HBERRNATRERRERR- It
Sh B8 EL (26 30) BAREEESRY D5
B 24 REAREE 14 RHE - 9 R HARE
"W MBUBMERE - ASREHEE B
EARERIEKRNEE  2E IRIMDH L
REFHERE -

REEM
PRIA

BBETNBREIFINTET K
B MBEXRH RERBE
ZH NABRARAREN g
FEGM BERFSBHRBITA
(poppit) KAIEEITA (squeeze toy) HFEIEH
MIT AR ELEANER B E R EE &
REZIEEE T EENR, ER2MESTET-

AGRH 29 REBIE B 22 SEATERM
EOEMEAS REFERBENAERERENR
R HR 15 FARAERBREMAE EHRERE
BEEN M-I MEEERAAT 8 RFEBEWE
B 3FAMERITAEMN 2 FURATT R H RS &
ENERM - HAP 1 RIRRINATL RN RIE R
AR R WRDERET N
B BRSHEBETR 5%
ZE 8- B 1 RAERER
BEBEREER BUEREE
BEREERHLER RERR
P S SBAEENTS

2021-22 Annual Report 3 |



IMPROVING PRODUCT QUALITY AND SAFETY HEERERRZE

As children play with toys for long periods of time, and may even put
them into their mouths, structural and material safety are equally
important. Results showed that the potential carcinogen polycyclic
aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) were found in more than 85% (25) of the
models, amongst which 2 had naphthalene levels exceeding the upper
limit of the German safety standard by almost 4 to 11 times. According
to the EU directive on chemical classification, naphthalene is classified
as Category 2 carcinogenic and Category 4 in acute toxicity.

Phthalates are often added to PVC plastic materials to increase elasticity
and durability. In the phthalates family, di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP)
and benzyl butyl phthalate (BBP) have been found to be carcinogenic
and reproductive toxic. Test results revealed that 3 models contained
DEHP, the highest of which reached 25%, equivalent to 250 times the
upper limit of the Toys and Children’s Products Safety Ordinance. At
the same time, this squeeze toy was detected with a BBP concentration
of 0.06%, while another bath toy model was detected with a BBP
concentration of 0.006% to 0.028%.

Children’s Art Materials

Colourful crayons and fingerpaints are common art materials for
children. While drawing or painting, they may rub their eyes or face with
paint-smeared hands, or even swallow the paints by mistake, increasing
the risk of ingesting harmful substances contained within.

To investigate the risks, the Council tested 19 models of children’s art
materials, including 12 models of crayons and 7 models of fingerpaints.
10 models showed migration of toxic metals, including 4 crayon and 2
fingerpaint models detected with aluminium migration. Amongst these,
2 crayon models and 1 fingerpaint model exceeded the EU Toy Safety
Directive’s limit for their respective category.

The main ingredient of crayons is derived from petroleum, and PAHs
are a known harmful substance in petroleum. 8 models of crayons were
found to contain 1 to 4 types of PAHs, including 7 models detected
with naphthalene, a possible carcinogen which is volatile and could be
inhaled. Of these, the 2 models with the highest naphthalene
levels (1.2ppm) exceeded the limit of the German safety
standard (Tppm). In addition, 5 models contained pyrene,
an allergen for the skin and respiratory tract, amongst
which the model with the highest level (8.3ppm)
exceeded the total PAH limit; benzo[ghilperylene
was detected in 5 models, all exceeding the
limit (0.2ppm) of the German safety standard.

Test results showed that over half (4) of the fingerpaint
models did not contain approved embittering agents
and failed to comply with the requirements of the
EN 71-7 standard in the EU Toy Safety Directive. Also, upon
inspection of the packaging labels, the required standard
product information or warnings of 4 models were found
missing. The Council urged suppliers to promptly improve
the product safety and labelling.
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Cosmetics and Personal Care
Make-up Removers

Perfectly applied make-up will instantly spruce up the face. At the same
time, proper and thorough removal of cosmetic products is equally
important for skincare though often neglected. The Council tested
40 make-up removers specially for eyes or suitable for both the face
and eyes, including 19 dual-phase, 10 oil-based and 11 water-based
models. As a whole, the safety of these products was satisfactory and
consumers can use them with confidence.

The cleansing performance of dual-phase make-up removers was
better, with all 19 models having outstanding cleansing power ranging
from 63.1 to 86.5, amongst which 95% were rated 4 points or more.
9 models received an overall 5-star rating but their prices differed by
over 3 times, signifying once again there are cheaper but high quality
products on the market.

Oil-based models varied in performance, with only 1 model achieving a
cleansing power of over 70, while 2 models performed relatively poorly
with cleansing powers of 24.3 and 12.8 respectively, one of which had
the highest unit price ($3/ml) amongst all models. Water-based make-up
removers had the weakest cleansing performance. Except for 1 model,
the other 10 models had disappointing cleansing powers, thus only
received overall ratings of 2 to 2.5 stars.

Upon comparing the 3 types of make-up removers, the dual-phase
models had the best overall performance while their average price was
mid-range ($1.26/ml). In comparison, the average unit price for water-
based models was the lowest ($0.96/ml) while that for oil-based models
was the highest ($1.32/ml).

The Council reminded consumers that water-based make-up removers
had limited cleansing efficacy on waterproof and greaseproof cosmetics
and may not be able to completely remove such products, thus
increasing the risk of clogging or enlarging pores, as well as the chance
of acne and fat granules.
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IMPROVING PRODUCT QUALITY AND SAFETY SZEERERRELE

Body Lotions for Babies and Children

As babies and young children have delicate skin, parents should be
particularly careful when selecting body lotions for them. The Council
tested 40 models of body lotions for babies and toddlers, including
13 claimed to be suitable for newborns.

Fragrance allergens were detected in 22 models, of which 8 models
had a relatively high total concentration. The model detected with
the highest amount (0.45%) was also found to contain the fragrance
substance hydroxyisohexyl-3-cyclohexene carboxyaldehyde (HICC),
which has been banned for use in cosmetic products by the EU
Commission. HICC is a high potency skin sensitiser and had been
identified as one of the most common causes of skin allergies in
children.

10 models were found to contain 3 to 10 types of fragrance allergens.
Amongst them, the 2 models detected with the highest number
of fragrance allergens did not list out all of the detected fragrance
substances on their labels. As such, parents would not realise the
presence of such fragrance allergens by reading the product labels.

Aside from fragrance substances, 4 models were detected with free
formaldehyde at concentrations of 0.018% to 0.072% (equivalent to
180ppm to 720ppm), all in compliance with the maximum limit of 0.2%
(equivalent to 2,000ppm) set by the Mainland. However, the European
Scientific Committee on Consumer Safety (SCCS) pointed out that
exposure to formaldehyde at concentrations up to 130ppm to 370ppm
could trigger allergic reactions in individuals with formaldehyde allergy.
In addition, 1 model was even labelled as “0% formaldehyde” and “no
added formaldehyde”, which contradicted with the test results.

In order to better safeguard the health of infants and toddlers, the
Council urged manufacturers to stop using HICC and other fragrances
that lacked sufficient safety evidence. Despite the fact that some
countries and regions do not have requirements on the labelling of
fragrance allergens, the Council opined that product suppliers should
take the responsibility to enhance the transparency and accuracy of the
labelling information.
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Electrical Products

The pandemic has reshaped the public's dining habits, with many
households cooking at home more often. To meet such consumer
needs, the Council tested cooking appliances with emerging popularity
and advised consumers on their safety and performance.

Electric Grills

Indoor grilling has become a widely popular cooking trend in recent
years. One simply needs to prepare the ingredients, and plug in the
electric grill to enjoy freshly cooked food right off the grill, saving time
from cooking.

The Council conducted a test on 11 electric grills to evaluate their safety
and performance. 7 models were found to have safety issues of varying
degrees. 1T model failed in the abnormal operation test, as it emitted
smoke and flames during the simulation of malfunction of thermal
control while operating with a 1.15-time input power, posing potential
fire hazard to users. Subsequently, the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department (EMSD) announced that the public should stop
using the product. Other non-compliance regarding product safety
was found in protection against access to live parts, insulation distance,
temperature rise, etc.

The performance test evaluated the models’ grilling performance,
cooking fume emission, preheating temperature and scratch resistance
of the non-stick coating. After preheating, the highest temperature
discrepancy recorded on the models at different positions of the grill
plates ranged from 23.4°C to 82.6°C, reflecting uneven heat distribution.

The cooking fume emission test was based on the average amount
of cooking fumes released when grilling 1 piece of burger patty, with
5 points being the highest, indicating a lower level of cooking fume
emission. 2 models were only rated
2 points, including 1 which claimed
to be a smokeless grill. Indoor grilling
would release a large amount of
cooking fumes, which could pose
carcinogenic risks in the long run if
the interior is not well ventilated.
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Low-carb Rice Cookers

As consumers are increasingly conscious of the benefits of a healthy
diet, low-carb rice cookers have become a popular household
appliance in recent years due to their claims of cooking rice with a lower
carbohydrate content than that of traditional rice cookers, thus helping
consumers to control their blood sugar level and body weight.

The Council tested 11 models of low-carb rice cookers on their carb-
reducing performance, heat efficiency, power consumption, cooking
performance and ease of use. 9 of the models were equipped with
both “normal rice mode” and “low-carb rice mode”. Compared with
normal rice, only 5 models of low-carb rice showed a significant drop
in carbohydrate content ranging from 10.1% to 45.3%. However, if the
amount of raw rice remains unchanged, the difference in carbohydrate
intake between low-carb rice and normal rice was insignificant.

Upon comparing the normal rice cooked by a traditional rice cooker with
the low-carb rice cooked by the 11 models, the carbohydrate content of
the low-carb rice cooked by 6 models was found to be even higher than
the normal rice. Since the stability of low-carb rice was yet to be tested
and confirmed, it was not recommended for diabetics to rely on low-
carb rice cookers to control their condition.

Based on the recommendations from the Department of Health,
Hong Kong Medical Association and Hong Kong Dietitians Association,
consumers were advised to think twice before purchasing low-carb rice
cookers.
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Household Products
Cast Iron Cooking Pots

Cast iron cooking pots are a kitchenware favourite amongst avid home
cooks due to their remarkable heat conductivity and heat retention, not
to mention their stylish appearance.

However, the Council’s test on cast iron cooking pots found that 4 out
of the 7 tested models released different types and amounts of metals
that exceeded the international standard or the upper limit set by
the Council of Europe (CoE), of which 1 model's iron release amount
exceeded the upper limit of the CoE's guide by 54 times. Another
model was even detected with the carcinogenic heavy metals arsenic
and cadmium, of which the release amount of arsenic exceeded the
upper limit of the international standard by 16 times. The Council urged
manufacturers to review the products’ raw materials and manufacturing
process promptly and improve product quality, in order to safeguard
the health of consumers.

The test also revealed considerable variance between the heat
conduction speed and evenness of heat amongst the models.

When heated using the same type of cooker, the
models showed a nearly 3-time disparity in their
heat conduction speed. In terms of evenness
of heat, the interior bottom of 1 model had a
maximum temperature difference of 191°C when
heated on an electric ceramic hob, making it hard for
users to control the overall cooking quality.

If the handle temperature of cast iron cooking pots is
too high during cooking, it may scorch the user. The test
revealed that the temperature of the models’ handles ranged
from 89.3°C to 97.3°C, all exceeding the upper limit (55°C) set by the
European standard. The Council reminded consumers to wear oven
mitts or use pot holders to prevent scorching.

Slippers

To prevent slipping and falling which are common household accidents,
especially for the elderly, consumers should consider not only the
comfort of slippers, but also their slip resistance performance. The
Council tested 30 household slippers, of which 7 claimed to be “slip
resistant” or “anti-slip”. The cheapest ($10) model was rated 4.5 points
overall, while the most expensive model ($520) only scored 3 points,
reflecting that product price does not necessarily correlate to their slip
resistance performance. The test items covered slip resistance on dry
and wet surfaces, and a review of the materials and tread patterns on
the outsoles.
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Sufficient friction between the outsoles of slippers and the floor surface
is required to exhibit ideal anti-slip efficacy. To simulate walking on the
floor with slippers, the test referenced ASTM F2913-19 and measured
the Coefficient of Friction (CoF) between the outsole (forepart and
heel), and 4 types of tiles and flooring commonly used at home, namely
quarry clay tiles, ceramic tiles, wooden floors and vinyl floors. The
higher the CoF, the better the slip resistance.

On dry test surfaces, 26 models performed desirably on all 4 types of
test surfaces with a CoF of 0.3 or above, the slip resistance requirement
set by the shoe industry on general footwear, but the remaining
4 models failed to reach a CoF of 0.3 on ceramic tiles, wooden floors
and/or vinyl floors, and performed the worst on vinyl floors with a CoF
from 0.2 to 0.29 only.

Water on wet floor acts as a lubricant between the outsole and the
floor, thus reducing the friction in between. Compared with dry test
surfaces, all models obtained a significantly lower CoF on wet surfaces.
Only 14 models maintained a CoF of 0.3 or above on all 4 test surfaces,
while the slip resistance of the remaining 16 models on wet surfaces
was unsatisfactory, of which the CoF of 2 models were under 0.3 on all
4 test surfaces. The Council alerted consumers that wearing these
models might incur higher slipping risks.

Outdoor Activity Products
Hiking Boots and Hiking Backpacks

It is important to be well-equipped while hiking in the great outdoors,
especially when safety is concerned. The Council jointly tested
11 waterproof hiking boots and 13 hiking backpacks with ICRT. Water
resistance, slip resistance, breathability, shock absorption, durability of
the mid-cut hiking boots were tested, while the 22L to 30L daypacks
were assessed for storage utilisation, water resistance, durability,
reflective design, manufacturing quality and cleaning convenience in the
laboratory. The outdoor gear was further practically tested by panellists.

It was found that their water resistance performance varied vastly.
3 hiking boots models were found with water entry within an hour in the
water immersion test, and 2 hiking backpack models failed to resist rain
without a rain cover.

Other findings on hiking boots included serious abrasion and cracking
of outsoles upon repeated rubbing and bending, and poor slip
resistance on wet surfaces. The test results for the hiking backpacks
were considerably better in general, with none of the samples damaged
in the durability tests on top handles, shoulder straps or zippers.
Furthermore, concentration of carcinogenic hexavalent
- chromium was measured for boots made
. with leather, and the measured
levels were lower than the
upper limit of the related
EU regulation.
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Pet Products

Dog and Cat Food

The Council tested 40 models of canned, boxed or pouched wet pet
food, comprising 27 complete pet foods and 13 complementary pet
foods. 18 of them were for dogs, 20 were for cats, and 2 models claimed
to be for both dogs and cats.

Mineral Content

The mineral contents in 80% of the wet food for dogs (16 out of 20
models) and 90% wet food for cats (20 out of 22 models) failed to
fully comply with the recommended amounts stated in international
guidelines on nutritional contents for complete pet food. Only 4 dog
food and 2 cat food models fully met the recommendations laid out
by 3 pet food organisations, namely the Association of American Feed
Control Officials (AAFCO), the European Pet Food Industry Federation
(FEDIAF), and the National Research Council (NRC).

The test results on the 12 models of complete cat food raised
more concern. Based on the minimum concentrations of iron and
zinc recommended by AAFCO and/or FEDIAF, the iron content of
7 models and the zinc content of 5 models failed to meet the minimum
requirements. However, 1 model had zinc content exceeding the
maximum concentration recommended by FEDIAF. Besides, the
iodine contents in 3 models did not meet the minimum/maximum
recommended concentration in cat food suggested by AAFCO and
FEDIAF.

The complementary pet food models were generally found to have
relatively low concentrations of various minerals, including calcium,
iron, copper, manganese, zinc and iodine, whereas the calcium to
phosphorus (Ca:P) ratio was also low in general.

Pet owners were reminded that long-term consumption of complete or
complementary pet food with insufficient/excessive amounts of various
minerals might lead to a number of health risks in pets. For instance,
iron deficiency might cause iron deficiency anaemia, resulting in fatigue,
increased heart rate and shortness of breath, and might also hinder the
growth of kittens. Zinc deficiency might affect skin condition, and cause
growth retardation in cats, while on the contrary, excessive intake may
affect the absorption of copper and iron. Excessive or insufficient iodine
intake may increase the chances of thyroid disorders.
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Vitamin D

Vitamin D is a micronutrient that helps maintain healthy bones and
teeth for dogs and cats. The test results showed that the amounts of
vitamin D3 in 2 complete dog food models fell short of the relevant
minimum recommended level for complete pet food for adult dogs.
Long-term deficiency of vitamin D might upset the balance of calcium
and phosphorus in their blood and affect their immune system. In the
long run, it might cause rickets or affect the bone growth of puppies, as
well as osteoporosis for adult dogs.

Harmful Substances

1 complementary dog food was detected with lead content that
exceeded the maximum limit permitted by EU legislation for
complementary pet food (10mg/kg).

Meanwhile, 13 out of the 22 cat food models were detected with
mercury content from 0.03mg/kg to 0.296mg/kg (with a moisture
content of 12%). The complementary cat food model with the highest
concentration of mercury was close to the maximum limit in pet food
(0.3mg/kg) laid out in EU regulations.

Considering that excessive lead intake could affect the brain and
nervous system of dogs, while a long-term diet with excessive
mercury content could cause damage to cats’ nervous system and
affect their physical coordination and balance, the Council urged pet
food manufacturers to control the heavy metals content in pet food
products.

Lastly, the Council also urged pet food manufacturers to ensure that
complete pet food products have a complete and balanced nutrient
profile with reference to the relevant international guidelines, and to
include appropriate labelling on complementary pet food to prevent
misfeeding by pet owners that may impose health risks to their pets.
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International Comparative Tests

During the year under review, the Council has maintained close
collaboration with ICRT and joined forces with consumer associations
in other jurisdictions to conduct international comparative tests on the
following types of products and to advise consumers on selection tips,
especially for expensive or durable products:

* Audio-visual and optical products, including Bluetooth speakers,
soundbars, wireless earphones and interchangeable lens camera
kits;

* Computer and telecommunications products, comprising chat apps,
document scanning apps, security cameras, smart phones, tablet
PCs, smart watches and fitness trackers;

* Household, personal and outdoor products, such as coffee
machines, antiperspirants and deodorants, hiking backpacks, hiking
boots and hard shell jackets; and

* Automobile and cycling products, including child car seats and
bicycle helmets.

In addition to the increasing popularity of the test findings in Hong Kong,
the Council's reports on products such as cameras, mobile phones,
tablets, cosmetics and shower products were viewed by a considerable
number of visitors on the Council's Shopsmart website, which aims to
provide extensive shopping information for visitors from the Mainland.

Where Have All the Tested Products Gone?

The products used for testing by the Council were put to further
use with a number of items donated to environmental protection
organisations, charity groups and non-profit organisations for further
consumption and recycling. During the year, a total of 1,228 items,
including electrical appliances, household consumables, health
products, children’s products, skincare products as well as food
products, were donated to 5 recipient organisations.

The recipient organisations were: ALBA Integrated Waste Solutions
(Hong Kong) Ltd, EFCC Tung Fook Church, Kowloon City Baptist Church
Social Services, the Salvation Army and the Society for the Prevention of
Cruelty to Animals.
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In support of Hong Kong's vision to build a green living environment and mitigate climate change,
the Council puts great effort into educating, facilitating and encouraging the public to make
greener consumption choices. Despite the difficulties posed by the pandemic, the Council was
able to publish its second sustainable consumption (SC) report in mid-2021, a tracking study of
the baseline survey published in 2016. Its findings affirm that a community-wide adoption of SC
culture requires tripartite effort by consumers, businesses and the Government. This form of
periodic study is one of the initiatives of the Council's three-pronged sustainable consumption
strategy, the other two being the embedding of sustainability elements into product testing,
research and surveys, the results of which are published in CHOICE Magazine; and consumer
education programmes, as it is especially important to cultivate awareness of SC from a young age
and at a community level.
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Tracking Study on Consumer Behaviour HETRENMF

With its vision on advocating sustainable consumption, the Council AEHFHAFENBEWES A0 2016 £
conducted an in-depth study titled “Embracing Sustainable Consumption ENEATEENEF RS ETEA (TS
for a Happy Life - A Tracking Study on Consumer Behaviour" (“Tracking EHE TR —NBTRBERFE) WEA
Study”) to monitor changes in consumers’ attitude and behaviour W (T2yBHIFE ) LSS EE %R
towards SC since its baseline survey published in 2016, as well as to EENENEENTANESEN TEETE

examine the latest developments of SC locally and overseas.

BHENAM OB IMIRT B R -
The Tracking Study, which was published in June 2021, indicated that

consumers showed progress, albeit marginally, in terms of the 2 major RONBHW IR 2021 £ 6 A% EE%?FH%TE?
Sustainable Consumption Indexes as compared with the baseline BEiRAE HEEN 2@ERBEEERNMT
survey. The index score of “Consumers’ Awareness and Attitude” RINETRREBIREES  BABEM-THE

EMRANMEE ) MBI LERAEN 74 DR

9 Visit www.consumer.org.hk/en/advocacy/study-report/20210617 or scan the QR code to read the full report of “Embracing Sustainable Consumption for
a Happy Life - A Tracking Study on Consumer Behaviour”.
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increased from 74 in the baseline survey to 77 in the current survey,
while “Consumers’ Behaviour and Readiness” increased from 69
(Consumers’ Behaviour) and 65 (Consumers’ Readiness) in the baseline
survey to 71 in the current survey. The 2 major indexes were comprised
of 8 sub-indexes, among which “Recycling Behaviour” was the only one
that stayed at a relatively low score of 63 with no increase. Results of the
2 major indexes reflected that there was still a gap between consumers’
awareness and their behaviour in reality, in particular their participation
in recycling, suggesting more consumer education work needs to be
done to strengthen this important habit.
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Based on the findings and with reference to the rapid development
overseas, the Council puts forward 9 recommendations for
consideration by the Government and related stakeholders.

As drivers for behavioural change of consumers, the Council proposed
(1) nurturing SC understanding and culture through public education
and creation of support platform; (2) strengthening availability and
choice of products and services with relevant incentives to encourage
consumption; and (3) rebuilding recycling habits by a convenient,
stringent, and transparent waste management system.

In terms of the role and responsibility of businesses, the Council
suggested them to (1) adopt sustainable principles along the value
chain, from production to end-of-life disposal; (2) provide accurate
information about the sustainability of products and services; and (3)
set measurable sustainability targets and roadmaps.

Last but not least, the Council recommended the Government
to consider the directions and policies of: (1) promoting research
in advancing SC related patterns; (2) establishing long-term and
holistic policy to foster the recycling and sustainable industry; and (3)
introducing legislation and enforcement measures to achieve specific
SC goals.
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The release of the Tracking Study report was followed by a
Sustainability Conference co-hosted with the Centre for Business
Sustainability of the CUHK Business School. The conference aimed to
facilitate sharing and exchange of ideas among stakeholders, thereby
driving Hong Kong to progress towards a sustainable future. Amid
the pandemic, the conference still attracted the physical attendance
of over 120 stakeholders from the Government, business sectors,
academics and NGOs, with media coverage extending the reach to
the general public. Pre- and post-engagement work involving a total of
11 organisations was conducted.

(The project was funded by the Sustainable Development Fund.)

Driving Sustainability:
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Responsible Modelling and Effective Communication
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Control of Single-use Plastics

In response to a public engagement exercise on the control of single-
use plastics launched by the Council for Sustainable Development, the
Council pledged support of the overall direction proposed in eliminating
non-essential and hard-to-recycle single-use plastic items. The Council
also provided its views on the types of products to be controlled,
timeframe and approach for controlling them,
and supported the enhancement of the Plastic
Shopping Bag Charging Scheme, the provision of
information on the recyclability and percentage of
recycled content of a single-use plastic product,
and the establishment of a platform for sharing
Y/ information on plastic alternatives among
different stakeholders. Based on the findings
of its Tracking Study, the Council provided
references on factors affecting consumers'’
choices and their willingness to pay a
premium for non-plastic/reusable
alternatives.
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Besides, the Council recommended the Government to formulate a
holistic approach to tackle waste, including tackling all packaging waste,
promoting circular economy and life cycle approach, reducing the use of
microplastic in the cosmetic industry, facilitating the shift to sustainable
production and consumption practices, as well as promoting
behavioural change through effective motivation as advocated in its
Tracking Study.

Scheme on Regulation of Disposable Plastic Tableware

The Council fully supported the Environmental Protection Department’s
proposal of introducing legislation to regulate disposable plastic
tableware, and commented that the implementation schedule should
be sped up.

The Council put forward several suggestions, including: (1) an outright
ban of the sale of disposable expanded polystyrene (EPS) tableware
to local end-consumers (including catering premises); (2) provision
of a clear definition and examples of the 4 types of plastic tableware
under the scope of the regulation scheme; (3) inclusion of “compostable
plastics” and “bio-based plastics” in the definition of plastic substitutes;
(4) extension of the scope of “dine-in services” to include large public
events; and (5) introduction of recognition/incentive scheme to foster a
smooth transition.

As regards the proposed exclusions in the regulation scheme, the
Council expressed reservation on allowing the provision of disposable
plastic straws by catering premises on request by persons with special
needs due to medical care reasons if alternative means are available,
and the exclusion of disposable plastic tableware that forms part of pre-
packaged food products prepared outside catering premises. The
Council was of the view that to ensure success of the regulation,

the scheme should eliminate any open up leeway from the ban of = =

single-use plastic tableware.

Apart from the above, the Council also suggested a series of
measures with an aim to promote overall waste reduction,
such as extending the coverage of the regulation scheme to
other common types of plastics and encouraging the use of reusable
tableware. Scan the QR code to read the Council's submitted views and
suggestions in full.

Product Comparative Tests on Appliances

Air Conditioners

Many households plan on replacing their air conditioners in the run-up
to summer to keep the heat at bay, and inverter split-types are a popular
choice in recent years. The Council tested 14 models of “1.5 horsepower”
(HP) inverter split-type reverse cycle air conditioners and found 1 model
to have a cooling capacity almost 18% lower than its claim, failing to
meet the requirement of the Mandatory Energy Efficiency Labelling
Scheme (MEELS). The test results were referred to the Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department (EMSD) for follow-up.
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Although the Cooling Seasonal Performance Factor (CSPF) of all tested
models met the Energy Efficiency Grade 1 standard under MEELS, their
measured CSPF values showed a vast variance of over 55%, indicating a
high disparity in energy-saving performance.

The energy efficiency directly impacts the electricity cost. Based on
the tariff of $1.2 per unit of electricity and the scenario where the air
conditioner operates for 12 hours per day for 180 days a year, the
Council estimated the annual electricity tariff of the models to range
from $657 to $1,023, representing a difference of $366. This means
that the models with a lower energy efficiency would incur 56% more
electricity tariff than the more energy-efficient models.

Refrigerators

Refrigerators are an essential home appliance and run for 24/7, drawing
power around the clock. Therefore, energy efficiency is a key decision
factor when selecting a refrigerator. The Council tested 17 models
of 1-door, twin-door and 3-door refrigerators with claimed total net
storage volumes of 122L to 252L (medium-sized), and 45L to 122L
(smaller-sized). 11 were frost-free refrigerators and 6 were direct cool
models (known as frost refrigerators).

The annual electricity tariff of each model was estimated based on their
power consumption in the test. It was found that the 6 smaller direct
cool models had a lower power consumption as they did not require
extra power for defrosting; their estimated annual electricity tariff could
be lower than certain frost-free models by over 70%. Taking both 1-door
and twin-door models into consideration, the annual electricity tariff
ranged from $107 to $163. The 11 larger-sized frost-free refrigerator
models had a relatively higher electricity tariff, ranging from $257 to
$471.

The freezing capacity and cooling performance of refrigerators are of
utmost importance. Among the 12 models with a freezer compartment,
most had a satisfactory freezing capacity. However, the cooling
performance of the fresh food compartment varied vastly among
the models. In the test, 3 food samples were placed in the fresh food
compartment and the time required for the test loads to drop from
room temperature (25°C) to 10°C was measured. The results revealed
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that the cooling times of the tested models "
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1.3 times.

Despite direct cool refrigerators being more
energy efficient and space-saving, they require
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regular defrosting. Consumers should be mindful
that the full warranty of certain direct cool model
was as short as 1 year and did not offer warranty
renewal. Besides personal factors such as the
home size, types of food often stored in the
fridge, and fridge usage habits, consumers who
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wish to select a more energy-efficient frost-free
refrigerator might also consider models with an
inverter compressor which had a better overall
performance in general.




Warranty and Maintenance for Electrical
Appliances

According to the Council's complaint statistics, short product warranty
periods, high annual warranty renewal fees and maintenance charges
are common pain points for consumers. As durable whitegoods such
as air conditioners and refrigerators could often last for a few years or
even up to 10 years, warranty and maintenance are consequential to
the appliance’s lifespan.

The Council also surveyed the maintenance schemes of home
appliances in its product tests. Among the tested air conditioner models,
11 merely provided a full warranty period of 1 year, while only 3 offered
a 2-year warranty period, after which the annual warranty renewal
fee ranged from $620 to $1,500, a 1.4-time difference. Besides, the
arrangements and charges for after-sales services offered by different
agents, such as maintenance checks and machine cleaning, were also
found to differ notably. As for refrigerators, the warranty period ranged
from 1 to 5 years, of which 9 models claimed to offer renewal with
annual fees ranging from around $180 to $800; the remaining 8 models
did not offer warranty renewal and an on-site inspection fee would be
charged after the warranty expired.

Consumers often lack control over the selection of after-sales
services. Costly after-sales service and annual warranty renewal fees
would dampen consumers’ desire to renew the warranty or repair
malfunctioning appliances, which would lower the product’s operating
efficiency and lifespan, in turn spurring consumers on to purchase
replacements more frequently. Not only does this go against the
principle of sustainable consumption, but it will also escalate the
expenses for purchasing electrical appliances. The Council therefore
urged product suppliers to offer more affordable maintenance services
with a longer warranty period, to support sustainable consumption and
reduce electrical waste.

Product Comparative Test and Survey on
Products with Environmental Claims

Foldable Food Containers

As more consumers have started bringing their own reusable containers
for takeaway food and beverages in recent years, the Council conducted
a test on foldable silicone food containers (9 models) and foldable cups
(5 models).

Test items included overall migration for 3 food simulants, potassium
permanganate consumption, colour migration when soaked in liquids,
volatile organic matter (VOM), total lead and cadmium levels, food
colouring residue and durability, while the labelling information on the
packaging was also examined.

While all models performed satisfactorily in tests for lead and cadmium
migration and durability, there is room for improvement in VOM levels.
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Siloxanes are main VOMs found in silicone materials which, when in
excess levels, might migrate onto the food and affect food safety. The
test revealed that over 60% (9 models) exceeded the German LFGB
standard’s VOM limit of 0.5% for food-contact silicone products, of
which 6 were food containers with VOM levels from 0.76% to 1.3% for
the body and sealing ring materials; the remaining 3 were foldable cups
which had VOM levels from 0.8% to 1.4%. Research has indicated that
long-term contact with high dosages of siloxanes may adversely affect
the liver health of test animals.

In view of the Government'’s plans to regulate disposable plastic
tableware, the Council opined that apart from progressive control of
the selling and use of disposable plastic cutlery, the Government should
also take prompt action to set safety standards for reusable products,
SO as to ensure quality and increase the public’s confidence in using
such products.
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Bathroom and Toilet Cleaning Products

The Council conducted a survey covering 17 models of bathroom
cleaners and 23 models of toilet cleaners, reviewing their labelling
information including the ingredients, environmental claims, the use of
Chinese and English safety warnings and precautions.

Aside from the cleaning efficacy, consumers should also consider
whether the cleaning products comply with sustainability principles
before purchase. Among the 40 surveyed models, only less than 20%
(7 models) offered refill packs that could help reduce plastic waste, out
of which only 4 provided pouch packaging with less plastic materials,
whereas only 15% (6 models) claimed to have packaging with recycled
materials.
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Although most of the models displayed the plastic code or plastic
material on the container, namely 3 types of recyclable plastics - type
1 polyethylene terephthalate (PET), type 2 high-density polyethylene
(HDPE), and type 5 polypropylene (PP), 6 models did not indicate the
relevant code, which was unsatisfactory as consumers are unable to
identify its recyclability.

For the 7 models with biodegradability claims, as none presented the
biodegradation rate, it was impossible for a meaningful comparison.

The Council urged manufacturers to strengthen product sustainability
by introducing more eco-friendly practices throughout the products’ life
cycle, from the selection of raw materials, manufacturing process, to the
packaging and disposal, as well as providing certification of ecolabelling
by a third party.

Opinion Survey on Purchasing and Usage
Habits of Skincare Products

The Council conducted phone interviews with 1,650 female respondents
aged between 20 and 60 to understand their purchasing and usage
habits of skincare products (including facial cleansers, face serums,
moisturisers and face masks) by random sampling. It was found that
close to 50% users stockpiled unused skincare for beyond a year, easily
causing wastage.

It was found that women in Hong Kong have an average yearly spending
of $3,100 on facial skincare products. Those aged between 30 and 39
had the highest spending (around $3,500), whereas respondents aged
20to 29 spent the least (around $2,500).

The respondents had average brand loyalty in terms of facial cleansers,
face serums and moisturisers. Over 40% of the users would try out
products from different brands for these 3 categories, of which face
masks had the lowest brand loyalty, with 65% respondents expressing
that they would try out different brands.

Close to half (49%) of the respondents admitted to owning facial
skincare products which remained unopened for over a year, most of
which were face masks (42%). After a skincare product has expired,
almost half the respondents (49%) would discard it, yet 38% would apply
it on other parts of the body, and 25% would even continue to apply
it on the face. The Council reminded consumers that continued usage
of skincare products beyond their shelf life/expiry date could increase
dermatological risks.
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As every person’s skin type and reaction differ, consumers were
recommended to trial samples of new products before buying the
full-sized product, or to purchase it in a smaller size. Consumers were
reminded to shop rationally, try to understand the product’s efficacies
and scrutinise the ingredients list, select skincare suitable for their own
skin type, and not to buy larger-sized products on impulse. In particular
during festive seasons, many skincare brands tend to tout quantity
discounts which might entice consumers to purchase and stockpile a
larger number of products than needed, resulting in product expiry and
wastage.
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Public Education on Sustainable Consumption

One of the Council's focuses is to nurture the understanding and culture
of SC through public education. Apart from the theme of sustainable
consumption in the Earth 2038 Project for primary school students, and
the thematic award “Innovative Design for Sustainable Consumption”
in the Consumer Culture Study Award for secondary school students,
the concept of SC has indeed been infused into all consumer education
programmes of the Council, including an experience sharing and
refresher training session of the “Support Programme for Persons
with Special Needs”, as well as training materials of the “Pilot Educator
Scheme for Senior Citizens”. Community talks with topics such as
“Sustainable Consumption” and “Environmental Protection Under
the Pandemic” were also conducted. This year, in related talks and
programmes, audiences were also reminded of issues such as
overpackaging of goods bought online and the wastage as a result of
panic buying, which were particularly prominent during the pandemic.

Details of the programmes and award are covered in the chapter
“Empowering Consumers Through Education” (p.86).
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COLLECTING MARKET INFORMATION
ON GOODS AND SERVICES
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Market surveillance continues to be one of the most important activities of the ‘-\

Council's work. This involves collecting timely information on the ever-growing
range of goods and services available in both the physical and e-marketplaces,
and analysing this data to help consumers shop wisely with clear pricing and
value comparisons. Prices of groceries and daily necessities are monitored on
a continuous basis, while other widely-used products and services or those
in rising trends are the subjects of periodic special surveys. These surveys are
aimed at providing clear and accurate information to the public, a key enabler to
consumer empowerment.
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Market Surveillance

Given the rise in e-commerce, digital services and the change in
consumption under the recovery of the pandemic, the Council
continued to expand its market surveillance’® efforts in the year under
review. Apart from the longitudinal monitoring of grocery prices at
major retail chains including supermarkets, a wide range of studies
covered staycation packages, overseas moving services and pet
relocation services. Meanwhile, surveys on home mortgage loans and
virtual bank services were conducted to strengthen financial consumer
protection. In addition to scrutiny of the licensed columbarium
services in Hong Kong, the Council co-operated with the counterpart
consumer protection organisations in Macau, Guangzhou and Foshan
to examine the local regulations of the columbarium niches provided
to Hong Kong consumers.

10 See Appendix 7 for the list of survey and service study reports published in 2021-22.
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Annual Supermarket Price Survey

In the year under review, the Council announced its 2020 annual
supermarket price survey on the aggregate average price (in
short, “price”) for a basket of 230 top-selling items sold in 2 major
supermarket chains based on scan data, revealing a 1.9% year-on-
year (YoY) rise compared with 2019. The survey found significant price
increases in 9 product categories (0.6% to 19.9%) and 35 product
groups (0.4% to 25.1%), both higher than the increase of the Composite
Consumer Price Index for the corresponding period (0.3%).

The basket of 230 items was broadly divided into 13 categories and
51 product groups. 9 of the 13 categories recorded an upward
trend, with a price increase ranging from 0.6% to 19.9% YoY, while
4 categories were down by 0.4% to 1.6% YoY. The analysis showed
that the prices of 36 out of the 51 product groups were up by
0.2% to 25.1% YoY. The product group leading the price surge was
canned meat, with an average increase of 25.1%, followed by canned
vegetables/soup (17.7%), canned fish (15.4%), salad dressing/pasta
sauce (15.2%), pre-packaged cakes (13.3%), carbonated soft drinks
(11%), frozen dim sum/meals (10.1%) and frozen meat (10%). In
contrast, the prices of 15 product groups were down YoY, from
0.4% to 4.2%, with chocolates/confectionery (-4.2%), adult milk
powder (-3.3%) and toilet paper/facial tissues (-2.9%) showing the
largest drops.

As COVID-19 has badly affected the economy in the past 2 years,
the Council urged supermarket groups to shoulder more social
responsibility and tide over the difficult times together by refraining
from increasing the prices of staple food and daily necessities. On the
other hand, the Council reminded consumers to compare product
prices carefully for a smart consumption choice.
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Online Price Watch

Daily prices of around 2,300 products from online food stores,
supermarkets and personal care stores were collected and listed
on the Council's “Online Price Watch” (OPW) website. Features of the
website include “Top Price Differences”, “Highlight Products”, “Price
Drop Products” and “My Favourite”, etc. Consumers could compare
online prices of food and daily necessities while staying at home. As
demand for Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) kits has increased under the
pandemic, such products have been added to the website to facilitate
price comparison. The average number of unique visitors to the mobile
and desktop OPW sites per month were 15,150 and 7,877 respectively.

Rapid Antigen Test Kits

The fifth wave of COVID-19 broke out in Hong Kong in early 2022, with
the number of confirmed cases peaking in early March. As nucleic acid
testing took a relatively long time to complete, many organisations
and consumers had to adopt COVID-19 RAT products for preliminary
testing, so as to identify patients early on and take appropriate
quarantine measures and treatment.

As demand soared, the supply and variety of RAT products in Hong
Kong also increased, selling both online or in physical stores, and
many consumers made relevant enquiries to the Council. Most of
the products at that time claimed to be approved in other countries
or regions, yet few products were listed in the Medical Device
Administrative Control System of the Department of Health (DH) in
Hong Kong. Consumers had difficulty finding reliable information
about these products.

Swiftly responding to the situation, the Council, within 10 days,
developed a “Search Tool for Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) Kits Approved

for Use by Various Regions

" to help consumers determine whether

a RAT product had been approved by the Government, the DH and/
or relevant authorities in some other jurisdictions, including the
Mainland, the European Union and the United States initially, and
subsequently extended to cover Macau, Singapore and Australia in
the second stage. Over 400 products were included in the database.
Since some products were marked with local brands, the Council, with
assistance from the Hong Kong Association of the Pharmaceutical
Industry, invited local traders who claimed to sell RAT products under
the official lists of various countries or regions to provide their product
information and declarations.
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Home Mortgage Loans

As Hong Kong property prices top the world, mortgage repayment
expenses remain a heavy and long-term burden on many Hong Kong
citizens. The Council’s survey revealed that even though the residential
and car park mortgage plans from different banks appeared more or
less the same, their total interest expenses could vastly vary due to
different mortgage rates.

Mortgage plans in Hong Kong can mainly be categorised into 2 types
— prime rate (P) and Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (HIBOR;
in short, “H") mortgage plans. Prime rate is the rate at which banks
usually grant loans to their most creditworthy clients. Each bank
can set its own prime rate and publish the rate on its website. The
mortgage rate of P plans is calculated by P minus a certain percentage,
with no interest rate cap set. P mortgage plans are applicable to
a larger number of property types than H mortgage plans and
mortgage insurance programmes. On the other hand, H refers to
the rate at which inter-bank loans in Hong Kong Dollars are made for
different loan periods and is calculated and published by the Hong
Kong Association of Banks every day. As H is subject to changes such
as capital flows in the market, it tends to fluctuate more than P. For
HIBOR mortgage plans, the mortgage rate is usually calculated by H
within a period of 1 month plus a certain percentage.

In the survey, the Council reviewed 78 residential and car park
mortgage plans from 18 local banks in August 2021, covering prime
rate mortgage plans, HIBOR mortgage plans, mortgage insurance
programmes, as well as Government housing and car park mortgage
plans for analysis. The survey also explained and compared the
pros and cons of prime rate and HIBOR; the risks in mortgage plans,
cash payment plans, and stage payment plans for properties under
construction; potential handling fee and penalty interest; the mortgage
insurance programmes and deposit-linked mortgage plans available in
the market; and mortgage plans for Government housing schemes.

Taking the interest rates on 16 August 2021 as an example, for a
property valued at $8 million with a term of 25 years (assuming the
mortgage rate remains unchanged throughout the loan tenor), the
total interest expenses of the maximum (2.95%) and minimum (2.50%)
P mortgage rate from different banks on the same day could differ
by 20% ($3,321,020 and $2,768,577 respectively). Similarly, the total
interest expenses of the maximum (1.71%) and minimum (1.36%)
H mortgage rate could also differ by 27% ($1,838,137 and $1,442,197
respectively). The minimum P mortgage rate (2.50%) and the minimum
H mortgage rate (1.36%) showed an almost one-fold (92%) difference.

When choosing mortgage plans, consumers were advised to pay
attention to the procedures involved in home purchase and mortgage
application, as well as the time and documents required. Home
buyers should cautiously assess their own purchasing power, current
and future expenditure as well as the stability of cash flow to avoid
oversight. Comparison of mortgage plans among several banks,
developing a clear understanding of the terms and conditions, and
considering different repaying methods are also deemed necessary
for obtaining home mortgage loans.
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Virtual Bank Services

Virtual banks, with innovative financial technology (Fintech) and
enhanced user experience as their selling points, have steadily
commenced operation in Hong Kong. Compared with traditional
banks, virtual banks in the city are still at early stages of operation
and mainly provide basic banking services, such as demand deposits,
time deposits, cash withdrawals, local transfers, etc., yet their long-
term development should not be underestimated as many offer high
deposit interest rates and spending rebates as promotional offers,
proving considerably attractive for mobile banking-savvy consumers.
A number of virtual banks have also advertised innovative banking
products that will be readily rolled out to offer a more convenient and
diverse experience for their customers.

The Council surveyed the services of 8 virtual banks in Hong Kong
and summarised 10 key tips for those interested in setting up a virtual
bank account. Consumers were recommended to pay heed to:

e
10KEE

0§‘

1 The eligibility of remote account opening 6
&R B HYBAIL (84

forgSettingiy

10 Tips

The possible variation in daily transfer or
cash withdrawal limits
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AERKETSEAMERBITHNRE Find
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2 The set hours for certain services, such as
foreign currency trading and loans, despite the
round-the-clock operation of virtual banks
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The types of foreign currency, annu
interest rates and early withdrawal charges
of time deposits '
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The availability of telegraphic transfer

Identity verification and security system
updates when using mobile banking apps
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Cash withdrawal arrangements
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(remittance service) to overseas bank accounts
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The eligible spending for rebates and
handling charges for foreign currency
transactions

BEEERIVHBRMNERZ S FEE

The limits and validity periods of

Daily deposit limits
FHERLR

Faced with a barrage of advertisements, consumers were advised
not to base their decisions purely on rewards and welcome offers.
The Council also reminded the general public that Hong Kong's virtual
banks are utilising Fintech to progressively expand various banking
services, such as launching numberless debit cards to enhance
security, time deposit maturity dates designated by customers, etc.
All of these would further increase market competition for banking
services.

promotional offers
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COLLECTING MARKET INFORMATION ON GOODS AND SERVICES E&£HEMRFMRFFEENTIHENR

Overseas Moving Services

Relocating the whole family overseas could be hectic. Despite there
being many matters to attend to, consumers should not gloss over
the quotation details and delivery time of moving services. The
Council surveyed a total of 15 moving companies on overseas moving
services, focusing on the costs and relevant arrangements for moving
a houseful of belongings from Hong Kong to London, UK or Toronto,
Canada as examples. The moving service contracts of 12 of the
surveyed companies were also inspected.

The survey found that the quotations amongst different movers
showed huge disparities of as much as over 1.5 times (London) and
1.6 times (Toronto), while the final costs could also differ from the initial
quotations due to extra charges incurred for various reasons, such as
storage fee incurred from the delay of shipment. The survey revealed
that 5 movers would offload the relevant storage fee to the consumer
and 6 movers declined to comment on whether they would charge a
storage fee, reflecting poor information transparency.

The survey also revealed that the estimated delivery time under
regular shipping schedules could vary from a few weeks to several
months. However, disrupted by the pandemic, most of the movers
stated that the shipping schedule at the time of the survey was tight,
with only a small portion of shipment dates running as usual and open
to reservations. The Council reminded consumers that, owing to the
hefty costs and personal valuables involved in overseas relocation,
they must scrutinise the terms and conditions before confirming
an overseas moving service contract and not easily take the verbal
promise of the movers. Consumers should also pay heed to the
insurance arrangements to avoid risks of discrepancy.

Pet Relocation Services

Pet owners planning to emigrate with their pets might consider
subscribing to pet relocation services to meet the regulation and
required procedures of different regions. The Council conducted a
mystery shopping survey by asking quotations from 11 pet relocation
service providers for relocating a cat and a dog to Australia, Canada,
the UK, the US, and Taiwan. The survey found that the quotations
lacked specificity, with a wide discrepancy between the standard fees
and the actual expenditure at the end.

Different service providers included different items in the standard
fees of their quotations, so it is not wise to compare them directly,
and consumers should not judge the value of the proposal based on
the standard fees alone. Among the 11 service providers in the study,
9 offered a quotation for relocating a dog to Australia but the standard
fees and the actual expenditure could differ from 15% to 190%.
The differences were mainly due to the exclusion of the relatively
substantial fees for the pet's shipping, quarantine and import permit
from the standard fees, which the clients need to settle directly or
reimburse the service providers afterwards.
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Only 3 service providers voluntarily provided a more detailed
quotation and terms, while many missed important information such
as the import permit or customs clearance fees. The quotation should
also indicate the payment method with clear terms and conditions,
and policies on rescheduling and early termination. This could help
avoid disputes resulting from overly general quotations.

Private Columbarium Services

Not only are property prices in land-scarce Hong Kong the highest
in the world, demand for columbarium facilities has also outstripped
supply, with private columbarium niches fetching several hundred
thousand and even up to a few million dollars in some cases.

The Council surveyed the service and fees of 7 licensed private
columbaria in Hong Kong, and found the interment rights fees to
vary considerably. Among the 5 columbaria that offered niches for
public purchase or rental, 1 let out the interment rights of niches for
a uniform annual rental fee of $5,000, while the remaining 4 leased
or sold the interment rights for a lump sum ranging from $198,709
to nearly $2.49 million for single niches and $200,000 to nearly $5.2
million for double niches. In addition, 4 private columbaria did not
allow a name change of the niche user after signing the contract,
while another 3 allowed such at an extra charge, amongst which only
1 columbarium clearly stated a handling fee of $6,000. Furthermore,
1 columbarium would charge a one-off management fee of over
$30,000 for each double niche, while another requested a lump-
sum charge of $16,500 to $27,000 per niche user for the stone slate,
cremation urn, interment ceremony and cleaning.

The niche interment period of 6 columbaria would expire at the end
of May or end of June 2047. If the Government agrees to renew the
land lease, in which case the columbaria can pay a land premium
to continue the service, 6 columbaria stated that individuals who
already had the interment rights of niches would have to share the
land premium and pay all related fees in order to continue using the
facilities.

In a separate survey of 3 service providers for private columbarium
niches in Macau, Guangzhou and Foshan, it was revealed that the
cost for some columbarium niches outside Hong Kong could be lower.
For instance, a single, double niche and clan niche for up to 18 family
members available in a private columbarium in Macau would cost
$160,000 to around $3 million. Another service provider claimed that
upon purchase of a local tablet for couples priced at close to $90,000
to over $280,000, the customer could receive a complimentary single
niche at a designated columbarium in Guangzhou. However, the
3 columbarium operators declared that consumers needed to handle
related procedures themselves for transporting the cremains to the
niche location for interment.
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Having enquired with counterpart consumer protection organisations
in Macau, Guangzhou and Foshan about the legality of the
3 columbaria, the Macao SAR Government Consumer Council
expressed that the columbarium site was approved for change of
land use by local authorities, to build an ancestral memorial hall, and
renewal application in accordance with statutory regulations was
required. The Guangzhou Consumers' Commission replied that the
columbarium was classified as a religious institution in the local area,
allowing ancestral worship for religious followers only, while public
sales, advertising, speculation and price-raising were not allowed. The
Foshan Consumers’ Commission did not partake in relevant affairs
but provided the relevant regulations of Guangdong province for
reference. Consumers were reminded to pay heed to the statutory
regulations of different regions as well as the interment arrangements,
and ensure that they fully understand the content of the contract and
detailed charges before making a decision.

Staycation Packages

Due to travel restrictions during the pandemic, staycations have
gained popularity among locals. The Council surveyed 36 hotels with
staycation packages in Hong Kong and the findings from 19 hotels
were consolidated to compare the arrangements in the event of
suspected or confirmed cases of COVID-19 at their premises. Amongst
the 19 hotels, 20% would not undertake to notify customers under
any circumstances, while over 60% did not take the responsibility
for notifying guests who booked the accommodation via third-party
travel websites. 17 declared that they would exercise discretion
for affected customers in the event of confirmed cases, including
postponement or refund, but some stated that an administrative fee
would be charged. 5 expressed that customers would be allowed to
choose free postponement or a full refund, setting a good example
for other hotels. However, 2 hotels stated that if confirmed cases were
found, they would not offer any arrangements such as refund or free
postponement.

If confirmed COVID-19 patients had used the hotel's facilities or
services, amongst the 15 hotels which offered buffets, two-thirds (10)
had no clear arrangements while only 5 said that business would be
suspended, or that deep-cleaning and disinfection would be arranged
at the restaurant. For the 19 hotels that had swimming pool/gym
facilities, 12 did not have clear arrangements, while only 3 confirmed
they would close the concerned facilities for 14 days starting from
the announcement date of confirmed case. As for the 10 hotels with
beauty, massage and spa services, half (5) failed to provide detailed
arrangements, or said it depended on the recommendations from the
Department of Health. In view of this alarming situation, the Council
urged the industry to implement stringent anti-epidemic contingency
measures, so as to allow guests to enjoy their vacation with peace of
mind, and to enable effective handling by the hotel if confirmed cases
arise.
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Textbook Price and Expenditure Surveys

The Education Bureau (EDB) appealed to textbook publishers in 2020
to freeze their textbook prices under the epidemic situation, and most
publishers responded accordingly.

However, according to the Council's survey published in July 2021 on
the prices of 851 commonly used textbooks from 24 publishers, the
prices of over 90% of the 2021/22 school year textbooks had climbed
by $0.5 to $13 (0.9% to 5.2%), resulting in an overall average increase
of 2.4% YoY, while the inflation rate remained unchanged (for the
12 months ending May 2021). An average of +2.4% for primary school
textbooks and +2.3% for secondary school textbooks were found. All
textbooks with a higher price surge did not fall into the “Recommended
Textbook List” by the EDB.

Students’ expenditure was directly driven up by the price increase
of the majority of the textbooks. The Council collected textbook
lists of the 2021/22 school year from 57 primary and 50 secondary
schools and found that primary and secondary school students spent
an average of HK$3,083 and HK$2,887 respectively for mandatory
textbooks and learning materials, showing a YoY increase of 5.3%
and 3.6% respectively, both greatly higher than the 0.4% inflation
rate (for the 12 months ending July 2021). The survey showed that
the expenditure was subject to many key factors such as the number
of textbooks and supplementary exercise books, the reduction in
discounts from publishers as well as changes in learning materials.
The Council recommended that schools reuse and recycle learning
materials, which can help promote environmental protection and
reduce expenditure on textbooks.
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FOSTERING COMPETITION AND

A FAIR MARKETPLACE
REMSHRIMAFRS

One of the Council’'s important roles is advising the

Government and the business community on fair competition
and trade practices, contributing its views from a consumer
perspective. The Council participates actively in Government
and industry consultations, based on its in-depth studies of
different consumer sectors, and staunchly advocates a fair and

sustainable marketplace for consumers and traders.
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Review of Code of Banking Practice

In view of the Fintech developments in recent years, the Code of Banking
Practice Committee (CBPC) formed by the Hong Kong Association of
Banks (HKAB) and the DTC Association (DTCA) conducted a review
of the Code of Banking Practice (“Code”) in early 2021 to enhance
transparency and customer protection and invited the Council to give
views. The Council provided comments on specific revised provisions in
the Code and additional suggestions on issues related to the protection
of banking consumers.

In view of the gradual increase of complaints relating to price or charges
disputes in recent years, the Council suggested that the Code should
stipulate the authorised institutions (Als) to enhance the information
disclosure and transparency in service charges, particularly in
repayment and credit card charges as disputes were commonly found
in such category, by taking proactive measures such as disclosing
the formula of calculating the loan interests, for prudent assessment
on repayment capability, and informing consumers beforehand with
certain circumstances that could possibly reimpose charges after the
investigation period of the credit card disputes.
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Besides, in response to the rising concern over credit card fraud, the
Council suggested that a comprehensive and standardised guidance for
Als to handle unauthorised transactions and to what extent consumers
can execute their rights through the chargeback mechanism should
be incorporated into the Code. The Council also anticipates the CBPC
to incorporate the suggestions made by the Council in the report of
“Consumer Protection on Prepayment and Retailer Insolvency — Review of
Chargeback and Beyond", namely that the card issuers should:

(1) Supply cardholders with clear and easy-to-understand
chargeback information in the cardholder agreements and card
issuer’s website;

(2) Provide a chargeback guide to assist consumers in raising a
chargeback claim;

(3) Provide training to ensure that frontline staff are knowledgeable
enough to explain the chargeback mechanism and its
procedures to cardholders; and

(4) Upon receiving a consumer’s request for chargeback, exercise
the right of chargeback against the acquirer under the scheme
rules as soon as practicable.

For the protection of consumers while using online banking or when
exposed to digital marketing of complex products and services, the
Council considered that the Code should emphasise Als’ responsibility to
regularly upgrade the security features of their systems with vigilance in
suspicious transactions and security incidents, and educate consumers
early on to safeguard their interests when using these services; and
tally with the specific requirements of the use of images, infographics
or other forms of promotional materials applicable to Als/registered
institutions set out in the guidelines/circulars issued by the Hong Kong
Monetary Authority (HKMA) and the Securities and Futures Commission
respectively.

Furthermore, the Council suggested that Als should review their interest
rates regularly to avoid charging consumers with extortionate interests;
adopt an "opt-in" approach to guard against misselling of credit card-
related facilities; and make key product or service information, such as
terms and conditions, and fees schedule, available on the Al's website,
principal Internet banking platforms and concurrently accessible on the
Al's mobile applications to facilitate customers’ easy comparison.

Crypto-assets and Stablecoins

The Council provided its views to the HKMA in relation to a discussion
paper on crypto-assets and stablecoins. While crypto-assets and
stablecoins are highly volatile as compared with other common
investment products and their developments are fast-evolving, the
Council was of the view that early and appropriate regulatory measures
such as risk assessments would be necessary. Apart from being used
for payment, cryptocurrencies might be used for other purposes in the
near future, which might affect consumers; thus taking proactive action
is considered essential. Given the global nature of crypto-assets and
stablecoins, Hong Kong, as an international financial centre, must take
prompt action and align with international regulators when considering
an optimal regulatory model for crypto-assets and stablecoins to
provide the best and seamless protection to consumers.
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To enhance information disclosure and transparency to the public,
the Council considered that financial reporting and disclosure shall
be included as the requirements when designing the new licensing
regime with effective enforcement, in order to empower consumers
and make them fully informed about the cryptocurrencies and their
issuers. Measures shall be in place to regulate the advertisements and
sales tactics to minimise consumers’ risks. Extra safeguards should
be required for vulnerable groups, such as young people and the
elderly, who are at greater risk of falling into sales traps that could lead
to significant financial loss. The Council also suggested the HKMA to
include a proper complaint mechanism that requires authorised issuers
to review and report the complaints they received.

Furthermore, data privacy and cybersecurity are crucial in increasing
consumers’ confidence when using stablecoins or investing in other
crypto-assets. The Council recommended the HKMA to ensure safety,
efficiency, and security when considering the new licensing regime for
stablecoins. To prevent scams and raise consumers' awareness, the
Council opined that the HKMA could communicate with related parties
to publish consumer alerts and educate consumers regularly through
various channels.

Review of the Competition (Block Exemption
For Vessel Sharing Agreements) Order 2017

In its submission, the Council put forward the following observations
for the Competition Commission’s (“Commission”) consideration in
determination of the renewal of the Order:

(1) The consortia block exemption regulation was extended by
the European Commission and that there was social-economic
aspect which might be worth the Commission looking into;

(2) As the producer price indexes of water transport had
demonstrated a significant upward trend from 2019 onwards,
the Council expected the Commission to seek information from
the liner shipping industry about the surge in price of water
transport; and

(3) Given there was no disclosure from the shipping industry on
the sharing of benefits by consumers from the block exemption
in the past 5 years, the Council would welcome to see more
elaborations be given by the Commission to the general public
about experiences from the user-end.
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Granting of Bus Franchises

While the Council had no objection to the granting of new franchises
to the bus companies as set out in the consultation paper on the
“Franchises of Citybus Limited (Franchise for Airport and North Lantau
Bus Network), Long Win Bus Company Limited and New World First Bus
Services Limited” upon expiry of the current ones, the Council provided
the following views on the requirements of the new franchises for the
purpose of enhancing consumer rights and protection:

* Imposing requirements, as well as incentive and/or penalty
measures, to demand strengthening of service reliability and
quality, in particular the improvement of lost trip rate;

* Requiring provision of reports on improvement plan for the
reduction of accident rate;

e Imposing more balanced mechanism, in terms of review time
and a more stable fare for the public in the bus fare review and
assessment process; and

* Enhancing information transparency on performance pledge
and complaint handling and appeal.

In view that there is a growing aspiration from consumers on
environmental performance of service providers as revealed in its
recent sustainable consumption behaviour report (see the chapter
“Promoting Sustainable Consumption” on p.48), the Council also
suggested the new franchises to include requirements on improvement
plan and target for the sustainable development of bus services, in
particular environmental sustainability.
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Property Management Services Authority’s
Codes and Practice Guides

To effectively regulate the licensed property management companies
(PMCs) and practitioners, the Property Management Services Authority
(PMSA) issued several codes of conduct and best practice guides
covering various property management areas for consultation. The
Council provided responses to the following consultations:

Draft Code and Draft Best Practice Guide on “Provision
of Prescribed Information and Financial Documents to
Clients”

The Council was of the view that the interpretation of the Draft Code
and the Draft Best Practice Guide was not clear, as they were crafted
in general terms with reference to “clients” without specifying how the
content will read and apply where the client is the owners’ organisation
or the property owners who pay management expenses for the
services, as the circumstances applicable to each can be very different.
The Council therefore suggested that the Draft Code and the Draft
Best Practice Guide be refined in drafting to put the content thereof in
proper context to provide a clear definition of a “client”.

As for the clause in the Draft Code and the Draft Best Practice Guide
that categorically specifies that PMCs can reject request from clients for
prescribed documents that are more than 6 years old without regard
to actual circumstances, the Council opined that where the requested
documents were still in existence as required under the governing
regulation, such request by clients should not be rejected unless there
are legitimate reasons.

Draft Code and Draft Best Practice Guide on “Carrying
out Procurement for Clients and Prevention of
Bid-rigging”

To avoid conflicts of interest for PMCs in handling contractual matters,
the Council suggested incorporating in the Draft Code that PMCs and
their staff shall not accept any unauthorised benefit when handling
contractual matters. Moreover, to enhance information transparency
concerning conflicts of interest, the Council suggested to incorporate in
the Draft Best Practice Guide that potential interest and non-financial
interest should also be declared by PMCs.
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Auto-fuel Price Monitoring

Following the launch of a brand new “Oil Price Watch” website and
mobile application in November 2020, in the year under review, the
Council launched “Oil Price Watch” publicity work through various
channels, including radio, television, social media and online media.
Until the end of March 2022, the “Oil Price Watch” website and app
recorded about 1.27 million and 3.73 million accumulative page
views, an overwhelming growth of 377% and 331% respectively, when
compared to the figures in March 2021. As for the "Oil Price Watch” app,
it had accumulated around 58,000 downloads, more than double of the
previous reporting year’s 21,000 downloads.

The “Oil Price Watch” covered optimised features including “Weekly
Discount and Promotion”, upgraded “Auto-fuel Price Calculator”, “"Email
Notifications”, “Push Notifications” and “Petrol Filling Station Search”.
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Industry Codes of Practice

The role of encouraging and assisting businesses with the development
of codes of practice is one of the functions stipulated in the Consumer
Council Ordinance. To this end, the Council, in collaboration with the
laundry industry and the retail jewellery industry, launched the Laundry
Code and the Jewellery Code in 2015 and 2017 respectively. For effective
implementation of the Codes and operation of the Complaint Review
Committees established by the respective industry, the Council held
annual review meetings with the trade industry associations since
their launch to review their performance and keep track of the latest
developments of the codes and industries.
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ADVANCING LEGAL
PROTECTION FOR CONSUMERS

REHBEREZRER

The Council has consistently advocated for legislative reform and/or the establishment
of industry codes of practice and measures to strengthen the legal rights and remedies
available to consumers. It does this by conducting studies on topical issues of consumer
interest from a legal perspective, and by making carefully drafted recommendations in
response to the Government'’s consultation exercises. Over the decades, these efforts
have resulted in numerous amendments to current laws or the introduction of new
legislation, and ensured that consumer protection remains firmly in the minds of all parties
involved.
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Purchase of Properties Outside Hong Kong —
A Study on Enhancing Consumer Protection

In October 2021, the Council released the study report titled “Purchase
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of Properties Outside Hong Kong - A Study on Enhancing Consumer
Protection”, in which recommendations were made to strengthen the
regulation of sales of properties situated outside Hong Kong (“POH")
for the betterment of consumers purchasing non-local properties. The
Council's work coincided with the upsurge of POH-related complaints
and Consumer Legal Action Fund (CLAF) applications received by the
Council in 2021 arising from the failure of 2 property developments in
Thailand and Zhuhai.

The Council researched into the changing dynamics of the POH market
in recent years; reviewed related consumer complaints received and
handled by the Council; commissioned a survey of POH advertisements;
analysed the unscrupulous trade practices and consumer-related
issues thus identified; engaged with various stakeholders (including
the statutory and regulatory bodies and 2 major estate agencies)
to exchange views; and conducted mystery shopping exercises to
20 traders. The following key areas of concern were identified:

EE REEXNHEENER  AEMMELE
2021 - MELNFENRENMERBRE
AMEREEEMENEFIBEEFRESR
MR BT -

AEHITF G EBENIRIMETZETHRE
BREASGWINRENHEBEEE R BHE
BOMIERBHNESETHAS 2MARERT
ENDHEENRERE BARFNE (BEEE
MEEHE UEAmEEIRMEREAR) &8
URBER LLUHUEESRHMET 20 EE
F o AEfRiEH U T EEBEFE:



(1) The lack of licensing requirement for estate agents dealing with (1) fh¥ERIBIEAMYZEN I ERTE NIBSMY

POH exclusively and vendors; = HImBER
(2) No cooling-off period for purchase deposits, reservation fees or (2) BRETE BB T AT R4 ;

deposit protection mechanisms in place; .
Q) BEEERR UK

(4) RREBFE-

(3) Insufficient regulation of advertisements; and

(4) Undesirable trade practices.

AEEHEZEARFHENERE  MAERE
wEMRER (FHUTEZE:

The Council, after thoroughly considering various stakeholders’ views
and based on the findings of the report, recommended that:

(1) All estate agents and salespersons who engage in the sale of (1) BEMBRSBHEHETBREI—FEEWE
first-hand residential POH are required to be licensed under the P EREREESHRE (MWERERK
Estate Agents Ordinance ("EAQ"); B EX/ZHEER

(2) The existing statutory duties concerning the provision of (2) ChEREBEA)Y FRETHEBEERIEET
information to purchasers and the regulation of advertisements BN EEE SN TE S (EEE—
under the EAO be imposed on estate agents and salespersons SEARNREESN—FETY LY END
who engage in the sale of first-hand residential POH,; EREBAMLES;

(3) Specific information be provided to the potential purchasers, Q) BERTFBEASRNSEENRNREE

and the content of the advertisements be further regulated;

BERR
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(4) A cooling-off period of not less than 7 days for reservation fees
be introduced; and

(5) Upon a reasonable time after implementation of the above

4 recommendations, a review be carried out on the necessity B = "Z\;gﬁﬁ%*ﬁﬁﬁi’%%;iﬁ
to impose a mandatory requirement that all sales of first-hand ﬂtﬁ@%ﬂ’ﬁﬁ ARFRBLERE/EX8
residential POH be conducted through licensed estate agents/ LT

salespersons.

MRBEHRE - FE SR T AR ELEE

Following publication of the study report, the Council met with various eRHRE S Hi BRSNS EN
estate agencies associations to exchange views. Positive feedback was WMEARENWEEMNESECTENE - A2
received on the requirement for agents engaged in marketing of POH R B SR TS M R R E A BT
to be licensed. The Council hopes that the release of the study would Bomn MRESEAKITNEEEEN
stimulate constructive discussions among all relevant stakeholders TR AW HEN A EEE LSS

and the public, and that its recommendations could gain the support
of the Government and the relevant public authorities. The Council will
continue to advocate the topic.

Recommendations and the Way Forward - POH
Focus on First-Hand Residential POH [
Practice Circular

Legislation

)

Incremental Approach

1

To require all estate

agents who engage in
the sale of first-hand
residential POH to be |,
licensed under the
EAO by amending the -
Exemption Order {

3

By binding
prescribe the specific
information to be provided
to the purchasers, and
regulate the content of
advertisements for
first-hand residential POH

Should recommendations
-4 be implemented and
further consumer protection
is required:

mandatorily require that all
sales of first-hand residential |2\

pers

POH must be conducted

=
through licensed estate © 1 “ S

Licensed
agents/salespersons

Agents

|+ Clear/legible essential information

|+ No exaggeration/misleading representations

|« Font size regulation of print advertisements and
| regulation of period of exposure for digital

| advertisements

To impose the existing statutory
duties concerning the provision due diligence
of information to purchasers and 7] prescribed
the regulation of advertisements information
under sections 36 and 44 of accurate

the EAO on estate agents and information
salespersons who engage in the

sale of first-hand residential POH

[%] misleading
information
%] exaggeration
% omission
[ prescribed
information

Introduction of a mandatory

cooling-off period for

reservation fees

- >7days

« allow an administration charge
to be deducted - reasonable
and not excessive

“Purchase of Properties Outside Hong Kong - A Study on Enhancing Consumer Protection”
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Submission to the Department of Justice —
Consultation Paper on the Mainland Judgments
in Civil and Commercial Matters (Reciprocal
Enforcement) Bill and the Mainland Judgments
in Civil and Commercial Matters (Reciprocal
Enforcement) Rules

In December 2021, the Department of Justice (DOJ) issued a consultation
on the Mainland Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters (Reciprocal
Enforcement) Bill (“Bill") and the Mainland Judgments in Civil and
Commercial Matters (Reciprocal Enforcement) Rules (“Rules”). The Bill
and the Rules seek to implement in Hong Kong the “Arrangement on
Reciprocal Recognition and Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and
Commercial Matters by the Courts of the Mainland and of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region” signed by the Mainland Supreme’s
People Court and Hong Kong Government in January 2019 (“2019
Arrangement”). In 2018, the DOJ issued a consultation on the 2019
Arrangement in which the Council provided submissions.

Prior to the 2019 Arrangement, only monetary judgments on disputes
arising from commercial contracts that provide for exclusive jurisdiction
of the Hong Kong or designated Mainland courts may be registered
for the purpose of enforcement in the other jurisdiction. The 2019
Arrangement expands the scope of judgments that may be registered
to include all judgments of civil and commercial nature, whether in
contract or tort and whether for monetary and/or non-monetary relief,
save for a few exceptions relating to IP and unfair competition claims.

The Council’s submissions were made to reflect principles and
considerations which were of concern to consumers. The Council took
into account the consideration that, in the majority of consumer claims,
monetary relief is probably the most common form of relief sought.
Whilst some transactions may involve substantial amounts, many claims
are relatively modest. As such, consumers should be able to pursue
registration of judgments by means and under circumstances that are
most cost-effective and expeditious, including doing so in person rather
than through lawyers.
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The Council considered that the Bill and the Rules reflect the reciprocal
enforcement mechanism under the 2019 Arrangement. Nonetheless,
the Council gave various suggestions on improving the ease of
understanding and application of the mechanism to reduce the risk of
delay and consequential cost in the registration process. In particular,
whilst the Rules require proof of the nature and effectiveness of a
Mainland judgment by means of a Mainland court certificate, the Council
submitted that other documentary evidence should be considered in
light of recent case authority. The Council also suggested that the DOJ
works with the Mainland judiciary to provide guidance for local Mainland
courts which may not be familiar with the 2019 Arrangement, as well
as more efficient means of service of documents in the Mainland. It is
considered that these measures would enable consumers to pursue
a registration application more quickly and cost-effectively within the
agreed framework.

In addition, the Council proposed that the Bill should clarify that a
judgment creditor should be able to pursue a winding up or bankruptcy
petition against the trader without the need for prior registration. In the
Council's experience, consumer claims may be modest on one hand
and the trader may not have identifiable assets on the other such that
the only practical course of redress would be to pursue a winding up or
bankruptcy petition.
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DISSEMINATING CONSUMER
INFORMATION
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The paradigm shift towards a digital world means that digital and social media platforms have
become essential for disseminating timely information to the public and reaching the widest
spectrum of consumers, especially the younger age groups. Embracing the new normal,
the Council has charted new horizons in digital transformation and achieved a number of
breakthroughs in e-communications over the past reporting year. Besides introducing a sparkling
new official website integrated with eCHOICE, equally notable was the launch of the “Search Tool
for Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) Kits Approved for Use by Various Regions” in March 2022, which helped
consumers identify reliable RAT kits at a time of great concern in the community. The Consumer
Rights Reporting Awards, a signature event of the Council’s, underwent a revamp to include a
new category to acknowledge the rising trend of social media journalism. At the same time, the
Council's iconic monthly CHOICE Magazine continues to serve as Hong Kong's most authoritative
source for consumer tips. In terms of press conferences, the Council has maintained an agile and
flexible policy, ready to switch between online and face-to-face communications according to the
prevailing pandemic situation.
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Revamped and Integrated Council and eCHOICE
Website

To ensure the Council's information meets the online reading habits
of consumers in recent years, the Council’s official website and the
eCHOICE portal underwent a concurrent revamp and integration. The
brand new website was launched in August 2021, riding on the special
milestone of CHOICE's 45th anniversary.

Apart from a refreshed interface that continues to meet the
requirements of the Web Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG)
2.0, the revamped website offers an enhanced and personalised user
experience with an array of new sections and functions closely related
to daily life. One new section is the “Shopping Guide”, with 9 categories
of free information to enrich consumer knowledge, ranging from lifestyle
topics such as “Home Appliances”, “Health and Beauty”, “Food and
Cooking”, and “Green Living”, to content for different consumer groups,
including “Family and Kids”, “Life and Financial Planning” and “Silver Hair
Market”, etc.

In addition, the newly introduced “Product Picker” function allows
CHOICE subscribers to easily compare the test ratings and details of
each product in a specific test, extensively enhancing the subscription
experience. The website has also optimised the online enquiry and
complaint services to reinforce consumer safeguard in dispute
resolution.
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CHOICE 45th Anniversary Celebration

2021 marked the 45th anniversary of CHOICE Magazine. An exciting
range of online and offline events and promotions were launched to
celebrate the special milestone, which kicked off with the Hong Kong
Book Fair in July 2021. The CHOICE booth at the Book Fair adopted a
joyful birthday party theme, featuring special sales promotions and
photo opportunities with an attractive backdrop.

As the pinnacle of the 45th birthday celebrations, renowned veteran
Olympic gold medallist Guo Jingjing was invited to grace the cover of
the November 2021 issue (#541), while a cake-cutting ceremony was
arranged for the CHOICE press conference on 15 November 2021. On
the same day, a 45th anniversary video featuring fun facts and cover
celebrities of CHOICE over the years was published. As of 31 December
2021, the video had attracted close to 10,000 aggregate views on
Facebook and YouTube.

A lucky draw campaign and slogan contest was run from November
to December 2021, giving away autographed classic CHOICE covers of
12 iconic celebrities or groups, including Carol “Do Do” Cheng, Sandra
Ng, Louis Koo, etc. The campaign culminated with a final round of
giveaway in December 2021 with autographed covers of the popular
boyband MIRROR as the prize. Its announcement post topped the
month’s records of page views and follows.

Furthermore, a total of 100 promotional segments were broadcast on
Commercial Radio Hong Kong (CRHK), featuring tailor-made celebratory
messages about past CHOICE content and cover stars. The Council also
exhibited its work and achievements in consumer protection in a large-
scale photo exhibition organised by Hong Kong Commercial Daily.
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Supporting Anti-epidemic Efforts and
Hot Topics of Consumer Interest

In the year under review, the city witnessed the third, fourth and
eventually the fifth wave of the COVID-19 pandemic which broke out
in early 2022. To further support the public to combat the virus, the
Council remained highly diligent in information provision and educating
the public to make informed choices. Furthermore, to support the
Government's consumption voucher scheme and in anticipation of
ensuing consumer issues, the Council pre-emptively disseminated
useful tips to help consumers shop smart.

Disseminating Information on Combatting COVID-19

The Council continued to offer a range of COVID-19 related CHOICE
articles free to the public, including multipurpose disinfectants (Issue
531), portable UV disinfection devices (Issue 532), lozenges (Issue 513),
antibiotics (Issue 534), and dishwashing detergents (Issue 497). These
free articles, in addition to consumer alerts, free download materials
and corresponding Government information, were uploaded to the
dedicated “Together, We Fight COVID-19" webpage throughout the
year. First launched in early 2020, the page serves as a content hub
to consolidate virus-prevention information and accumulated 43,506
page views in the reporting year. The Council also worked with the Equal
Opportunities Commission to disseminate pandemicrelated content in
English to non-Chinese-speaking minority groups in Hong Kong.

When the demand for Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) kits soared in late February
following the Government’s announcement recognising RAT results as
early identification of positive cases, a vast selection of RAT kits became
available on the market. However, as the test kits came from a multitude
of origins and had various claims of international accreditation, such
information was complex and difficult for consumers to understand. In
response to consumers’ most urgent needs, the Council swiftly developed
a “Search Tool for Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) Kits Approved for Use by Various
Regions”"” covering the approved COVID-19 RAT lists of Hong Kong, the
Mainland, Macau, Australia, EU, Singapore and USA to help consumers
verify and select suitable RAT kits. The database of the search tool will be
updated regularly.

An online media briefing was held in early March 2022 to share the
complaint figures, case studies, and consumer tips for selecting
RAT kits. The search tool was officially
launched on the day, accompanied with
a viral tutorial video. The topic generated
over 220 counts of media coverage and
was well-received by the public, many
of whom praised the usefulness of the
search tool and thanked the Council for a
its speedy response to consumers’ needs.

The search tool recorded 872,550 page E
views as of 31 March 2022 and surpassed
1 million by the end of May 2022, which
reflected a high usage rate during this
critical period.
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12 More on the “Approved Rapid Antigen Test (RAT) Kits Search Tool" in the chapter “Collecting Market Information on Goods and Services” (p.59)
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Responding to Pandemic-related Service Issues

Various social distancing measures remained in effect for intermittent
but long periods of the year under review, such as dining restrictions,
closure of entertainment venues, gyms, beauty and massage parlours,
etc. As the pandemic battered the economy, a number of companies
closed their business during the year, including several major chains.
Many consumers were unable to use up their prepaid service packages
before the expiry date, or even before the service provider ceased
operation.

The Council received media enquiries regarding the abrupt closures
of beauty chain Bonjour Beauty (About Beauty, Dr. Protalk and Top
Comfort), fitness centres (Goji Studios, Fitness First, 4ward Fitness), a
one-stop bridal service provider (Dolly Bridal), as well as the demolition
and rebuilding of The Pavilia Farm residential project, which gave rise to
cancellations by buyers.

The Council swiftly responded to a host of pressing consumer concerns
via media interviews and press statements, urging merchants to
disclose the arrangements on their websites or social platforms, and
promptly contact affected customers for settlement. Consumers were
reminded of the risks associated with prepayment purchases as well
as to keep relevant record to recover prepayment through chargeback
mechanism in case of shop closures. The Council also once again called
for the mandatory cooling-off period for beauty service contracts and
regulation of medical beauty services.

As the pandemic situation worsened in February 2022, a myriad of
rumours and incidents intensely triggered the public to panic buy and
stockpile various goods, from food, daily necessities, to fever relief
medicine, lozenges and RAT kits. The Council issued press statements
urging consumers to be rational during grocery shopping and refrain
from stockpiling beyond the required amount, especially on perishable
foods to avoid wastage. At the same time, traders were strongly urged
to be self-disciplined and tide over the tough times with consumers
by ensuring speedy stock replenishment and sufficient supply of
necessities, while maintaining a relatively stable price.
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Encouraging Happy Spending with Tips for the
Consumption Voucher Scheme

To revive the hard-hit economy, the Government announced the
consumption voucher scheme in mid-2021, sparking a shopping craze
amongst the general public. A variety of offers were rolled out by
industries and the 4 designated Stored Value Facilities (SVFs) as they
competed for consumers’' HK$5,000 worth of consumption vouchers.

Foreseeing the potential risks of prepayment transactions and
other consumption traps early on, the Council disseminated useful
consumption information to the public in early July 2021, a month
ahead of the disbursement of the first consumption voucher, followed
by a second media briefing in August 2021, a few days after the first
disbursement. Consumers were provided with helpful tips on selecting
the most suitable SVF, the prevention of consumer traps, and were
reminded to shop rationally.

Furthermore, the Council’s Chairman and Chief Executive made
a guest appearance in the Financial Secretary Mr Paul CHAN Mo-
po’s Consumption Voucher Scheme video, sharing 3 smart tips for
consumers to shop smart while enjoying retail therapy.

5 Beware of minimum
spending, expiry dates
and redemption quotas
in small and multiple offers
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CHOICE Magazine

CHOICE Magazine is an independent, impartial and authoritative
consumer guide, widely recognised as a source of trusted and reliable
information since it was first published in 1976. To uphold its authority
and creditability, CHOICE Magazine does not accept any advertisements
or commercial contributions in any form. The monthly publication
covers test reports, surveys, in-depth studies on a diverse range of
consumer goods and services, and complaint cases.

The overall sales of the printed version of CHOICE Magazine recorded
203,682 copies in the 2021-22 reporting period, making it one of the
bestselling monthlies in the city despite seeing an inevitable disruption
in sales over the past 2 years due to the pandemic. Sales were split
rather evenly between subscriptions and retail sales via outlets, such
as newsstands and convenience stores. Social distancing measures
to reduce the flow of visitors at the Hong Kong Book Fair 2021 had
adversely affected the subscription rate, while extensive stay-at-home
arrangements had also impacted the retail sales.

The bestseller of the year was the October 2021 issue (#540), featuring
a cover story on pre-packaged biscuits found to contain genotoxic
carcinogens. Ranked second was the January 2022 issue (#543), which
published a test report on meatballs and revealed some beef ball
samples to contain pig DNA. Third on the list was November 2021 (#541),
which covered a report on cast iron cooking pots. The online version
of CHOICE under the refreshed website recorded an overwhelming
4,932,665 page views during the year under review, up 105% year-on-
year (YoY).
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Informing and Interacting with Consumers
through Multimedia Platforms

During the year under review, a total of 140 Shopping Guide articles,
57 videos and 139 infographics were produced to enrich the new
website's content. Total traffic on the Council’'s website recorded 7.8
million page views, 18% up YoY. Page view peaks were seen on several
popular CHOICE topics, in particular the test report on 60 pre-packaged
biscuits in October 2021, and coffee products in January 2022. The
brand new “Shopping Guide” has contributed over 1.1 million page views
in total. The easy-to-digest content provided consumers with essential
information and knowledge to make smart purchase decisions. Among
all 9 categories, “Home Appliances”, “Health and Beauty”, and “Food and
Cooking” were the most popular content types.

The number of followers for the CHOICE Facebook page continued to
grow, reaching 68,912, a 61% YoY increase in followers increment. A total
of 640 Facebook posts were produced in the year, representing a YoY
growth of 73%. Among the posts published, content on CHOICE topics
had the highest engagement rates, including kitchenware, food, home
appliances, COVID-19 related topics, and consumer alerts.

The Council's YouTube channel continues to offer a wealth of information
for consumers. Videos include CHOICE Magazine highlights, test report
findings, past events and activities, and consumer protection-related
educational videos. In the year under review, a total of 755,218 views
and 7,285 subscribers were acquired. First rolled out in 2018, the
channel now has in aggregate over 26,820 subscribers, 3.6 million total
views and over 6.7 million minutes of total watch time since its launch.

To sustain the exposure of Qil Price Watch” and Online Price Watch
(OPW), online and offline publicity was launched in Q1 2022 by
leveraging the partnership with HKO1, HKET Group and New Media
Group. It brought a 97% YoY page view growth for OPW.

Empowering Consumers Through the Mass
Media

Thanks to the support of the mass media, the Council is often on the
public’s mind. For many years, the Council has organised extensive
media programmes and campaigns, notably the monthly CHOICE
press conference, which flexibly switched between live-stream and in-
person format in the past year based on the prevailing social distancing
measures, and countless interviews to keep consumers informed about,
and alert to, what was happening in the marketplace. During the year,
some 70 press releases and statements were issued, covering selected
topics published in CHOICE Magazine as well as the Council’s response
to more than 100 media enquiries related to significant consumer
issues. In total, over 5,000 counts of media coverage were generated.
Through proactive media engagement, the Council was able to publish
timely cautionary advice to consumers whenever an issue arose.

13 More on Oil Price Watch in the chapter “Fostering Competition and a Fair Marketplace” (p.71)
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The Council continued its partnership
with Television Broadcasts Limited
(TVB) to produce TV segments on
elderly-oriented consumption topics
which were featured in the popular
programme “Revel in Retirement" (&
ZR8). In the year under review, a
4-episode series covered smart tips
for elderly consumers on spending
their consumption vouchers. Positive
media relations and desired publicity
outcomes were achieved throughout the year under review through
press interviews and appearances on a combination of print, electronic
and online channels, such as the Radio Television Hong Kong (RTHK)
programme “The Elderly Series” (BSIEB&R), TVB's “Happy Old Buddies”
(€ EPIN), Phoenix Television's “News Decoder” (BFESRE#R), CRHK's
“Saturday Forum” (B ZH375), Now TV's “News Magazine” (FFE2J511)
and exclusive interviews with the Chairman and Chief Executive by TVB
“On the Record"” (&75#2), Hong Kong Economic Times and HKOT, etc.

Top 10 Consumer News - Year of the Ox

Entering its 18th year, the Top 10 Consumer News voting campaign
continued its partnership with HKO1, Hong Kong Economic Times, i-Cable
News, RTHK, SkyPost, TOPick and U Magazine. The event attracted a
record-high number of 6,425 voters, up 6% from the previous year. The
top 3 news stories' were namely the permanent closure of UA Cinema,
Legislative Council passes waste charging bill, and the demolition and
reconstruction of 2 towers of The Pavilia Farm Ill. In addition, 2 news
stories related to the Council's work made it into the top 10, including
the test report on 60 models of pre-packaged biscuits, and complaints
relating to consumption vouchers, which involved minimum spend set
by traders and the service of SVFs.
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UA Cinema Announced Permanent Closure
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Legislative Council Passes Waste Charging Bill
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The Pavilia Farm lll: 2 Towers to be
Demolished and Rebuilt, Affecting over 800

.5 14 Visit www.consumer.org.hk/en/press-release/top10_ox or scan the QR code for the voting results of the Top 10 Consumer News (Year of the Ox).
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Consumer Rights Reporting Awards

The 21st Consumer Rights Reporting Awards (CRRA) wrapped up with a
presentation ceremony in August 2021, conferring a total of 32 awards
in 7 categories, including 7 Gold Awards, 8 Silver Awards, 6 Bronze
Awards, 7 Merit Awards, 3 “Sustainable Consumption Reporting Awards”
and 1 “Grand Award""”.

In response to the rapidly changing media landscape and increasingly
diversified information dissemination channels in recent years, the
revamped CRRA was launched in February 2022 as it entered its
22nd year. There were notable changes and new features, including
restructured categories with a newly added “Topical Reporting Award”,
piloting of the social media category to expand participation, as well as
opening up 2 categories for public voting, whereas the cash prize was
also doubled.

The "Topical Reporting Award” was newly introduced to encourage media
coverage, both in breadth and depth, on an annual consumption topic
announced early each year for submission in the next CRRA, as a means
to proactively promote the discussion of consumer protection issues. In
view of the burgeoning e-commerce industry under the new normal and
expansion of new business models, along with ensuing inconsistency
in e-tailer quality and consumption risks, “Protecting Consumers Under
E-commerce"” has been selected as the topic for 2022.

Furthermore, the unprecedented addition of the “Best Use of Social Media
in Consumer Advocacy” category in response to the rising trend of social
media journalism, as well as piloting public voting for the 2 categories
of “News Photography Award” and “Tertiary Student Journalism Award”,
are both major breakthroughs in local journalism awards, signifying
the Council's innovative approach to honour journalistic excellence on
consumer rights and related issues. The 22nd CRRA was open to entries
starting from the day of the announcement.
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:¢ 15 Visit www.consumer.org.hk/en/press-release/consumer-rights-reporting-awards-2021 or scan the QR code for more information on the 21st CRRA.
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EMPOWERING CONSUMERS THROUGH EDUCATION UHEEBRAEEEBRREEN

EMPOWERING CONSUMERS
THROUGH EDUCATION

UHERBRANEEARRER) g

While rapid developments in technology have made the sourcing and purchasing of consumer
products simpler, they have also increased the complexity of identifying unscrupulous traders
and ensuring adequate consumer protection. The Council is committed to addressing this
growing challenge by empowering consumers through education - especially more vulnerable
groups such as young students, mentally handicapped persons, and Hong Kong's increasing
elderly population - so as to help them acquire the right knowledge to make informed choices
and become responsible consumers. Although many of the normal face-to-face educational and
training programmes have been hampered by social distancing measures during the year under
review, the Council has successfully maintained these important activities by adapting them to an
online format.
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Cultivating Positive Consumer Attitude from a RSB EEHERE

Young Age EESABNTEEAT BEE—RINES
Under the rapidly changing marketplaces, consumer education in HEBSBELEER DBV IERIVEEE
childhood serves as a significant guidepost to help young consumers BENTE BEAFRALEEERE EEBEERE
develop proper consumption values and behaviours, which forms the STELRE o

basis of judicious purchases throughout the rest of their lives.
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Sustainable consumption (SC) education is one of the Council’s top
priorities and the “"Earth 2038's Learning Journey of Sustainable
Consumption” programme (“Earth 2038 programme”) continued to

be run in the 2020/21 school year. To work within the social distancing R BT 129 i%grﬁ:%;j ' 49 57\50 %5{6%
measures in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Council 30 EVNEELESIN - BB 78% RS BERR

conducted 129 sessions of educational activities in small classes, HAIFBEEENEMREAEN 88 I XEXRT



covering 30 primary schools with nearly 3,750 students participating.
More than 78% of the students reported positive changes in their
understanding of SC and more than 90% were willing to practise SC
through altering their behaviours and habits. Moreover, over 92% of
respondents who took part in the programme expressed satisfaction
with the programme. Moving forward, 32 primary schools with over
3,650 participating students were recruited for the 2021/22 school
year. As of 31 March 2022, 43 school activities and training sessions
were held.

To allow students to reflect on their own consumption habits, with the
support of Community Green Stations in various districts, 8 sessions of
“Experiential Learning Trips” were conducted with the participation of
over 380 students.

The Council also co-organised a public train-the-trainer session called
“Effective Use of Learning and Teaching Resources in General Studies
- Values Education” with the Education Bureau (EDB) in June 2021 to
enrich teachers’ understanding of the Earth 2038 programme and
concepts related to SC. Apart from this public session, a total of
18 training sessions for teachers of project schools were
completed. A teaching kit was provided to teachers to help
them facilitate the activities during class and to stimulate
students’ reflection.
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Each teaching kit comprises an enlarged passport adapted from the
existing learning kit set, a set of cards that displayed the details of all
experiential activities, and selected student works.
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Partnership Programme with HKEdCity for Primary
Students - Smart Shopper Go Go Goal

In partnership with HKEdCity, a new online activity titled “Smart Shopper
Go Go Goal” was successfully launched during the Easter Holidays in
the 2020/21 school year. Under the theme “Foods and Drinks”, an online
quiz based on CHOICE Magazine videos was developed and hosted
on the HKEdCity online platform. The activity provided a fun way for
senior primary students to learn about product information and tips for
making informed consumption decisions. Around 4,760 students from
94 schools took part in the activity.
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Proactive Education Platform for Secondary School
Students - Consumer Culture Study Award

In collaboration with the EDB, the Council has continued to educate the
youth through its flagship programme, the annual Consumer Culture
Study Award (CCSA). Over the years, more than 82,000 students from
374 secondary schools have undertaken in-depth studies, enabling
them to gain better insights into various consumption issues and
develop positive consumer values.

During the year, the 22nd CCSA was successfully concluded with its
Award Presentation Ceremony on 21 October 2021, attended by over
130 guests and participants. It was also exciting to see the continued
support from schools as reflected from the total of 597 teams from
77 secondary schools having enrolled in the 23rd CCSA.

To help participants conceive the project ideas, a W
total of 71 workshops/talks and consultation sessions
were conducted. This year, 4 theme exemplars'®
have been newly introduced to guide participants
through the projects and further enrich their learning
experiences. A set of well-structured guiding questions
were designed and the CCSA
website (edu.consumer.org.hk) m
was used strategically in talks
and consultations to motivate
the participants to embark
on their own self-exploration
journey in different forms,
from observation about daily
consumption matters, discovery of
intriguing consumption stories, to
reflection on firsthand authentic
consumption experiences.

Invited by the EDB, the Council conducted a teacher training session
titled “Online Consumption: Consumer Behaviours and the Possible
Risks""” for more than 120 secondary school teachers on 3 June 2021,
sharing the risks and sales traps of online consumption, and also taking
the opportunity to showcase several CCSA award-winning projects to
the audience.
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16 The 4 theme exemplars are: (1) Consumption and Personal Growth (4% E{E A B £), (2) Online/Electronic Consumption Story (1. / ST HEHI#EE), (3) Distinctive
Consumption Experience (R—#HHEEESR), and (4) From Consumption to Community Care ({&H &2+ B EA1E).
MEEEEBEE: (1) DEEREARER, ~ (2) RLE/EFHENRE, - (3) TR—KAVEEIER, & (4) MEHERIAAEIE, -

17 The sharing is part of a new online training course organised by the EDB titled “Knowledge enrichment and teaching experience sharing on consumer and financial

education in secondary schools”.
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Responsible Consumption Programme for Secondary
School Students - Hong Kong Secondary School
Marketing Contest 2021

The Council continued its support to the Department of Marketing
of the School of Business, Hong Kong Baptist University (HKBU), the
Business-School Partnership Programme of the EDB and the HKCSS-
HSBC Social Enterprise Business Centre in co-organising the Hong Kong
Secondary School Marketing Contest 2021. More than 600 F.3 to F.5
students took part in this contest and 5 teams were selected for the
final competition to present their creative marketing plans on how to
advocate sustainable fashion among the youth.

Consumer Education for Post-Secondary School Students

During the year, the Council continued to offer summer internships
to 19 students from various higher education institutions, namely the
University of Hong Kong, the Chinese University of Hong Kong, City
University of Hong Kong, the Education University of Hong Kong, the
School of Professional Education and Executive Development (SPEED)
of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University (PolyU), HKBU and Hong Kong
Shue Yan University. The internships provided students with valuable
exposure and hands-on training in the work of consumer protection.

Empowering Vulnerable Groups to Enhance
Self-Protection

Recognising that the elderly, as well as physically or mentally
handicapped persons in the population, may be particularly vulnerable
to the risks posed by unfair trade practices, the Council continued
its effort to reach out to these groups through various customised
programmes as well as consumer education talks with a view to
empowering them for self-protection.

Consumer Education for Persons with Special Needs

Entering the second year of the “Support Programme for Persons with
Special Needs” (“Programme”), the Council continued empowering
social work and education practitioners to deliver consumer education
workshops for persons with autism spectrum disorder, mild intellectual
disability, and common mental disorder (“target groups”) to heighten
their vigilance and equip them with the skills to avert malpractices and
common sales traps in fitness and beauty centres through a set of
tailor-made training kits. Since its launch, the Programme has received
various forms of support from about 40 social welfare organisations,
self-help groups and special schools (“organisations”) to jointly assist the
target groups in enhancing their self-protection ability as consumers.

During the year, a total of 40 train-the-trainer sessions and parent
talks were conducted for frontline staff members, social workers and
teachers of the organisations, as well as family members and caregivers
of the target groups, attracting over 860 participants. Subsequently,
25 consumer education workshops were organised for the target
groups, with nearly 300 participants. Positive feedback on the
effectiveness of the workshops were received from the participating
trainers.
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The Council is devoted to strengthening the collaboration with partner
organisations to promote the consumer rights of the target groups, and
garner public support for upholding them through various channels
and activities. To encourage more organisations to take partin the
Programme, the first experience sharing cum refresher training session
on the Programme was held in August 2021, where an update of the
latest developments of the Programme were given and various partner
organisations were invited to share their insights and experiences.

The Council also joined hands with Fu Hong Society to promote the
Programme through a radio interview with “Care for Disabled” (FJEE A
WA SERERS) of RTHK Radio 1. Besides, in support of the “International
Day of Persons with Disabilities” set out by the United Nations on
3 December each year, a public workshop on the pitfalls of fitness
centre sales was organised.

Consumer Education for Senior Citizens

With the ageing population in Hong Kong, the empowerment of senior
citizens through consumer education has become ever more important.
In collaboration with different social service organisations and elder
academies, 45 consumer education talks were held for senior citizens
either face-to-face or virtually in the year, attracting 905 participants.
Essential topics such as consumer rights and responsibilities, and unfair
trade practices under the Trade Descriptions Ordinance, as well
as consumer alerts particularly relevant to senior citizens
such as homes for the aged, telecommunication services,
telemarketing of health checkup plans, bogus health

talks and health food, and dried seafood were covered.

Also, in November 2021, a public talk on online shopping

was held at the “Gerontech and Innovation Expo cum
Summit (GIES)".

-
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One key achievement of the Council related to consumer education in
the year was the launch of the Pilot Educator Scheme for Senior Citizens
(ESSC) in partnership with 5 organisations, namely Yan Oi Tong Hong
Kong Toi Shan Association Neighbourhood Elderly Centre, ELCHK Shatin
District Community Centre for the Golden-Aged, Christian Family Service
Centre - True Light Villa District Elderly Community Centre, St. James'
Settlement Wanchai District Elderly Community Centre, and Senior Police
Call. The scheme aimed to equip participating retirees and elderly with
consumer rights knowledge and public speaking techniques through a
comprehensive training programme, so that they could host community
talks and transfer the knowledge to other senior citizens, thereby
empowering them to protect themselves and make informed choices.

Around 90 retirees or soon-to-be retirees aged between 50 and
80 received the basic training, and amongst them 24 with the most
outstanding performance were selected to undertake advanced
training and qualified as “Senior Educators” after assessment. They
hosted around 30 consumer rights community talks for their fellow
elderly in the year under review, as well as participating in related
activities, including attending interviews in the programme “Happy
Old Buddies” (fR€=F3A) by TVB, and being invited to be the emcee
in the public talk in GIES aforementioned. Additionally, 63 participants
became Network Members who would share with their peers the latest
consumption information and help build a stronger support network
in the community. A visit to the Jockey Club “age at home” Gerontech
Education and Rental Service Centre and guided tours in GIES were also
arranged for ESSC Senior Educators and Network Members as post-
training activities.
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To recognise the achievements of the Network Members and Senior
Educators, the ESSC Recognition Ceremony cum Official Launch of
the Elderly Hotline was held on 5 January 2022, with the attendance
of over 110 guests and participants. The Ceremony was officiated by
The Honourable Bernard Charnwut CHAN, GBM, GBS, JP. Certificates
of completion and certificates of appreciation were presented to the
Senior Educators and Network Members, and partner organisations
respectively.
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Providing Support to the Community Regularly
and During the Pandemic

Special Webinar Series for 5th Wave of Pandemic

Hong Kong was hit by the fifth wave of the COVID-19 pandemic in early
2022 - people were housebound and schools’ summer holidays were
also brought forward to March and April. These did not halt the Council's
efforts in supporting consumers to make informed consumption
choices and continue to lead a healthy life. Under the theme “Kickstart
Healthy Living; Cheer for Life” (T & EREI~LE) AEEFTR.), a total of
23 Special Community Talks/Workshops were conducted/scheduled
from mid-March to May 2022 for the public as well as specific groups
including teenagers, parents and children, and persons with special
needs. There were 5 main categories of topics namely “Anti-epidemic
and Disinfecting Products”, “Consumption Tips” (including tips related
to the new round of Consumption Vouchers released in April 2022),
“Consumption Risks”, “Life Enhancement Under the Pandemic”, and
“Interactive Environmental Protection Workshop” (in collaboration with
Sham Shui Po Community Green Station). The Talks/Workshops were
well-received, and attracted around 1,000 attendees.
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Community Talks

The Council continued to conduct community talks regularly even
during the prevailing pandemic. 8 community talks (excluding those for
retirees and the elderly), including 4 conducted via video-conferencing,
were held for different target groups including primary school students,
secondary school students, women, and persons with hearing
impairment, attended by over 430 participants. A host of topics were
covered including consumer alerts in areas such as online shopping,
fitness centres, consumption with prepayment, food labelling, and
sustainable consumption.

In January 2022, the Council was also invited by the Department of
Marketing, HKBU to deliver a guest lecture titled “From Consumer
Trends to Socially Responsible Marketing Solutions”. The talk provided
some 120 attending students with an overview of consumer trends and
the changing environment in Hong Kong, serving to inspire marketers to
design innovative, relevant and sustainable marketing plans for different
target groups.
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FORGING CLOSER COLLABORATION
FOR CONSUMER PROTECTION

Mg st SEREAEEER

Partnerships, collaborations and information exchange at local, regional
and international levels are essential for the Council to discharge its duties
in consumer protection and empowerment. Outside Hong Kong, the
Council has established ties with consumer organisations in many other
countries and regions, and is also active in bodies such as Consumers
International. On the home front, the Council consults regularly with
relevant Government departments, regulators and trade and professional
bodies. Although many regular international events and conferences \
in the year under review were moved online in light of the global travel N

restrictions, these virtual events continued to produce fruitful outcomes, /
reflecting the spirit of consumer protection counterparts around the globe \
in battling the impacts of COVID-19.

B DMER UEBEBMAS BB AEFR HEESFENRREN.
YEBASEEBETHEERENRAMABRRELNNBE - BRI A2
HEZERFZMMEAEEEEREIEHE YEH2REERREEEREEAN
MBIERAEBNES  MEDH AN EHEMARBUFEF - BEEHEB B
SXERETER - BEN2IIRERD FAFLEREAEERMN SR
F8RT BEBEEHRNEEMR TORRIEASHAVEEERE T OE

HRIBHEM -
Local Collaboration AEE
The Council has maintained close liaison with the Commerce and A —HHEIGHE E(RBER AT SN K&
Economic Development Bureau, which oversees policy on consumer ESRREE  JREE M ITERPIRE EMES
protection. The Council also worked with other Government bureaux AR BEYEESENTEE REATES-
and departments, as well as statutory bodies to provide advice on BHEE SRREREBE AHELERESRR
matters of consumer interest, such as fair competition and trade 2 B LRAEEY s -

practices, financial and insurance services, public health and food

safety, telecommunications, and residential property issues. . o . .
AEZENBEAHSEEE 0 @AKERHA
EERERHUER

L ) ) MR E S 18, MY
Members and staff of the Council sit on nearly 50 public advisory ek EHE
committees”®, offering views from consumers’ perspectives.

18 See Appendix 9 for the list of external committees attended by Council Members and staff.
FERENBESENIREZESGRERMEI

2021-22 Annual Report &% | 93



94

FORGING CLOSER COLLABORATION FOR CONSUMER PROTECTION /¥t SEREEEE#ER

Collaboration with the Mainland and Macao SAR

Virtual Meeting with Consumer Associations from
Guangdong and Macao SAR

The Council was invited by the Guangdong Consumer Council to
attend an online meeting in September 2021 to exchange recent
experience in consumer protection during the COVID-19 pandemic
period. Participants included the Guangdong Consumer Council,
Macao SAR Government Consumer Council and representatives from
consumer associations in Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Zhuhai and Henggin
New District. During the meeting, the Council presented its work in
supporting anti-epidemic measures and exchanged the Council's
views on addressing the issue of purchase of non-local properties. The
Macao SAR Government Consumer Council also had similar experience
especially in the Greater Bay Area (GBA) and addressed it through the
formation of an “alert and defense” network with the GBA counterparts
in handling the issue.

International and Regional Collaboration

The Council is an Executive and Council Member of Consumers
International (Cl), a global federation championing consumer rights
which comprises over 200 organisations from almost 100 countries
and regions worldwide. Sharing a kindred vision, Cl's mission is to work
closely with its constituent member organisations and to strengthen
networks to protect, inform, give voice to, and secure rights for,
consumers at regional and international levels.

The Chief Executive of the Council was appointed for the second time
in a row as Vice President of Cl's Board of Trustees in 2019 following
her first-term appointment in 2015. In this strategic role with a 4-year
tenure (2019-2023), the Council’s Chief Executive is involved in setting
Cl's strategic priorities, reviewing its budget and financial plans, and
identifying new partnerships to strengthen global consumer protection.

The 5th Intergovernmental Group of Experts on
Consumer Protection Law and Policy of the United
Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD)

Invited by the UNCTAD, the Council's Chief Executive virtually attended
the 5th session of the Intergovernmental Group of Experts (IGE) on
Consumer Protection Law and Policy, which was conducted in both
virtual and physical formats on 5 and 6 July 2021. Topical discussion
and idea-exchange sessions during the meetings covered topics such
as implementation of the United Nations guidelines for consumer
protection; the latest developments in legal and institutional
frameworks: UNCTAD world consumer protection map; as well as
consumer law, policy and regulatory actions in response to and in the
aftermath of the COVID-19 pandemic, etc.
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World Consumer Rights Day 2022

In support of the World Consumers Rights Day 2022 (15 March 2022)
and its annual theme “Fair Digital Finance”, the Council published an
article in the March 2022 issue (#545) of CHOICE Magazine to raise
public awareness on the importance of driving a fair digital finance
marketplace, one that is inclusive of all consumers, including vulnerable
consumers.

On 14 March 2022, the Chief
Executive of the Council spoke as
a panellist at the session themed
“Consumer Advocacy - A Catalyst for
Change in Digital Finance" at the Fair
Digital Finance Forum organised by
Cl. The Panel discussed the most
pressing issues and opportunities
for consumers of digital finance and
how consumer advocacy, through
collaboration with businesses,
policymakers and regulators, can be a
catalyst for change in the marketplace
to ensure that every consumer has
the rights to access and use digital
financial services.

Moreover, visions for establishing a fair digital
financial future were shared, including building a
harmonised digital finance marketplace for all by
putting forward the setting of standards on data
security, data protection and privacy; ensuring
fair access to financial services through different
channels including the non-digital ones; and taking care of disadvantaged
people in light of the rapidly evolving digital finance landscape. The Forum
was attended by over 90 speakers from different parts of the globe.

Consumers International - Global Consumer
Protection and Empowerment Index

The Council supports Cl in developing the Consumer Protection and
Empowerment Index, which is an innovative tool to assess the degree
to which its members have implemented mechanisms and measures to
build, maintain and encourage a safe, fair and sustainable marketplace for
all. The Council also contributed a case study in the Insight Report 2022
on the theme “Education for Young Consumers", which featured the Council's
“Earth 2038's Learning Journey of Sustainable Consumption” programme
and the “"Consumer Culture Study Award”.
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COMMENDATIONS AND COMPLIMENTS

5 o B R A

The Council is always greatly encouraged by the hundreds of messages of support it receives each
year from the public, readers of CHOICE Magazine, and from its social media followers, expressing
thanks for the Council's consumer advice or help in resolving complaints. Apart from providing
assurance that the Council is meeting public expectations, these commendations and compliments
serve a valuable role in boosting staff's morale and pride in their mission of protecting and

empowering Hong Kong consumers.

AeSFIREIBLIEFRETR  (B2) BTBEEIERTEEEEMNELRNER  FRESH RE4AS
BB RUERNEZNRERER - A HARNETERSPMNEY §—FEHIRRIEEAST
FNERYE RGBTSR CETH2EESHERA MR 2BEETERREERNENERER

The Ombudsman’s Awards 2021

The Council was honoured for its staff to receive the
Ombudsman’s Awards in 2021, for the ninth consecutive year.
Ms Evelyn NGAN Chui-shan and Mr Manson LI Ka-ming, both
Complaints & Advice Officers, were presented with the Award
this year in recognition of their exceptional performance in
customer service and handling consumer complaints.

2021 FRREEEE
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RUBUDSMAN'S AWARDS

Jockey Club Age-friendly City
Partnership Scheme 2020

The Council received the Age-friendly Collaborator Award of
the subject scheme' at the Age-friendly City International
Conference cum City Partnership Scheme Award Presentation
Ceremony in June 2021, in recognition of its contribution to
consumer education for senior citizens over the years.

BESEENT "2 RERE, 518 2020
AN 2021 F 6 AEBEGHERTARATEE 20
RERE, 8 Be L B T EE AR, MIEBA
SERHUERYBEHENER

ageing
Moy Kang
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19  Visit www.jcafc.hk/en/Events/Jockey-Club-Age-Friendly-City-Partnership-Scheme-2020.html or scan the QR code for details of the scheme.
=HEIFHE B8 Bwww.jcafc.hk/tc/Events/Jockey-Club-Age-Friendly-City-Partnership-Scheme-2020.html » SR — #EHS o



Words of Thanks

The Council is grateful for the positive feedback from consumers and
readers of CHOICE Magazine in recognition of the professionalism of
our staff. Positive sentiment from the audience of various social media
channels is also highly appreciated. Selected examples are shown below:

(Note: The following messages from complainants have been edited to enhance
readability and comprehension)

Case Highlight
BERE

The complainant visited a beauty centre to try out a $130 trial facial
treatment promoted online. Once there, however, she was told
that her skin condition was unsuitable for the trial treatment and
was recommended another package by the staff. During one of the
later treatment sessions, a few staff members and the beautician
commented badly on her skin condition and she was coerced to sign
a new service contract worth $50,400. Being unsuccessful with her
subsequent request to cancel the contract, she sought help from
the Council.

Upon review of the CCTV footage of the sales process, the
complainant believed that some scenes were covered intentionally
to the trader’s advantage and no settlement could be reached. She
thus filed a CLAF application, and then a claim with the Small Claims
Tribunal (SCT). With the guidance of the Council’'s Complaints Officer
Ms Hon, and Mr Cheng from the Legal Affairs Division, a favourable
out-of-court settlement was reached just before the SCT hearing
commenced and she got a refund of around $50,000 from the
beauty centre.
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The complainant, who represented a group of tour
members who paid $29,800 each to join an 8-day tour to
Iceland, lodged a complaint with the Council after the trip
and requested a partial refund for the poor arrangement.
As the original flight was re-scheduled and the whole tour
was shortened, they could not visit the glacier and missed
the aurora tour which were the major attractions of the
tour.

Despite the effort made by the Council’s Senior Complaints
Officer Mr So, the travel agent refused to settle the matter
with the complainant. Mr So then advised the complainant
to file a claim with the SCT and guided them through the
whole process that lasted for more than a year. Finally, the
complainant and other tour members reached a settlement

Case Highlight
[BRER
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with the travel agentin the SCT.

Case Highlight
EsRERS

The complainant, who is suffering from sleep apnea,
purchased a ventilator from an authorised dealer
in October 2020 for $11,980. However, he found the
ventilator uncomfortable during use and manifested
the symptoms of headache and stuffy nose, though he
had followed the instructions advised by the dealer.

In June 2021, the complainant was shocked to learn
about the global recall of the ventilators due to
potential health risk. He later confirmed that the model
which he had been using for a few months was one
of the models on the recall list. Although the dealer
had promised him to replace the sound-proof foam in
August 2021, the replacement was deferred repeatedly.
After rounds of conciliation for 4 months, the Council’s
Complaints Officer Mr Wong successfully urged the
dealer to replace a new ventilator for the complainant.

Dear Mr Wong,

settled with .

b Jevice
by exchanging my I CPAP device
a brand new cPAP of

My case has been

in question for

another brand free of charge.

rk in following up with my
d My heartfelt

Your hard wo
case is highly appreciale

gratitude to you for your Lkind assistance.

BRERE SEAYREFAR 2020 F
10 BIEIRAEFE e L $11,980 f
BT AR T8 sAMERE
RBEHM AR T BMEE
FARFIREEAS AR T 878 WHIRTY
IREMBEAIEAR

2021 5 6 B % EF A5 R0 IR R
BEREEBMETZIREN &
B KBRE  MgREE tERT
BERMEEEZRWRBE LR
B — o BES R MR A KEE
B 2021 £ 8 AERES AR H
AM—BHE - TR4BEBENZE
AR AERFEEFTEERIH
(RIS H PG B 1R AR A R IR ST A RE IR o



A

~
~

ikﬁ%%]\ﬁﬁﬂ@i%ﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁ
€ BB Bemansmmg .

-

-
~
<

N
&
N

EEE

TE e FORE T
HiedH Bt iR 2ok F
llf%’%%@éﬁ]ﬁé% &%%ﬁ’f?
%@ﬁ%wmﬁ%ﬁ%%%'mw
AFEET e

TR VS Ly S L
) BE AL R K TRE \\\\\

Er T O

L

“—/

B TANRE G
=g \ﬂE%%ijm%EﬁiZk)\&é‘ﬁ’;%ﬁﬁ%fﬁH%

G SN

HEREE Rk . g

// NSEILUEIDN.

) G / h dmmlymmpthelpfwm any

:;IEIJ BTty gy g Z I rever gratefulforsour elp oaey!
RN RN DR e gy

];;@D@h:mﬁeﬁ@miu-nfaaams

N S ? fim?ﬁ_@ﬁg 5 ___ k

&, ﬁmmﬁﬁzﬁﬁjmm nﬂ%’#ﬂ

BIuRRas. EEmmmgy

ﬁﬁiéﬁwﬁﬁmﬁﬂn !

>

Compliments on Social Media

it R 4RES CAYIERT

AT

thank you for your information and prompt report

Like Reply 5m

) A HE

AAH EHTIMAR [ 7 el TN T
o Zg HERNIN DR . i‘iﬁ{ﬁﬁ*&%ﬁﬁk;g, i',iﬁ

\ 2 iz — SN oS SE /
e ﬂgiﬁﬁgﬂiﬂéﬁ% PO B R0 AT)  daa N .ggiﬁj Eﬁﬁi@;f;uu@ R pg

; ACERRWOE - SB35 A (A gy RO R IRt 3 s

TRBEBEIR. sans ) 7 ’ .
BTSSR g EMAS e &/

Dear Ms Lam, ction
. e you for your prompt rea
/ would like to thank y ory piom! 1’ trily

that helped me o solve my pro
/
rateful for yonr help!
{wmld Like to thank Your colleague /
nmy complaint and proceeded a5 urgent!

who received

&zt

% 5t *%EE3§$AIEE: biz]

EIEE@%%H ge %8

EIEEIEEIEE?EZF/\@ﬁ_’ ﬁ;

% 5t %%‘"ﬁi\ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂzﬁm
S EEC r
i S

.

ay 1 5P

| | 15 hours ago
BWHE, KREHDSHHSMABEF =y
REPLY

| | I/} 18 hours ago

ﬁm#j! *+HHEMA - EEHEENEN - BWBAMD -
2 P

REPLY

¢ bhiilal sl e ik
' E&Eﬁﬂ‘ﬁﬁﬁ:‘h’?ﬁ?ﬂ!iﬁﬁai‘}&‘rz | FRAEEE  RARXEITSETES

BE

Like Reply 29w

WEHRER  HERBABTRERACQES  HIRHEESN B4 BBTWES A J

L

2 months ago

EEEe HUAaTE#EL

oy P

REPLY

SESFER SRR

Like Reply 27w > -

P Top fan

|1| Ak B |i
HERMNRE NS EEETA

Like Reply 3h

- @
e T~

Like Reply

y
‘ 2 SMZTR  BEEMRES
Like Reply 29w o

FHM, SHHE LY |

2021-22 Annual Report 53 |

99



Appendix 1 « f#%—

CONSUMER COUNCIL
FORMER CHAIRMEN AND VICE-CHAIRMEN

HEEXREE

Year &5

1974.04 - 1975.03
1975.04 - 1980.03
1980.04 —1984.10
1984.10-1988.10
1988.10-1991.10
1991.10-1997.10
1997.10 - 1999.07
1999.09 - 2005.09
2005.09 - 2007.06
2007.07 - 2012.06
2013.01-2018.12

Year &F5

1987.04 —1989.03
1989.04 - 1991.10
1991.10-1993.10
1993.10-1997.10
1997.10-2001.10
2001.10-2007.10
2007.10-2013.10
2013.10-2017.10
2017.10-2019.10
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— BERERRBIEE

Former Chairmen BEEIXE

Sir KAN Yuet-keung, GBE, CBE, JP f&15%58 B+ GBE  CBE > ASFHiL

Dr LO Kwee-seong, CBE, OBE, JP ZE#E#F {81 CBE> OBE A FH#L

Dr Gallant HO Yiu-tai, JP fAl@ifiEL AP+

Mrs Selina CHOW LIANG Shuk-yee, GBS, JP AZRifleit @ EAEE APt
Mr Martin LEE Chu-ming, SC, JP ZSfE 888 R REM » A #h L

Prof. Edward CHEN Kwan-yiu, GBS, P BRIBNEHIT  SEFESE Pt

Ms Anna WU Hung-yuk, GBS, JP #fI £t €XHEF  XFEML

Prof. Andrew CHAN Chi-fai, SBS, JP FREEHIT - REFI 2 E » AFH+

Prof. K C CHAN, GBS, JP RE&H T > SEFIEE  AFH+

Prof. Anthony CHEUNG Bing-leung, GBS, P SRIAR#IT @K E2E APt
Prof. WONG Yuk-shan, SBS, BBS, JP EEIL#R  REFEE  AEAEE XM+

Former Vice-Chairmen FE[EE|E[E

Mr TANG Kwai-nang, BBS, JP ERiEResLaE  EFEE A+

Prof. Edward CHEN Kwan-yiu, GBS, JP [RISRH#IT ©RFEF  AFMt
Mr Justein WONG Chun, BBS, JP T4 ALFI2E - ATt

Ms Anna WU Hung-yuk, GBS, JP ##I XX+  €SKHES A+

Dr John HO Dit-sang {#k£E 8+

Mr Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, BBS, JP SRHHERED  $AKFIEE » A4+
Mr Ambrose HO, SBS, SC, JP Al &R AR SREFZ2E K+
Mr Philip LEUNG Kwong-hon, MH ZJE 54 » 8 gz

Mr Samuel CHAN Ka-yan, BBS, JP BREREZ AN AEF BT » AFML
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MEMBERSHIP OF THE CONSUMER COUNCIL

HEBEEREBEERXRER

Chairman /&

Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SBS, SC, JP
WERERAEA REFEE AT

Vice-Chairman EIEfE

Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH 578 B4R 60 » LB T35

Members &

Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin BREREESE4

Dr Catherine CHAN Po-ling BREK B4
(from 2022.01.01 i)

The Hon Holden CHOW Ho-ding A% RZEE
Dr Wilton FOK Wai-tung ZEE#EEL

Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming JEZIE4+

Mr Edward HO Man-tat {AJR&Es 4

Mr Marvin HSU Tsun-fai, JP R4 K+
(up to = 2021.12.31)

Ms Miranda KWAN Ching-yi B85 &E+
(from 2022.01.01 #E)

The Hon Nelson LAM Chi-yuen, JP #&iE#% 8 » AF 4+
Mr Victor LAM Hoi-cheung, JP #Agl & 44 K #t

Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, MH, JP
MR BREAN  £EE T KL

Ms Vanessa LAU Chi-wan B|F=#+
Ms Kitty LEE Wing-lan ZSXBEZt

Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun SFE#BBE5EE

Dr Victor LUl Wing-cheong EXEE4E
Mr Raymond MAK Ka-chun ZEE=Z54
Mr Tony PANG Chor-fu 52285k 5c4

Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai ESELEE

Prof. Nora TAM Fung-yee, BBS, JP
BEREHX HEFES AFET

Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze ;BB FZ+
Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC & ZE & R RIEAD

Mr Ramon YUEN Hoi-man =& SE4E (up to & 2021.12.31)

Co-opted Members I&HEZES
Dr Jason CHAN Kai-yue, MH, JP
BRIEFIH L LEEHE ML

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, MH, JP
BREFESSLA - LB E - KA+

Dr Toa CHARM SEZIGHE+
Prof. Herbert CHIA Pun-kok, JP B8 @& 335 » A4+
Mr Johnny FEE Chung-ming, JP ZRBREAD » A fH+

Ms Amy FUNG Dun-mi, MH, JP
AR FEEE KL (up to 2 2021.12.31)

Mr Ambrose HO, SBS, SC, JP
AT ERERRER BEFEE ) XM
(up to & 2021.12.31)

Prof. Michael HUI King-man, MH

AR R REEE

Mr Richard KHAW Wei-kiang, SC {23 & =2
Mr Kelvin KWOK Hiu-fai SPEERESCAE

Mr Alex LAl Ting-hong ZRRFEREFEEM
(up to Z 2021.12.31)

Mr Daniel C. LAM, SBS, BBS, JP

WaELEL REFES WEFESE KMt
Ms Queenie Fiona LAU BB AR Z2Em

Prof. Angela NG Lai-ping REESEZUIT

Prof. Jack POON Sik-ching ;& IE#i%

Prof. PUN Kong-pang &1 etz

Mr SHIH Wing-ching, JP MK BS54 A #+
Ms Rachael SIU Suk-yu &8I R EEED

Mr Tony TANG Kwok-wai BfEEsE4

Mr Martin WONG Wing-hoi K18 A/2ER
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MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEES, WORKING GROUPS

AND ADVISORY GROUPS
NEEE

Staff and Finance Committee
ANENIFF)vE

Chairman EJ&

Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SBS, SC, JP

MERERAREE REFLE AL

Vice-Chairman EIE/E

Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH Bf#8 B4R 6T » 222 E)=
Members £5

Mr Edward HO Man-tat fAIRIZESE4

Mr Marvin HSU Tsun-fai, JP
BRBEBSELE AT #t (up to E 2021.12.31)

The Hon Nelson LAM Chi-yuen, JP TF&EZS A E i+
(from 2022.01.27 #£)

Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, MH, JP
MEERER £EBFHE KT+

Dr Victor LUl Wing-cheong HXKEE4
Mr Tony PANG Chor-fu 288k 5c4

Prof. Nora TAM Fung-yee, BBS, JP
BREHR FEAE28 KMt

Audit Committee E%/)\vdA

Convenor BE A
Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH Ef78 Bb/26T - 248 8)z

Members 5

Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming J5RIS &+

Mr Edward HO Man-tat fAIREs 4

The Hon Nelson LAM Chi-yuen, JP H&EZE A E#+

Co-opted Members 1E:EZE

Mr Clement CHAN Kam-wing, MH, JP
PREBESA  REHE - ML

Consumer Protection Law and
Policy Committee

HEAREREREBR M

Chairman /&

Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SBS, SC, JP
MERE R AR REFES T
Vice-Chairman E|F &

Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, MH, JP
MR £EBBE Pt

Members £&

The Hon Holden CHOW Ho-ding Ei&5ZE

Ms Miranda KWAN Ching-yi B&8&z+
(from 2022.01.27 &)

Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH
B E R ERE KRBT

The Hon Nelson LAM Chi-yuen, JP H&EZE A FH#+
Mr Victor LAM Hoi-cheung, JP #R81 & 44 K4+
Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun EE#RBESEA

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC A ZE & R AR

Mr Ramon YUEN Hoi-man =EX &4
(up to & 2021.12.31)

Co-opted Members EEZE
Mr Kelvin KWOK Hiu-fai SPEERESLAE

Ms Queenie Fiona LAU 2| &S A£EED
(from 2022.01.27 #£)

Mr SHIH Wing-ching, JP BB 54 » AL
Ms Rachael SIU Suk-yu &I AEED

Mr Tony TANG Kwok-wai BRER{E5c4

Mr Martin WONG Wing-hoi E K5 KZEM
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Publicity and Community Trade Practices and Consumer
Relations Committee Complaints Review Committee
EE L ERS/ VA HEF AR HEEIRGFED/VE
Chairman EJE Chairman FJ&

Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai #S @44 Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH

ERtHELEA R ERE

Vice-Chairman | J&
Mr Marvin HSU Tsun-fai, JP RSB 4 » KE M+

Vice-Chairman T /&
Ms Kitty LEE Wing-lan Z=XBEZt

Members &8 (up to Z 2021.12.31)

Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin SRS Mr Tony PANG Chor-fu &28% 464

Dr Catherine CHAN Po-ling FRER B4 (from 2022.01.27 i&) (from 2022.01.27 #E)

Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming JE/Z1EZ+ Members £E

The Hon Nelson LAM Chi-yuen, JP MEIRZRES AL Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin BREAELE4

Mr Victor LAM Hoi-cheung, JP #Agl & 44 A #it The Hon Holden CHOW Ho-ding AR &S
Ms Vanessa LAU Chi-wan 2|F =%+ Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming 2184+

Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun E#BBE A Ms Miranda KWAN Ching-yi E3&F@EL 1

Mr Raymond MAK Ka-chun ZRZ5E4 (from 2022.01.27 &)

Mr Tony PANG Chor-fu 87285 5c4F The Hon Nelson LAM Chi-yuen, JP

MWEERHS KMt
Mr Victor LAM Hoi-cheung, JP #R81Z 54 A4+
Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun E#RBES4E

Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze REERIZ L
N1

Co-opted Members 1E:EZE
Dr Jason CHAN Kai-yue, MH, JP

BT L KRBT T Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC $R7&Z & R AEHT
Mr Ramon YUEN Hoi-man =354

Research and Testing Committee (up to = 2021.12.31)

B ZE R B Vil Co-opted Members 1ZEZRE

Mr Kelvin KWOK Hiu-fai SREERESC4

Chairman FJ& (up to Z 2022.01.26)

Prof. Nora TAM Fung-yee, BBS, JP

BEERE MRS AL Prof. Angela NG Lai-ping SEE# 3%

Vice-Chairman E|EJ&E
Dr Victor LUl Wing-cheong EXEE4
Members X5

Dr Catherine CHAN Po-ling FRER &4
(from 2022.01.27 #E)

Dr Wilton FOK Wai-tung ZEE&B+

Ms Vanessa LAU Chi-wan B|F¥=#+

Ms Kitty LEE Wing-lan Z5kEZct

Mr Raymond MAK Ka-chun ZEZEZ 454

Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai Zs= &L

Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze BRI+

Mr Ramon YUEN Hoi-man =& L4 (up to & 2021.12.31)
Co-opted Members 1EEERE

Prof. PUN Kong-pang &1 8#i%
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Advisory Group on Digital Economy and
Information Technology

HhEhin i B E AR A/ vE
Convenor BE A

Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai ESE L4
Vice-Convenor EIBE A

Mr Raymond MAK Ka-chun ZEE2&4&4
Members £E

Dr Catherine CHAN Po-ling FRE¥R B4 (from 2022.01.27 &E)

Dr Wilton FOK Wai-tung EE&H1
Ms Veronica FUNG Kit-ming JEZIE4 1+
Ms Vanessa LAU Chi-wan 8| F=%+
Mr Tony PANG Chor-fu &Z85k5E4
Co-opted Members 1ZEEZE

Dr Jason CHAN Kai-yue, MH, JP
PRfEFEt L ERE ATt

Dr Toa CHARM EZIGHE+
Prof. Herbert CHIA Pun-kok, JP B GR&E#s  KE M+
Prof. Jack POON Sik-ching &R 1E#is

Preliminary Working Group on
Class Actions

SERESRENT I T/E/VE

Chairman EJ&

Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SBS, SC, JP

MEREFAREM REFES KL

Vice-Chairman BIEJE

Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH Bl#8 B¢ £EAT L5 BBy E=
Members £5

Mr Edward HO Man-tat {AIREL4E

Mr Matthew LAM Kin-hong, MH, JP

MIREREERAD BB E KT

Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun F#BEi 4

Mr Tony PANG Chor-fu &35k %4

CLAF Management Committee Members
HEERAESTIEREERE

Mr Johnny FEE Chung-ming, JP ZFRERREM » AEAH+
Mr Richard KHAW Wei-kiang, SC 2R & ENEED

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC SR ZE &R AEEM
(from 2022.01.27 #E)

Co-opted Members 1Z:EZE
Mr Ambrose HO, SBS, SC, JP

AR ERAEAD  REFIE E > AR (up to 2 2021.12.31)

Mr Alex LAl Ting-hong Z2FE {20 (up to & 2021.12.31)
Ms Queenie Fiona LAU 2| ZJHA#EED (from 2022.01.27 #E)

Working Group on Office Premises
Accommodation and Enhancement Projects

M EECE ReEF | TIE/VE

Convenor BE A

Prof. Michael HUI King-man, MH (Co-opted Member)
R KRBT (BEES)

Members £&

Mr Marvin HSU Tsun-fai, JP R B4 AFEH+
(up to £ 2021.12.31)

Ms Miranda KWAN Ching-yi B85 &+
(from 2022.01.27 #E)

Ms Kitty LEE Wing-lan ZE3XBI+
Co-opted Members 1ZEZE

Ms Amy FUNG Dun-mi, MH, JP
TRt BB E KL (up to 2 2021.12.31)

Mr Daniel C. LAM, SBS, BBS, JP
Wak4s REFES MEFES  KEMWL

Working Group on Sustainable
Consumption Programme

AIFHEHER B TR/ v

Chairman EJ&
Prof. Nora TAM Fung-yee, BBS, JP
BRI MEFES XL

Members £&
Mr Kenneth CHAN Kin-nin [EFE4
Mr Edward HO Man-tat {A]Bl3Es4

Ms Miranda KWAN Ching-yi B8B83 &+
(from 2022.01.27 i)

Ms Vanessa LAU Chi-wan Z|F =%+

Ms Kitty LEE Wing-lan 25X+

Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai #SEELE

Ms Iris WAN Lai-sze REEEIZZt

Mr Selwyn YU Sing-cheung, SC A& RRFEAD
Co-opted Members E&ERS

Prof. Angela NG Lai-ping REEST#IT
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MANAGEMENT TEAM OF THE CONSUMER COUNCIL
HEEZETEIERE (2021.04.01 - 2022.03.31)

Chairman Mr Paul LAM Ting-kwok, SBS, SC, JP
IE MEHEFAEAN REFES XMt
|
Vice-Chairman i antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH

RO ER AT SR BEHE

BIEE

NCIL HEEZE

RESEARCH & SURVEY DIVISION 7R &SP
Principal Research & Survey Officer Dr Keith KWOK Wing-yin *
MALEESHLEFEEE BXREBL

PLANNING & TRADE PRACTICES DIVISION R8I % & FEE#7E

Principal Planning & Trade Practices Officer Ms Vera TAM Sau-ngor "
RELBEFLEBHERETE EFELL

Chief
Executive PUBLIC AFFAIRS DIVISION /A3EFEP
%@%; Principal Public Affairs Officer Ms Amy WONG Pui-shan *
" ALEBHEBERBET SRMLL
Ms Gilly WONG INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DIVISION & #H%Ep
Fung-han Head of Information Technology Division Mr Ricky NG Chi-wah
=RURZ BB E ST REELRL
HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION A Q&EIEEP
Head of Human Resources Division Mr LEE Wing-kai
ANEFRIEET FRELRE
FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION DIVISION B R ATELER
Head of Finance & Administration Division Mr Steven WONG Chun-man *
B RATHAA A ERELE
COMPLAINTS & ADVICE DIVISION #%EF K 555058
Principal Complaints & Advice Officer Mr Francis HO Ying-foo *
B MHERATEREE MEEEL
Deﬁ.ut
Chief LEGAL AFFAIRS DIVISION %25 #5EB
Executive Head of Legal Affairs Division Mr Michael KAN Kin-hang *
Bl s HEBBHEREE BRELE
Mr Eddy TONG CONSUMER EDUCATION DIVISION HEBEHBIB
\Chj—chung Head of Consumer Education Division Ms Joey LAl Cho-yee
bl sy v SHEEHEIMIE RESRE

1 Head of Finance & Administration Division fi7%R{THEREEIE
Ms Stephanie LING Yee-mi jZ#&# 2+ (up to & 2021.09.10)
Mr Steven WONG Chun-man & 5:4 (from 2021.10.18 #2)
2 Head of Legal Affairs Division J&2BISEREEEE
Ms Terese AU-YEUNG Kar-wai Bif55 82+ (up to = 2021.12.31)
Mr Michael KAN Kin-hang &f21854 (from 2021.12.13 #2)

SECRETARIAT EEE#

Operated by 1 Senior Committee Secretariat Officer
H—E2aRERTEMEATARER

Remuneration for Top 3 Tiers of Staff in the Consumer Council 4ZE % & 34k 8 FHa
Chief Executive - Directorate Pay Scale Point D3 #8&% — BHEMREH HEFED3
Deputy Chief Executive - Directorate Pay Scale Point D1 &8585 — EREF RKFH =D

#  Principal Officer / Senior Legal Counsel - Master Pay Scale Point 45-49
BEEE — HFRRTH45-49
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CONSUMER COUNCIL jE&EEZ

Independent Auditor’s Report & 7 i iR EE

TO THE COUNCIL MEMBERS OF CONSUMER COUNCIL
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Consumer Council (the
"Council") set out on pages 109 to 137, which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the income and
expenditure statement, statement of changes in funds and reserves
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of the Council's affair as at 31 March 2022, and of its surplus and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Council in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The Council members are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report & 7 i iR EE

TO THE COUNCIL MEMBERS OF CONSUMER COUNCIL - continued
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

Responsibilities of Council Members for the Financial Statements

The Council members are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such internal control as the
Council members determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Council members are
responsible for assessing the Council's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Council
members either intend to liquidate the Council or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Council members are responsible for overseeing the Council's
financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Council's internal control;
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Independent Auditor’s Report & 7 i iR EE

TO THE COUNCIL MEMBERS OF CONSUMER COUNCIL - continued
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements -
continued

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Council members;

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council members' use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Council's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Council to
cease to continue as a going concern; and

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with Council members regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 July 2022
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Income and Expenditure Statement Y{X &£ E XK
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 B{E _ S " “H=RB=+—HIt&E

Income

Government subvention
Non-recurrent projects subventions
Sales of CHOICE magazine
Administrative service income
Interest on bank deposits

Sundry income

Less:

Expenditure

Staff costs

Non-recurrent projects expenses

Testing and research

Office accommodation and related expenses
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment
Depreciation for right-of-use assets

Production and marketing cost of CHOICE magazine
Repairs and maintenances

IT related services

Minor office equipment and accessories
Consumer international membership fees
Consumer education

Publicity and public relations

Auditor's remuneration

Council member expenses

Interest expenses on lease liabilities

Other administrative expenses

Surplus for the year
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NOTES 2022 2021
bi=s S s
HKS HKS

BIT BT

129,511,487 126,797,774

5 22,362,918 17,784,496
6 2,340,347 2,548,211
23 864,487 1,151,513
322,029 905,440

381,066 254,345

155,782,334 149,441,779

7 96,158,134 96,764,019
8 16,321,281 11,979,794
8,847,651 8,811,952
3,652,900 4,889,890

8,373,107 7,861,653

1,435,156 944,206

2,165,675 2,047,951
2,126,820 1,851,013
1,947,063 2,387,516

595,335 598,660

529,139 583,593

724,328 967,115

1,453,952 809,495

200,000 195,000

17,800 5,000

149,866 100,514

3,308,006 3,669,659
148,006,213 144,467,030
7,776,121 4,974,749
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Statement of Financial Position ,Ezﬁ%ﬂjﬁ}ﬁ%%

AT31 MARCH2022 A - _"HF=H=+—H
NOTES 2022 2021
FegE B F B —F
HKS HK_S
BT BT
Non-current assets 3F;ﬁ.§ﬂ§E
Property, plant and equipment £~ e NERE 9 62,152,392 65,621,736
Right-of-use assets REEE 10 1,924,341 2,709,037
64,076,733 68,330,773
Current assets /)miﬂéﬁ
Account receivables, deposits and prepayments FEMWBR =R }@%ﬁ&fﬁﬁ%‘ﬂlﬁ 11 2,349,448 2,628,736
Advances to staffs REFETWTES K 11 6,778 37,198
Amount due from Consumer Legal Action Fund SH %%pﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁ_ﬂ& 11 864,487 1,151,513
Subventions to be claimed HFRENEE R 12 2,229,689 213,934
Bank balances and cash RITES LIRS 13 86,575,705 79,959,955
92,026,107 83,991,336
Current liabilities mEaE
Subscriptions received in advance K ETREIE R 1,078,262 1,144,095
Account payables and accrued expenses FERBRFT N ERTE H 14 5,773,670 6,962,540
Provision for untaken leaves Eﬁﬁﬁzﬁizﬁ%ﬁfﬂﬁx%&{ﬁ 6,666,696 6,570,245
Subventions received in advance SEDE N 15 45,067,305 41,413,800
Lease liabilities HEAaE 16 1,384,320 1,092,793
59,970,253 57,183,473
Net current assets MEIEESE 32,055,854 26,807,863
Total assets less current liabilities BEBERREIAaE 96,132,587 95,138,636
Non-current liabilities EREE
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 599,343 1,648,761
Provision for restoration cost 1B R A 100,000 100,000
Subventions received in advance SEDYEEN 15 10,310,312 16,043,064
11,009,655 17,791,825
85,122,932 77,346,811
Represented by: k=
Leasehold property control account BEYESHIRIE 17 44,960,835 45,636,913
Equipment control account LB EBRIE 18 1,894,831 2,098,467
Designated fund for approved projects REBECIEEES 19 5,987,898 4,045,970
General fund —fEES 32,279,368 25,565,461

85,122,932 77,346,811

The financial statements on pages 109 to 137 were approved and authorised for issue by the members of Consumer Council on 29
July 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

BN 109 BESE 137 ENMERFXENR S " FtAT+NHEEEEZES SR EMEWIRERM > WHMUTRESE
E=

Ms. Gilly Wong Fung-han
E=RHZ
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Flaae )
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Statement of Changes in Capital and Reserves B A K R B E)R
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 B{E _ S " “H=RB=+—HIt&E

Leasehold Designated
property Equipment fund for
control control approved General
account account projects fund
HEMZ= B3 BEEBZ —f% Total
Al BRIE #EIBRIE EEED E& astr
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT AT BIT AT
(Note 17) (Note 18) (Note 19)

(P¥eE17)  (M¥=E18)  (MEE19)

At 1 April 2020 A B "FFNA—H 46,085,069 1,715,397 4,662,119 19,909,477 72,372,062
Surplus for the year NEERBR - - - 4,974,749 4,974,749
Current year addition — AFEILINBEE 596,333 1,396,797 1,159,600  (3,152,730) -
Current year utilisation AFEFHSHR (1,044,489) (1,013,727) (1,775,749) 3,833,965 -
At 31 March 2021 R_ZF_—fF=A=+—H 45,636,913 2,098,467 4,045,970 25,565,461 77,346,811
Surplus for the year RNEE B - - - 7,776,121 7,776,121
Current year addition ~ ARFEIRINSHE 477,990 973,767 3,101,528  (4,553,285) -
Current year utilisation AFEFHSHE (1,154,068) (1,177,403) (1,159,600) 3,491,071 -
At 31 March 2022 AN_F_"HF=A=+—H 44,960,835 1,894,831 5,987,898 32,279,368 85,122,932
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Statement of Cash Flows IR&REXR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH2022 B2 _ & _ _F=HB=+—HI1tFE

Operating activities

Surplus for the year

Adjustments for:
Subventions utilisation on property, plant and

equipment

Finance costs
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Interest income

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Decrease in account receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Decrease (increase) in amount due from
Consumer Legal Action Fund

Decrease in subscriptions received in advance

Increase in subventions to be claimed

Decrease in account payables and accrued expenses

Increase in provision for untaken leaves

Decrease (increase) in advances to staffs

Net cash from operating activities

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

Placement in time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Withdrawal of time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Interest received

Net cash (used in) from investing activities

Financing activities

Subventions utilised for non-recurrent projects

Subventions received for non-recurrent projects

Repayment of lease liabilities

Net cash from financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

Total bank balances and cash represented by:

Time deposits with original maturity over three months
Cash and cash equivalents

EEEE

REFRBER

B TNIRE fEHAE
Wk~ WA LR
BRER

AERA

M ~ B RRBHITE
EREEENITE
HEYS R RRMBHIE
F A

LEESEHRIZ
REFEME

FEWRIR ~ BB/
BNRIRZ D
HEEFRESNEWIRZ
B (38h0)

TAWETRIE B
HRIEFUZIB N

FE IR N IERT B R B
RIEG BFEFRIB R BN
RETFEIMIES 2 (B2 ) 1B

REEEEHARZRTH

BREEE)
BEY= - BaLRRE
HEMZE « R RRIBIVFTEFIR
FHEERHRB=E

Z ERER
ERREZHAA=ER

L TEHIFR
BEHA S

(AR) REREEBREFE

AMEED
FRIEEE IR R 2 BER
IR EMIR B PTR 2 BER

MEBRBTRCREFE

BeRkRSFERERRZ
(i) @
REFNZRERFSFERE

RAFEZRERFASFEHRE
SBITRBREREBETER

JREZIH BB =(8 5 2 EMFHR
RELFEEEIERB

2022 2021

B THE —_F—
HKS HKS
BIT BT
7,776,121 4,974,749
(6,041,638) (5,804,702)
149,866 100,514
8,373,106 7,861,653
1,435,156 944,206
(500) (4,460)
(322,029) (905,440)
11,370,082 7,166,520
279,288 834,477
287,026 (508,287)
(65,833) (114,124)
(2,015,755) (213,934)
(1,188,870) (903,649)
96,451 559,579
30,420 (6,759)
8,792,809 6,813,823
(4,903,762) (9,329,159)
500 4,460
(95,070,000)  (110,683,000)
69,148,000 121,817,877
322,029 905,440
(30,503,233) 2,715,618
(16,321,281)  (11,979,794)
20,283,672 22,354,145
(1,558,217) (922,909)
2,404,174 9,451,442
(19,306,250) 18,980,883
41,031,955 22,051,072
21,725,705 41,031,955
64,850,000 38,928,000
21,725,705 41,031,955
86,575,705 79,959,955
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Notes to the Financial Statements Eﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ%lﬂﬁﬁ
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 & ZEZ _ " HF=—H=+—HItFE

OBJECTIVES AND OPERATION OF THE COUNCIL

The Consumer Council (the "Council") is a body corporate
with perpetual succession established under the Consumer
Council Ordinance 1977 (Chapter 216, Laws of Hong Kong) for
the purpose of protecting and promoting the interests of
consumers of goods, immovable property and services. It is
mainly funded by Government subventions. The Council is
also appointed as trustee for the Consumer Legal Action Fund
under a Deed of Trust for the purpose of offering financial
assistance to consumers in seeking legal redress, remedies
and protection.

The address of the registered office and principal place of
operation of the Council is 22nd Floor, K. Wah Centre, 191
Java Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The Council is exempted from profits tax under the provision
of section 87 of the Inland Revenue Ordinance.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is also the functional currency of the Council.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Council has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2021 for the preparation of the
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions

Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform - Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Council's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these financial
statements.
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2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") - continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Council has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April

2021.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2022.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2023.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date

to be determined.

The Council members anticipate that the application of all
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?
Reference to the Conceptual

Framework?

Sales or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 20211

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)3

Disclosure of Accounting

Policies?

Disclosure of Accounting

Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment
- Proceeds before Intended

Use?

Onerous Contracts —

Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?
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Notes to the Financial Statements Mﬁ%ﬁilﬂﬁﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 &%

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA.

The financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on
the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods services.

Significant accounting policies

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Council recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when "control"
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Council's
performance as the Council performs;

. the Council's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Council performs; or

. the Council's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Council and
the Council has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time

when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

Government subventions

Government subventions for recurrent projects are
recognised when funds are appropriated by the
Government.

Government subventions for non-recurrent projects are
recognised as income over the periods necessary to
match with the related costs which the subventions are
intended to compensate on a systematic basis.

Capital contribution

Contribution of cash and capital assets by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the "HKSAR") are accounted for as capital
contribution and recognised in the appropriate funds
and reserves account.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2

Significant accounting policies - continued

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Assets in the course of development for production
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost
less any impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees capitalised in accordance with the Council's
accounting policy. Such assets are classified to the
appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended
use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets, less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in the income and expenditure
statement.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Council becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers ("HKFRS 15"). Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in income and expenditure
statement.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2

Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments - continued

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Council performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL") on financial assets which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9") (including account
receivables, advances to staffs, amount due from
Consumer Legal Action Fund and bank balances). The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2

Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued
Impairment of financial assets - continued

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based
on the Council's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The ECL on these assets are assessed collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Council measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Council recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Council
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Council considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument's external (if
available) or internal credit rating;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2

Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Impairment of financial assets - continued

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk - continued

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor's ability to meet its debt
obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Council presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Council has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Council regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Council considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Council, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Council).

Irrespective of the above, the Council considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 60 days past due unless the Council has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2

Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Impairment of financial assets - continued

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter  bankruptcy or  other financial
reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

(v

-

The Council writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when
the amounts are over one year past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the
Council's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in income and
expenditure statement.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and  probability-weighted amount that s
determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2

Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued
Impairment of financial assets - continued

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL - continued

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Council in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Council expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Council takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

e Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Council recognises an impairment gain or loss in income
and expenditure statement for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of
accounts receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity instrument

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Council are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
subscriptions received in advance and subventions received
in advance are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2

Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Derecognition

The Council derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in income and expenditure statement.

The Council derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Council's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
income and expenditure statement.

Impairment _on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Council reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Council estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Council assesses whether there is
indication that corporate assets may be impaired. If
such indication exists, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2

Significant accounting policies - continued

Impairment _on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets - continued

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Council
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
income and expenditure statement.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in income and expenditure
statement.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Council assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Council as a lessee
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Council applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land and building and equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2

Significant accounting policies - continued
Leases - continued

The Council as a lessee - continued
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Council; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Council in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Council is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Council presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Council
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Council uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies - continued

Leases - continued

Lease liabilities - continued

The Council as a lessee - continued

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Council
under residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Council
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Council exercising an option
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Council remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change in which cases the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial discount
rate.

The Council presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were
not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Significant accounting policies - continued
Leases - continued

The Council as a lessee - continued

Lease modifications - continued

The Council accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Council remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Council accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Council allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the Council,
transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on the settlement of monetary
items and on retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in income and expenditure statement in the
period in which they arise.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
plans are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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B HF=RA=t+—HIEFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. EXERERE
The Council is funded mainly by Government subventions. The ZESHREFTEREBFE - TESEH
Council members manage its funds to ensure that the Council EEE%E é@ PDIEREEDEERTES
will be able to continue as a going concern. The Council's overall B RO REEIREEFER o
strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
NON-RECURRENT PROJECTS SUBVENTIONS 5. FEA T METE B Bk
2022 2021
- e
HKS HKS
BIT BT
Revamp and develop the signature monthly DEM B R BRI
CHOICE magazine C2EEY BT 849,588 3,963,446
Renovation and refurbishment projects RIBS(ZEHEEHIEE 3,250,853 3,425,115
Time-limited posts BEREAT 4,759,031 3,089,325
Development and enhancement of HRMEBLEERAL
information systems and data security EE e 3,212,306 2,764,746
Auto-fuel market study B ABRTHISHEE 2,344,963 1,477,167
Redevelopment of council's official website SEEERLEB RS 1,771,614 854,680
Sustainable consumption behaviour study AR EB T AR 231,306 795,977
ECF Earth 2038's learning journey of BARERES 2038 Tk AZTE|
sustainable consumption Z A EEEHE IR - 330,418
Job creation scheme under EmEESIET
Anti-Epidemic Fund BERAIFT S 5,524,122 194,393
Accomplishing server virtualisation ﬁﬂfi%%ﬁéjﬁﬂj 6,444 170,551
Enhancing training programme nsgEsIE g 26,346 51,450
Upgrading of network infrastructure RS B RE - 10,511
Consumer protection studies 1RIEHE %%ﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁn 222,935 -
Reversal of subvention recognised - B O R —
Events Commemorating the 45th Anniversary ;‘ﬁ%%g;}ﬂz\‘_/m—kﬁ
of Consumer Council BEARSSEB - (36,000)
Other projects HiIEE 163,410 692,717
22,362,918 17,784,496
SALES OF CHOICE MAGAZINE 6. $HE (CREZEY BT

Income from sale of CHOICE magazine is recognised at a point
in time when the magazine is delivered to the customer, after
deduction of printing, artwork, postage and promotion cost
amounting to HK$174,672 (2021: HKS$500,260).

STAFF COSTS

Staff costs include an amount of HKS$6,349,750 (2021:
HKS$6,931,278) in respect of contributions to retirement
benefits scheme.

CREY ATIMESWAR 174,672 BT
(Z=F”—4 :500,260 BT ) » EHIKRED
l ~ AREIERET ~ BUENEEERRE 0 N
R TR 2 EEFE R o

BTHEA

BT ARIE 6,349,750 BT (—F _—E :
6,931,278 BT ) RURIKIBAIGT I -
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8. NON-RECURRENT PROJECTS EXPENSES

B HFZRAZT—HIEFE
8. IFMEEMREBExH

128

Revamp of and develop the signature monthly
CHOICE magazine

Renovation and refurbishment projects

Time-limited posts

Development and enhancement of
information systems and data security

Auto-fuel market study

Redevelopment of Council's official website

Sustainable consumption behaviour study

ECF Earth 2038's learning journey of
sustainable consumption

Job creation scheme under Anti-Epidemic Fund

Enhancing training programme

Reversal of expense - Events Commemorating
the 45th Anniversary of Consumer Council

Other projects

2022 2021
g BT
HK$ HKS
BEMBERARKMEN
CEEY AT 426,791 3,540,650
FIRFBEEEHIEE 115,750 497,903
B R IREBAL 4,753,298 3,089,325
RENEBLEERSK

HiELe 929,360 654,414
B ARSI 2,344,963 1,477,167
BEEREEE/ETE 1,771,614 854,680
AFEEEITRIF 231,306 795,977

BARBRES 2038 IR ASHE
ZAREEE IR - 330,418
P TEESIE N AEBAET S 5,498,808 194,393
hnsaEEsIIE B 26,346 51,450

BOREY — BEERERK
M+ ABAFL SRR - (36,000)
HipisH 223,045 529,417
16,321,281 11,979,794
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 9. W= BRI ERR
Leasehold
land and
buildings in Information Information
Hong Kong systems systems
under long- and Furniture upgrade in
term lease Leasehold Office computer and progress  Renovation in
NEBRPMAE  Improvement equipment equipment fixtures Motor EITHH progress
HIFRE L HEWHE HAZE ERES BRI vehicle — {EEFRM ETH Total
RigF £ B REMIE REE  HEBEH THR S &it
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
HBIT HBIT AT HBIT AT AIT AT HBIT HBIT
COST AR
At 1 April 2020 NI "ZF
mA—H 62,638,435 18,768,371 1,551,259 23,491,129 675,497 538,046 1,519,976 726,661 109,909,374
Additions NE 987,370 32,500 798,767 16,000 3,305,052 4,189,470 9,329,159
Transfer from (to) HEe (2)
renovation and ETRERE
upgrade in progress MARIE - 4,639,831 3,185,572 66,075 (3,196,822)  (4,694,656) -
Written-off fihss - - - (218,308) (7,299) - (225,607)
At 31 March 2021 i
=A=+—8 62,638,435 24,395,572 1,583,759 27,257,160 750,273 538,046 1,628,206 221,475 119,012,926
Additions RE - 246,832 135,546 698,225 83,976 3,288,121 451,062 4,903,762
Transfer from (to) =iRE ()
renovation and ETHRHEE
upgrade in progress MARZTLRE - 231,158 - 345,000 19,904 (345,000) (251,062) -
Written-off e - - (3,980) - (33,968) - (37,948)
At 31 March 2022 i S—e =
=A=+—H 62,638,435 24,873,562 1,715,325 28,300,385 820,185 538,046 4,571,327 421,475 123,878,740
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2020 RIB_ZHF
mAE—H 17,052,875 10,147,160 880,468 17,064,289 610,352 - 45,755,144
Charge for the year AEEZH 875,972 2,780,007 313,887 3,673,038 39,400 179,349 7,861,653
Eliminated on written-off H§$H A5 HE4Y - - (218,308) (7,299) (225,607)
At 31 March 2021 RIE——4F
=A=+—H 17,928,847 12,927,167 1,194,355 20,519,019 642,453 179,349 53,391,190
Charge for the year AEEZH 875,972 3,183,919 254,892 3,815,967 63,007 179,349 8,373,106
Eliminated on written-off #ifi$4 A SH - - (3,980) - (33,968) (37,948)
At 31 March 2022 i S—e =
=A=+—A8 18,804,819 16,111,086 1,445,267 24,334,986 671,492 358,698 61,726,348
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2022 i S
=A=+—H 43,833,616 8,762,476 270,058 3,965,399 148,693 179,348 4,571,327 421,475 62,152,392
At 31 March 2021 RIZT—F
=A=+—H 44,709,588 11,468,405 389,404 6,738,141 107,820 358,697 1,628,206 221,475 65,621,736

The above items of property, plant and equipment (other than
information system upgrade and renovation in progress) are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, at the following rates per

annum:

Leasehold land

Buildings

Leasehold improvement
Office equipment
Information systems and
computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicle

Over the remaining term of
the leases

Over the shorter of their
useful lives or the remaining
term of the lease of land

20%

33.33%

33.33%

33.33%
33.33%

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, no leasehold properties are
under mortgage to secure any borrowing of the Council. All the
leasehold properties are under second mortgage in favour of

the Government.

AR - Has s (K?LTTEPE’J{;.,_\%

SRR ) MU TERDEREE

e

HE i A FIEREAR

BF BHEHANFERERS T H#
FAEZ FIERER
(IRSEEEETE )

THEMHERE 20%

R NEN =1 33.33%

HSES M 33.33%

BHSRE

RRREE 33.33%

T EB) B 33.33%

F BT THERTET—HF=ZA=+—8 "

2AHE %%E?EETEF EREESENIE
{% FrEZSHEYEBLUBE AZ B AE
HEE A -

2
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10.

11.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Cost 5%

At 1 April 2020 R_B_SFmA—H
Additions NE

At 31 March 2021 N _—F=B=1+—H
Additions NE

At 31 March 2022

Depreciation
At 1 April 2020
Charged for the year

At 31 March 2021
Charged for the year

At 31 March 2022

Carrying values

R B_"H#=A=+—H

j:ﬁ-%

RB_FFIA—H

$¢V§ﬁ

N B —F=RA=+—H

REEH

R_B__H#=A=+—H

MR E{E

At 31 March 2022

At 31 March 2021

RF—

Total cash outflow for leases

*ngiﬁﬁ/)lh ﬁ /uL. ﬁ

For both years, the Council leases offices and office equipment
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of one to five years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Council applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Other financial assets included account receivables, advances
to staffs and amount due from Consumer Legal Action Fund.
The amounts are unsecured and interest-free. Except for the
advances to staffs which will be settled by three (2021: three)
monthly instalments, other amounts are repayable on demand.
The Council assessed the ECL of such balances in Note 21.

10.

\_B_—F=A=t—H
F=A=1—H

11.

EHEEE
HK$
BIT
1,234,863
3,123,927

4,358,790
650,460

5,009,250

705,547
944,206

1,649,753
1,435,156

3,084,909

1,924,341

2,709,037

2022 2021
B = —fF
HKS HK$

1,558,217 922,909

PREEE  ZESHERAERIFATR
BIEEE R - HEANFTEI 2 EEEH
B—ZERF - HEGRRTI L EREEETH
AR EEEZAREREEYE - REER
B RASEEAR BB - ZESEASHMN
EENMETE SR RS EMAVEAE -

HittemEE

Hitto @t & E B BUERS » mE TRHHY
B LUISOHE B R ESHIBY IR - ZF

IR AR LAFHA B - FriA & TIREtHY
B L= %(_7_ F %)EH

RSN  HAIBERIZBRAGRIE © &
EQFW&Hﬁ&%m%ME%VQEE
TY A ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements Mﬁ%ﬁilﬂﬁﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 &%

B HF=RA=t+—HIEFE

12. SUBVENTIONS TO BE CLAIMED 12. 1ERTURR

2022 2021
. — S
HKS HKS
TT HBIT
Job creation scheme under Anti-Epidemic Fund BEInEESIE N AEB A ETE 1,871,518 87,069

Sustainable consumption behaviour study B EHE T AR
(Note (i) (FfFax (—) ) 358,171 126,865
2,229,689 213,934

Note: s -

() The Sustainable Development Fund (the "SDF") has been (—) IEERRES ( "TBEREH
established to provide a source of financial support that will £, ) RN BEN SRR E -
help develop a strong public awareness of the principles of PIBh N AR o] HER R EBIRNR
sustainable development and to encourage sustainable B WHETESEBETAEERES
practices in Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 March 2022, BogE_ S _HF=-—A=+—H1F
the Council obtained a funding amount of HKS$nil (2021: 5. EERDAAEE He
HK$573,576) from the SDF, and an amount of HK$231,306 g% ,gcé‘@ %fg—(ﬁeﬁ %_%_E_EEEP
(2021: HKS$795,977) has been utilised and released to income 573, 5;6 \\%7—/) e 2;1_306 it
and expenditure. A temporary deficit of HK$358,171 (2021: (== /_7& 7§§ 977 3T ) é%
HK$126,865) was recorded as at 31 March 2022. The amount ~ ,\’ j__E;E_ -
will be fully reimbursed by SDF in accordance with the terms ﬁﬁ ‘“—H\”&i”“:‘ "?E g ———
and conditions of the Application Guidelines and Funding =A= \_f—_ H ﬁ_l{j‘ BB B B
Agreement upon project completion. ?’58_'171 7?‘75 P(H 3 _Ei t126 865

BL) o SHEIERS  TEDRE
SRR $%h%&§%%%%ﬁﬁ
Bty - 2BEBWZERE
13.  BANK BALANCES AND CASH 13.  SBITEHNERES
Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term deposits RITHS ﬁ?&ﬁ%@%}ﬁ@&}?ﬂaﬂﬁﬁ HAa=
with an original maturity of three months or less and time BRASXLUIANZEHE » LINKETEEH El,?&ﬁ
deposits of HK$64,850,000 (2021: HK$38,928,000) with an WB=E B~ EHATEER 64,850,000 ST ( —F
original maturity over three months. Bank balances and time T —4F : 38,928,000 FBIT) ° RITEHBETE
deposits carry interests at market rates which ranged from Hgﬁ E’]ﬂum%tﬁ 0.001%F 2.08%;
0.001% to 2.08% (2021: 0.001% to 2.35%) per annum. —4F : 0.001%% 2. 35;:_) BT I F
KitE
14.  ACCOUNT PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 14. ENRFAESTER

Account payables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
according to the respective credit terms. The Council has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

FEBRFAANRIEA - Nt HA S BAREK
BEEEGRFITUEE - RESRAEEDN
TREREEER - LIERENFIEEREE
HIRA R 28I Y -
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15.

16.

SUBVENTIONS RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

Subventions unexpended at the end of the reporting period:

Renovation & refurbishment projects

Time-limited posts

Revamp of and develop the signature monthly
CHOICE magazine

Development and enhancement of
information systems and data security

Promotion of new legislation

Redevelopment of Council's official website

Auto-fuel market study

Consumer protection studies

Environmental responsibility

Enhancing training programme

Event Commemorating the 45th Anniversary
of Consumer Council

Strengthening consumer protection

for Mainland visitors

Replacement of motor vehicle

Accomplishing server virtualisation

Mobile site for Online Price Watch

Enhancement of Council's Compliant Case
Management System

Other projects

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease liabilities payable:

Within one year

Within a period of more than one year but not
more than two years

Within a period of more than two years but not
exceeding five years

Less: Amount due for settlement within
12 months shown under current liabilities

Amount due for settlement after 12 months
shown under non-current liabilities

15, FAEMEER

BIREEEAFNIER

AR RE

BOEM B R AR
CGEE) AT

FRRMEILEERRK
BELE

R HEE

HESRLEBBRETE

BB BRI ST

REHE BRBTT

RIS

nsasEFIER

HEBEEZREERIINThBEF
FOEED

MEB A EAVHEE
B fRE

BB

R ARARE L

FHehR TR LEE R

HESRFEREERS
BALatEl

HiIE g

MENBIR
SERBaE

16. HE&AE

FEAHESE
—FR
—F L EBRBBRE

MELU L EREBOF

BB 12 B R REIH - XER
TREMEENRBEE

R 12 ERREIH - WERR
EAEERERBRE

BEAREHRERGARES 2R

2022 2021

. — S —fF
HKS HKS

BIT BT
10,479,439 13,730,292
10,364,054 12,090,021
7,342,342 7,516,930
6,039,952 7,227,258
5,200,000 5,200,000
6,721,706 4,874,320
2,969,391 2,951,111
1,014,138 1,014,248
685,174 685,174
557,759 584,104
551,464 551,464
484,043 484,043
163,400 326,700

- 6,444

1,500,000 -
1,090,000 -
214,755 214,755
55,377,617 57,456,864
45,067,305 41,413,800
10,310,312 16,043,064
55,377,617 57,456,864
2022 2021
B8 S5
HKS HKS

BT BT
1,384,320 1,092,793
599,343 1,076,018

- 572,743

1,983,663 2,741,554
(1,384,320) (1,092,793)
599,343 1,648,761
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17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

LEASEHOLD PROPERTY CONTROL ACCOUNT

The amount arises from capital contribution by the government
for the acquisition of leasehold properties and appropriation
from general fund for subsequent purchase of capital assets
reduced by depreciation of the related assets.

EQUIPMENT CONTROL ACCOUNT

The amount was appropriated from general fund in previous
years for the acquisition of office equipment, computer
equipment and furniture and fixtures and is reduced by
depreciation of the related assets.

DESIGNATED FUND FOR APPROVED PROJECTS

The amount represents funds for current projects appropriated
from general fund for the below designated activities not yet
incurred by the end of the reporting period:

17.

18.

19.

HEMFRHRE
ZHR AR BN AR BEHS YR BUTRE

EAXARBRBEBEEAEENN—RESHIEE
B BEEBEEENRE

RFERHARIR
ZHRRARF—RESTEL - HRBER

AEZME  BIRE  BAREE - WA
R ETE -

BOERE  IEEEE

R ERER - RAERBERUTIEEE
BN RESBNMABHANES

Online CHOICE operation reserve
Office equipment and maintenance
Testing and research

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure in respect of renovation
and acquisition of plant and equipment
contracted for but not provided in the
financial statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets
Amortised cost

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost

2022 2021
S =B 5
HKS HKS
BT BT
HWE CGEEY BTEERE 2,637,344 2,637,344
NS SE 384,377 249,026
SRIF A 3T 2,966,177 1,159,600
5,987,898 4,045,970
20, EAXREE
2022 2021
5 s
HKS HKS
BT BT
BERBLEEUBARED
AT BRI BRI LBE
LEARRAZ
9,942,441 10,923,691
2. S£@THA
. T EHER
2022 2021
5T F B
HKS HKS
BT BT
SHRIEE
HIHEA 88,036,368 81,528,683
SRaE
EERA 4,877,817 6,091,614
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21.

—E_F=A=T—ALEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 21. ﬁﬁﬂl,\ — %‘E
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies Z. SRiREEERENMIKEK

The Council's major financial instruments include account
receivables, advances to staffs, amount due from Consumer
Legal Action Fund, bank balances and cash and account
payables. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The Council
members manage and monitor these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Council's maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Council due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties arises from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Council reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual receivable items at
the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
addition, the Council performs impairment assessment
under ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 on receivable
balances based on provision matrix. In this regard, the
Council members consider that the Council's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

For the advances to staffs and amount due from Consumer
Legal Action Fund, the ECL is insignificant as the Council had
not encountered any difficulties in collecting from the
debtors in the past and is not aware of any financial
difficulties being experienced by these debtors.

The credit risk on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

Market risk
Foreign currency risk management

Certain transactions of the Council are denominated in
currencies set out below which are different from the
functional currency of the Council, i.e. Hong Kong dollars,
and therefore the Council is exposed to foreign currency

ZEENET RS T B OEBUER -
mE TRHNTAS  HEEFNEESH
FEWRIR ~ SRITHE SR MR RIEA IR
;e ZFEM T A BERERNE
$%uﬁ%°ﬁ§%$@1§ﬁ%%@
B K a0 4% AR 2 5 B RR Y R B T
K x%gééﬁﬁiﬁgh ERE -

AR (R KB MBS SR BB E 8 I

[EE /R A B E T

RO R _—F=_F=1—
B ZE@NEANEERR (HRET
REBEEHEHHEZEQERMBEE
K ) RERBMBIOREZZFMNEECHE
REHMEENRMEE -

RYZBEREEERRE  ZTEEN®RE
EEEH HEIBEWIEEN O WS -

DIRE R B A U HISRE/E H B S9H9
EEE - I EESHEER (B8
R 2EQl) 5 9 ?ﬁfﬁfﬁﬁfﬁ%@%ggﬁ
B THEE B FE U A5 88 B8 B E T RERT
i o BLUETE - KE\KE%\F&KE

NEERBRAKRREE -

AR EE B EAEEAMIRKRRE
HEMRE - BIWEEIEZFEHA
HIBEEMMBEREE - At - @& TRA
HTE S FOB B & SRR E B I IRRY
BREEEERR -

R T3 R R K”F SRR EER TR
RIEEFTARAVIRIT - RILSRITHERANE
ERBRBR

A

SN R B
ZEENRELERZELUTIESE -
HRZEEBLIFRE ML —

B - FrAZE R QmMANIMNERRE - 172
%Fi HseiEl - RESLUMNETHENES

risk. The carrying amounts of the Council's foreign currency MEERaETERENT
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE af
2022 2021 2022 2021
= 5 2 F B —F
HKS HKS HKS HKS
HBIT HBIT HBIT HBIT
AUD BRIT 1,102 1,110 - -
- 28,219 55,570

EURO BT i

As HKD is pegged to USD, the management is of the opinion
that the foreign exchange risk from USD of the Company is
insignificant.

BB THN - EEERAEE
SHISTTIMNE B jfTEﬁv
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b. Financial

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

risk management objectives and policies -
continued

Market risk - continued
Foreign currency risk management - continued

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Council's income and expenditure statement in response to
reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates
to which the Council may have exposure at the end of the
reporting period.

2. S@TE—#&

&

TREREERBRNBOR — &

TR — &

SMEERETE — &

TREATZESEREIERE - A5
WIEXNSEAREET - MELK
SEERESER -

2022 2021
S 5
Increase Effect on Increase Effect on
(decrease) income (decrease) income
in foreign  (expenditure) in foreign  (expenditure)
exchange rates KA exchange rates A
SN R (X)) Gt R 2R (ZH)
£ (TR&) ZEE EF (FR) LEE
HKS HKS
BT BIT
AUD JRIT 10% 110 10% 111
(10%) (110) (10%) (111)
EURO &R T 10% (2,822) 10% (5,557)
(10%) 2,822 (10%) 5,557

In the opinion of the Council members, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Council has insignificant interest rate risk as it does not
have any interest-bearing financial assets or financial
liabilities other than cash placed with financial institutions.

Liquidity risk

The Council is dependent on the government subventions.
The Council members consider that the Council is exposed
to minimal liquidity risk as the Government would provide
subvention for the Council based on budgets prepared by
the Council annually. The Council members also closely
monitor the Council's cash flow position.

Bank balances comprise of short-term deposits with an
original maturity of three months or less and time deposits
with an original maturity over three months.

ZESRERR - ANFEERKHTH
W2 BRI A R R A YR BR AR -
BRI R BER R INEZ BB B

B o
FIE R

HRRT FRESREBNIRS I
ZESUWEA AN S SHEENTHE
& AZEEWME RN EER o

e

ZEGELRIREBUTE - BRBUT
SREZESBFRHINATEN
It - ZE S ZERAHEZEGATHRAIN
HECARERERKE - REGZRET
BYEZEHBSRENRT

RITRMBEREREZHBEA=EHIL
RNEER - UEREZHEEBE=
18 Bz EMER
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 By E _ S _ " F=A=+—HIFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued 21. SEMTH—&
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies - . pEREEEENBER —&
continued
Liguidity risk - continued B EfE — &
Liquidity and interest rate table TENERFIE T
The following tables detail the Council's remaining THREFMAIIE Y EESIETTESR
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial BENFGSLHIRE - ZERKRIIIBE
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the EEESR R ERNHNEERR 2
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the SRBERERSRERES -
earliest date on which the Council can be required to pay.
Weighted
average Total
effective 6 months 6-12 1-5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate or less Months Years cash flows amounts
hnES ~MEA NE - KRELIRIRS BRE
BEFIE AT +Z@A hE MEHREE 258
% HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT ABIT BIT BIT
2022 —E__F
Account payables  FE{TERZR - 4,877,817 - - 4,877,817 4,877,817
Subtotal INET 4,877,817 - - 4,877,817 4,877,817
Lease liabilities HEas 5.74 718,871 737,214 606,855 2,062,940 1,983,663
Total =5 5,596,688 737,214 606,855 6,940,757 6,861,480
Weighted
average Total
effective 6 months 6-12 1-5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate or less Months Years cash flows amounts
HNHEFS ~MEA RNE —% RAGIRIRS BRE
GRS AT +—@A L MEBHEE 28
% HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS$
BT BT BT BT BIT
2021 —E—F
Account payables  FE{JBRZR - 6,091,614 - - 6,091,614 6,091,614
Subtotal INEt 6,091,614 - - 6,091,614 6,091,614
Lease liabilities HEaE 5.93 610,266 610,266 1,720,025 2,940,557 2,741,554
Total &5 6,701,880 610,266 1,720,025 9,032,171 8,833,168
Fair value measurements of financial instruments N RMIECAFE=E
The Council members consider that the carrying values of FERFERE  EVEREXDEZN

136

financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the
financial statements approximate their fair values.

CRIEEN
BERE -

TRIREREELEAT
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22,

23.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING 22.
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Council's liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Council's statement of cash flows from financing activities.

At 1 April 2020 ‘Q_V_EEEEH H
Financing cash flows RERSRE

Interest expense FIEZH

New lease entered R HAAAY

Subventions utilisation on W~ AR NRIE
property, plant and equipment BE R

At 31 March 2021 WIZE_—F=A=+—H
Financing cash flows BHERSARE

Interest expense FEZH

New lease entered R Z TR

Subventions utilisation on WEE MR N2
property, plant and equipment BB A

At 31 March 2022

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

RIZE_"HF=A=+—H

The Council charged a fee of HK$864,487 (2021: HK$1,151,513)
for administrative service and office support (comprising salary
costs and attributable overhead) provided to the Consumer
Legal Action Fund (the "Funds") during the year. The charge is
in accordance with the provision of the Trust Deed governing
the Funds and approved by both the Council and the Board of
Administrators of the Funds.

23.

B HF=RA=t+—HIEFE

AETBMELSECHIR

TRAZECHRERBMELET CEE
15 BRERELIFRSEE - BEEBAT
ELEEENRBESRENAKRRESRENE
EEREMNEXRDARREMETIELN

BenEcalE -

Subventions

Lease received in
liabilities advance Total
HE&E TAUEER &t
HKS HKS HKS
BIT BIT BT
(Note 16) (Note 15)
(Mgt 16) (M9t 15)
540,022 52,887,215 53,427,237
(922,909) 10,374,351 9,451,442
100,514 - 100,514
3,023,927 - 3,023,927
- (5,804,702) (5,804,702)
2,741,554 57,456,864 60,198,418
(1,558,217) 3,962,391 2,404,174
149,866 - 149,866
650,460 - 650,460
- (6,041,638) (6,041,638)
1,983,663 55,377,617 57,361,280
BB A RS

FEENERNIE 864,487 BT (—F——
£F 11,151,513 BIT)  (ERAFEEREES
FaEe ( TEE, ) ZHEERBMHRA
E2XE (BREFSIEREERE ) WE
B ZWBTEERESZEARBETNGE
FRE  AREZESEEEERAESHT
ZESH -
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PRODUCT TESTING, MARKET SURVEY AND STUDY REPORTS
Emalig miZHERMAHRE

1. ELECTRICAL & ELECTRONIC GOODS ERMEFEmMm

o Bluetooth Speakers B 152228

o Electric Grills EEEEE

e Espresso Machines &R NHE#

e Inverter Split-type Reverse Cycle Air Conditioners 88,5 B 20 A1
e Life of Lithium Batteries 42853t

e Low-Carb Rice Cookers jBiEE =R R

e Refrigerators &

e Smart Watches and Bands &8 F SR AT B
e Smartphones £ BEF

e Soundbars BAHIBEE

o Tablet PCs R

e USB Fast Charger USB [R&E 7 &E 28

e Wireless Headphones &5 E 2

2. PHOTOGRAPHIC EQUIPMENT & MOBILE APPS iZ&2ast i iienfE fEt

e Cameras ##

e Document Scanning Apps XA iIEERRER
e Instant Messaging Apps ENRS@:NEARER
e Webcams {Bf& B %

3. FOOD & HEALTH FOOD PRODUCTS B¥1MRERE M

e Biscuits 85

e Canned Dog Food J##5a

e Canned Cat Food $H##E5E

e Cereal-based Food for Infants and Children 824153 888
e Cheese 2=+

e Coffee Products PIBEE SR

e Dried Fruit 7K R#

e Ham and Turkey Slices ‘N BRFNA Z &

e Meatballs AR

e Milk and Milk Beverage Products 4= &4 18k &
e Peanuts and Nuts {EAERIERR

e Rice Noodles KEER

e Self-heating Food Packs BZ4EY)

bl

- = =4 - - 4 A4 A4 A4 A4 A A4 = A4 o4 - -

- A4 A A4 A4 A A4 A A A - A -

T:Test 58058 /S : Survey T35 82 /1 : Research Report BT 5o &
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4. HEALTH, BEAUTY & PERSONAL CARE PRODUCTS 1#f&. =R REAEEA R

e Antibiotics 14 &

e Antiperspirants 13Tl

e Body Lotions for Babies and Toddlers 824152 &5 828 E#,
e Genetic Tests Z AR

e Make-up Removers EIHR

e Nasal Sprays [E &7

e Oral Health of Elderly People EEF5RIE

e Products for Earwax Removal /52 TR

e Tianjiu Treatment KA L

e Urinary Tract Infection % FR3E R 2

5. HOUSEHOLD PRODUCTS ZEZFHm

e Bathroom Cleaners and Toilet Cleaners A= 5521 & BIFT & 2 E

e Cast Iron Cooking Pots $=42$f

e Foldable Silicone Food Containers and Cups Al &SRB EY & MIF
e Household Dehumidifying Agents X FBIK 22

e Household Paints /&M%

o Slippers X/EHpiE:

6. AUTOMOBILE & CYCLING PRODUCTS SE Rz E B Hm

e Child Car Seats 533 )5 B [E#F
e Helmets for Cyclists B8 E5E X

7. CLOTHING, FOOTWEAR & ACCESSORIES X4/, & kg R Eitt

e Functional Jackets ThEEsME
e Hiking Backpacks 1712
e Hiking Boots I f&{TILEE

8. TOYS it&

e Crayons and Fingerpaints i858 FF 12280
e Stress-relieving Toys 7Bt A

9. SUSTAINABLE CONSUMPTION AJ33H&E;LZs

e Recyclability of Products & @I AT [EIHE

T:Test 5058 /S : Survey 13582 /1 : Research Report FF 5o &

eShall

|
T
T
|
T
S
|
|
|
|

- — A4 4 4 wn
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SURVEYS AND SERVICE STUDY REPORTS
R ERRFRT RS

Market Surveys/Opinion Surveys/Price Surveys HIZFE/ZRFAE/BRAET
e 5G Mobile Service Plans 5G B EiEst 2

o Annual Supermarket Price Survey FEEBHERKRAS
e Consolidated Shipping Services 5£%& 7%

e Credit Card Loan Services {5l FERIE

o Cryolipolysis Body-slimming Services 28 /ANE &R
e Home Mortgage Loans $R1Ti%i8

e |ELTS Preparation Courses |ELTST:E:RE

e Infant Milk Powder Price Surveys S24153 g #)saaE*

o Local Domestic Helpers ZXF5BNIE

e Online Price Watch #f B —Ei@**

e Overseas Moving Services JS4MRERE

 Pet Relocation Services EEERIRE

o Postnatal Care Services [%H &2 BARFS

 Private Columbarium Services FAE B IR EEARFS

o Self-serve Baking Studios B BhEEEARTE

e Speech Therapy Services =B/ AR

o Staycation Packages EEBER

o Textbook Expenditure Survey HRIZHEEE[E

o Textbook Price Survey #HRIZEEBIRFAE

e User Opinion Survey on Skincare Products EERERERAT

e Virtual Bank Services FE#FR{TARIE

In-depth Studies ;FEARFZE
e Bankruptcy / Divorce “Consultancies” RS & / B 1S TS #5FT

e Elderly Dental Problems £EFEERHE

*  Published on Shopsmart Website TIZ 7 TSI EE T @G
** published on Council Website FIJZ& A2 L
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A LIST OF TRADE PRACTICES IN-DEPTH STUDIES AND
CONSULTATION PAPERS RESPONDED TO BY THE COUNCIL

EEFAEATE R BN EE

In-depth Studies on Trade Practices

EEFERAMRE

e Embracing Sustainable Consumption for a Happy Life —
A Tracking Study on Consumer Behaviour

(RIFIEHE ATRIZE — HBITRBHERTT)
(17 June 2021)

e Purchase of Properties Outside Hong Kong —
A Study on Enhancing Consumer Protection
NRONE R IREE ) RTT RS
(28 October 2021)

Response to Consultation from the
Government and Other Public Bodies

sa s X {FEIFE

e Environmental Protection Department — Public

Consultation on Producer Responsibility Scheme on Plastic
Beverage Containers (PPRS)

RIBREE - "EBRHAREEERAFEL ARESH
(21 May 2021)

e Electrical and Mechanical Services Department — Public
Consultation on the Fourth Phase of the Mandatory
Energy Efficiency Labelling Scheme (MEELS)

WETRRE - AHIME RIS BB IR s AREEH
(26 May 2021)

e The Hong Kong Association of Banks — Consultation Paper
on Review of Code of Banking Practice*
BEBRITAE - BAEE (RITEETA) O+
(27 August 2021)

e Property Management Services Authority — Consultation
on Draft Code and Draft Best Practices Guide Provision
of Prescribed Information and Financial Documents to
Clients*

MEEBEEER - LAEBEYEEBATARNRFREMHEST
BRE LA B ST+
(31 August 2021)

e Transport Department — Consultation on the Franchises of
Citybus Limited (Franchise for Airport and North Lantau
Bus Network), Long Win Bus Company Limited and New
World First Bus Services Limited
EWE - FABRMEARAR (5 ML KB LE 184
L) RREELARATRMMERE-ELRBERA
AINEERE
(7 September 2021)

*  Private Consultation JE/ARIEAH

Environmental Protection Department —

Consultation on the Scheme on Regulation of
Disposable Plastic Tableware

RIBREE - LAEHASHENZEBEENE
(16 September 2021)

Competition Commission — Initial Consultation
Regarding Review of the Competition (Block
Exemption For Vessel Sharing Agreements) Order
2017

GEBEEEES - BNEE 2017F5FER (M
HAwmRERRE) o N ER

(8 November 2021)

Commerce and Economic Development Bureau

— Public Consultation on the Safety Standards

for Toys and Children's Products (Updates to
Standards Specified for Toys and Products Listed
in the Schedule 2 under the Toys and Children's
Products Safety Ordinance)

BBEMAERER - AIBE K REERLRIREN
NREH (B (AR T EERT 2RO Mk
FT#k3I A 52 2 B M P AT VT L 2R 2E)

(28 December 2021)

Council for Sustainable Development — Public
Engagement on Control of Single-use Plastics
ARERREZES - "EHIEEER, ARSEUF
(29 December 2021)

Property Management Services Authority —
Consultation on Draft Code and Draft Best Practice
Guide on “Carrying out Procurement for Clients
and Prevention of Bid-rigging”*

MEXBBXEEER - AABEBEYEXEBEARRER
EITER IR KB L B

(26 January 2022)

Department of Justice — Consultation Paper on
the Mainland Judgments in Civil and Commercial
Matters (Reciprocal Enforcement) Bill and the
Mainland Judgments in Civil and Commercial
Matters (Reciprocal Enforcement) Rules

ZIEAE - 3 (R REE IR (B EREIRAT) BREI
BE) LR REEFIA (BT REEIT) 50D
BANHRERE

(15 February 2022)

Hong Kong Monetary Authority — Discussion
Paper on Crypto-assets and Stablecoins
ERTRERR - BRNEEENREEN
BEB <

(31 March 2022)
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EXTERNAL COMMITTEES ATTENDED BY COUNCIL
MEMBERS AND STAFF

AEZERMEZHNINTEES

e Agriculture, Fisheries and Conservation Department — Veterinary Surgeons Board of Hong Kong

BEBRERE - EERETER

e Centre for Food Safety — Expert Committee on Food Safety
BPL2HNL - BRYPLE2EREER

e CLP Power — Customer Consultative Group

FREBHERAR - FFHAMA/NE

e Department of Health — Pharmacy and Poisons (Listed Sellers of Poisons) Committee
BEE -ERENSE JHSEEERN) ZES

e Department of Justice — Costs Committee

RIA -SHERED

e Department of Justice — Working Group on Class Actions

RBE] - SR TIE/VE

e Electrical and Mechanical Services Department — Appeal Board Panel (Electricity Ordinance Cap. 406)

WEBIIRE - LHEREE (BHRAIENATARE)

e Electrical and Mechanical Services Department — Appeal Board Panel (Energy Efficiency (Labelling of Products)
Ordinance Cap. 598)
WETRRE - FHFZEE (RN s (ERRE) RAIEZLBNTN\E)

e Electrical and Mechanical Services Department — Disciplinary Tribunal Panel (Electricity Ordinance Cap. 406)

WEBIIRE - KEBEREES (BENRIENAETAE)

e Electrical and Mechanical Services Department — Electrical Safety Advisory Committee

WETEE -BREEHEARES

e Electrical and Mechanical Services Department — Lift and Escalator Safety Advisory Committee

WETRE - TR AESREREEARES

e Electrical and Mechanical Services Department — Appeal Board Panel of Mandatory Energy Efficiency Labelling

Scheme (Energy Efficiency (Labelling of Products) Ordinance Cap. 598)
BI1RE - BHIMERIRRETE LFEER (BRYG (ERER) GRAELBENT/N\E)

e Electrical and Mechanical Services Department — Working Group on Revision of "Guidance Notes for the Electrical

Products (Safety) Regulation"
WEIEE - B (BRER (B2) REFERE) TR

o Employees Retraining Board — Industry Consultative Networks in Real Estate Agency

REFEIIE - HERERTRE DG

e Employees Retraining Board — Industry Consultative Networks in Retail

REBIEIIR - FEXTEAERME

e Estate Agents Authority — Licensing Committee

WEREBEER - BRE
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Estate Agents Authority — Practice and Examination Committee

HWEREEER - XA EAE

Estate Agents Authority — Strategic Development & Management Committee

WEREBEER - KRBERNEERES

Estate Agents Authority
WEREEER

Food and Health Bureau — Appeal Panel on Disciplinary Actions for the Voluntary Health Insurance Scheme (VHIS)

RUEFLR - BRERECRED LREES

Food and Health Bureau — Committee on Complaints Against Private Healthcare Facilities (Private Healthcare Facilities

Ordinance Cap. 633)
BYNRELER -LEBERBRFEES (REBERBEASE8=1T=%)

Food and Health Bureau — Committee on Improving Supply Chain of Powdered Formula

AYREER - RS RREEE

Food and Health Bureau — High Level Steering Committee on Antimicrobial Resistance

BUEFLER -NERMELREESRES

Food and Health Bureau — Steering Committee on Prevention and Control of Non-communicable Diseases

RYNEER -EFERMRESERES

Food and Health Bureau — Working Group on Legal, Privacy & Security Issues of the Steering Committee on Electronic

Health Record Sharing
BYNEER - EFRBICREPEERES - 28 DEIMREHELE/NE

Hong Kong Accreditation Service — Users of HKAS Accredited Services Liaison Group

EEB AR — 3B A RIS PR A&/ R

Hong Kong Accreditation Service — Working Party on Accreditation of Product Certification Bodies

BBBAEE — EmEEEE A TIE/E

Hong Kong Accreditation Service — Working Party on Physical and Mechanical Testing
BB AIE — W3 S moR TR/

Hong Kong Internet Registration Corporation Limited — Consultative and Advisory Panel

EROBPEMEEBRAR -EHRES

Hong Kong Monetary Authority — Deposit-taking Companies Advisory Committee
BETHERR - BEXTHATEAERES

Hong Kong Q-Mark Council — Q-Mark Council Committee
ERRESRSR-&EQE, BRESSREES

Hong Kong Q-Mark Council — Safeguard Committee
BEBRERNE - AVIES

Innovation and Technology Bureau — Hong Kong Council for Testing and Certification

R AR R - BB RBINRER
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e Insurance Claims Complaints Bureau — Insurance Claims Complaints Panel

REBRRELFR - RERRERFEZED

e Investor and Financial Education Council — Financial Education Coordination Committee
REBENEVHBEEZEES - BV HERERZES

e Land Registry — Land Titles Ordinance Steering Committee

THEEMR - THRERSIBERES

e Law Reform Commission — Sub-Committee on Cybercrime
FEREEEE - SRRBETIEEZEES

e Law Reform Commission — Sub-committee on Periodical Payments for Future Pecuniary Loss in Personal Injury Cases

FRINEERES - ABBEERPERUAIRREEBABEINMNEZED

e Office of the Communications Authority — Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards Advisory Committee
ENEBEEERNAT - BIREEEAEIIREEAEZES

e Office of the Communications Authority — Telecommunications Regulatory Affairs Advisory Committee

BRAEBEERMAR - BRESBELARES

e Office of the Communications Authority — Telecommunications Users and Consumers Advisory Committee

BANEBEERRAT - BMBRBAFPAEEESHARES

e Official Receiver's Office — Services Advisory Committee

WEEHRE - REEARES

e Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data, Hong Kong — Personal Data (Privacy) Advisory Committee

EREEABHLRBEENE - BAER (RR) HFREES

e Securities and Futures Commission — Products Advisory Committee

EELMEEBERZEE - EmdARE S

e The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited — Board of Directors
BERRBESERAR -EER/UE

e Tourism Commission — Advisory Committee on Travel Agents
IRBEHE - RITREBEEAARES

e Tourism Commission — Travel Industry Compensation Fund Management Board
IRBEEBE - REXEEESERESS

e Transport Department — Committee on Taxi Service Quality

BYE -NWIRBFERZED

e Vocational Training Council — Beauty Care & Hairdressing Training Board
BRI - 2R EEXIREES

e \Vocational Training Council — Retail Trade Training Board

BEsE - REXIIREES

e Water Supplies Department — Task Force on Voluntary Water Efficiency Labelling Scheme

KHEE - AR S REA B TE)
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ANNUAL REPORT OF THE CONSUMER LEGAL

ACTION FUND 2021-22
HBERDESFH 2021-22

The Consumer Council is the Trustee of the Consumer Legal Action Fund (“the Fund”)
through a Declaration of Trust executed on 30 November 1994.

HEEREGRHBEERLES (LITHEHRTES)) NEFA BEER 1994 F 11 7

30 AIRIR(EFERIRIL

Purpose

The Fund was established with an initial Government grant of HK$10
million. Subsequently two extra grants each in the amount of $10 million
were received in May 2010 and May 2018 respectively. The Fund aims
to facilitate easier consumer access to legal remedies by providing legal
assistance to consumers, particularly for cases involving significant
public interest and injustice. Through granting assistance to eligible
cases, the Fund also aims to deter business malpractices and enhance
public awareness of consumer rights.

Administration

The Council, as the Trustee, is responsible, through a Board of
Administrators, for the overall administration and investment of the Fund.
The Board of Administrators is in turn, underpinned by a Management
Committee. The latter, whose members were appointed by the Commerce
and Economic Development Bureau, is responsible for advising on the
eligibility and merits of applications seeking assistance from the Fund™.

Operation

It is the function of the Council to help consumers resolve their
complaints with the traders concerned by means of conciliation. The
Council may, if it considers appropriate or if the complainants so request,
refer cases of complaints to the Fund for consideration. Consumers may
also apply to the Fund directly for assistance.

Generally, in processing an application for assistance, the Fund will
consider whether all other means of dispute resolution have been
exhausted and will assess the case against established eligibility criteria.
Such criteria include whether the case involves significant consumer
interest; whether a large group of consumers have been or will
potentially be adversely affected; whether the case has a reasonable
chance of success; whether assistance to the matter concerned can
promote the consumer cause and produce deterrent effects on
unscrupulous business practices; and whether it is practicable for the
Fund to offer timely assistance.

1 See Annex A for the Membership of the Board of Administrators and Management Committee. #17%&

=[:p)
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Deliberation

During the year under review, the Management Committee held 4
meetings and resolved matters by circulation on 28 occasions, while the
Board of Administrators resolved matters by circulation on 8 occasions.

Altogether, the Fund considered 36 applications across different
categories during the year under review.

After thorough consideration, the Fund declined 32 applications relating
to complaints involving motor vehicle, automobile repair services,
learning kit, wedding package, beauty services, cleaning machine,
property management, dental services, immigration consultancy
services and purchase of local and non-local properties respectively.

During the reporting period, the Fund granted assistance to 4
applications relating to time-sharing scheme, beauty services and
immigration consultancy services.

Newly Assisted Cases

1. Time-sharing Scheme - Aggressive Commercial
Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer was pressurised into
executing a vacation club membership agreement by aggressive
sales tactics adopted by the trader including prolonged and persisted
sales pitching.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient legal merits
and significant consumer interest. During the reporting period, the
Fund instructed solicitors to bring legal proceedings against the
trader.

2. Beauty Services - Personal Injuries Claim

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer suffered personal
injuries as a result of facial treatment provided by the trader.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient legal merits
and significant consumer interest. During the reporting period,
the Fund was in the process of instructing solicitors to act for the
assisted consumer with a view to commencing legal action against
the trader.

3. Beauty Services - Personal Injuries Claim

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer sustained personal
injuries as a result of facial treatment performed by a doctor at a
medical beauty centre.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient legal merits
and significant consumer interest. Upon due execution of the
Agreement with the assisted consumer, the Fund will instruct
solicitors to commence proceedings against the medical centre and
the doctor.

P HES
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4. Immigration Consultancy Services - Breach of Duties

Evidence indicated that an immigration consultancy services
company had breached its contractual and common law duties of
care towards the assisted consumers, rendering them unable to
proceed with their immigration process.

The Fund considered that the case involved sufficient legal merits
and significant consumer interest, given the substantial sums
involved and the desirability to establish case precedent on the
scope of duties of immigration consultants in Hong Kong. Upon due
execution of the Agreement with the assisted consumer, the Fund
will instruct solicitors to act for the assisted consumer and prepare
for the intended proceedings against the trader.

Cases Carried Over From Previous Year

The Fund continued to work on the following cases brought forward
from the previous year:

1. Columbarium - Refusal to Allow Interment of Ashes

The assisted consumer’s mother purchased a niche from a private
columbarium in 1996. In 2017, the assisted consumer wanted to
inter her mother’s ashes into the niche after she passed away.
However, the columbarium refused to do so on the ground that the
deceased’s name printed on the receipt issued by the columbarium
was different from the name on her death certificate and Hong Kong
Identity Card.

During the reporting period, the columbarium’s application for
licence under the Private Columbaria Ordinance (PCO) was under
review by the Private Columbaria Licensing Board. Meanwhile, the
ashes were interred at another columbarium and assisted consumer
wished to wait for the grant of licence to the columbarium. In the
circumstances, the Fund continued to monitor the progress of the
columbarium’s application under the PCO.

2. Fitness Services - Aggressive Commercial Practices

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer, being a person
suffering from autism, entered into two membership agreements
and one personal trainer’s agreement as a result of the unfair trade
practices and unconscionable conduct of the fitness centre.

During the reporting period, the High Court ordered the fitness
centre to be wound up with costs to the assisted consumer. Joint
and Several Provisional Liquidators were appointed by the Official
Receiver. The liquidation process is underway.
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3. Financial Services - Breach of Duty and Contract

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer sustained loss in
investing in London Gold as a result of the breach of duty and
contractual obligation by the trader. In view of the circumstances of
the case, the Fund considered that there were sufficient merits and
significant consumer interest for assistance to be granted for legal
action to be taken against the trader.

During the reporting period, legal proceedings were commenced
against the trader and its agent in the District Court. In default of
defence, judgment was entered in favour of the assisted consumer
against the trader and its agent with costs. The scope of assistance to
the assisted consumer was extended to cover enforcement actions
which are underway.

. Residential Renovation Works - Unscrupulous Trade

Practices and Contract

The assisted consumer had contractual dispute with the trader
concerning residential renovation works at his property. After
measuring the flat, the trader substantially inflated the quotation
price for the furniture as well as renovation works and thus the
assisted consumer decided not to proceed with the renovation
works. However, the trader alleged that an agreement had already
been made and sued the assisted consumer in the District Court for
the price of the works as stated in the quotations provided after the
measurement had taken place.

During the reporting period, a settlement agreement was made
between the assisted consumer and the trader. The action in the
District Court was discontinued.

. Purchase of Residential Property - Breach of Duty and

Contract

Evidence indicated that the assisted consumer was induced to
purchase a unit adjoining the flat roof in reliance of an improper
floor plan and misrepresentations given by the estate agent.

During the reporting period, legal proceedings against the estate
agency and the estate agent in the District Court were in progress.

. Fitness Services - Unfair Trade Practices and

Unconscionable Conduct

The Fund granted assistance to the assisted consumer who, as
evidence indicated, had entered into a membership agreement and
2 personal training agreements as a result of unfair trade practices
and unconscionable conduct of the fitness centre.

During the reporting period, the Fund instructed solicitors to act for
the assisted consumer. Legal proceedings were commenced against
the trader which failed to file any notice of intention to defend and
defence. Default judgment would be applied for against the trader.
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7.

Residential Renovation Works - Unscrupulous Trade
Practices and Breach of Contract (Case 1)

The assisted consumer suffered considerable loss as a result of the
trader’s failure to complete a residential renovation project due to
its financial difficulties notwithstanding accepting payments from
the assisted consumer. Evidence indicates that the trader and the
director involved might have known that its business was in serious
difficulties but continued to accept payments.

However, before the commencement of the assistance, the assisted
consumer withdrew the application due to personal reasons.

Residential Renovation Works - Unscrupulous Trade
Practices and Breach of Contract (Case 2)

The assisted consumer suffered considerable loss as a result of the
trader’s failure to complete a residential renovation project due to
its financial difficulties notwithstanding accepting payments from
the assisted consumer. Evidence indicated that the trader and the
director involved might have known that its business was in serious
difficulties but continued to accept payments.

During the reporting period, the Fund instructed solicitors to act for
the assisted consumer. Legal proceedings were commenced against
the trader which failed to file any notice of intention to defend. The
court finally issued a default judgment against the trader.

Statistics

Since its establishment and up until the year under review, the Fund
has received a total of 1,434 applications and has granted assistance
to 722 applications’.

Finance

The Fund’s income is derived from:

(@)

(b)

(c)
(d)

As

investing the capital sum in fixed deposits;

charging applicants a fee of $100 each for cases within the
jurisdiction of the Small Claims Tribunal and $1,000 each for other
court cases;

recovering legal costs from defendants in successful cases; and

receiving from each successful case a contribution of 10% of the
benefits gained by the assisted consumer.

at 31 March 2022, the Fund had a balance of approximately

HKS$13.4 million®.
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2 See Annex B for the statistics of applications for the Fund. E&HHEZREFTRMRS
3 See Annex C for the Fund’s Auditor’s Report and Financial Statements for the period under review. ESARFEERIIXEENHRE N B RS BHT &R o
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Mr Richard KHAW Wei-kiang, SC &3 & R R L2ED

Ms Queenie Fiona LAU 2JZJHAREN (up to = 2021.12.05)
Mr Raymond MAK Ka-chun ZEEE%4

Mr Alan NG Man-sang R84 A2ED

Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han EBHZ+
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Annex B ff{&% 2,

APPLICATIONS FOR CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND
HBEERNEERFEEMRE

Since 30 Nov 1994 up to 31 Mar 2022 F119944F11H30F 20224 3831H

Applications received B IEERENEE 1,434
Problem solved during application 7EEEz5HARIRIEC E A 188
Under consideration {37 & EH 6
Assistance granted BEESH TR HE 722

Status of cases where assistance granted' EE S F 178~ BB

Compensation recovered 7S5

e out-of-court settlement FESMNEE 199

* judgment obtained #EE5FFEEEN 21
Cases not pursued further KXEIEE

* no recovery prospect REEFEETRTAE 465

e application withdrawn KB z5#[E] 11

e terminated by the Fund #E&#KIE 17
In process 7E R 9
Assistance declined REfREEE 503
Other actions” EAth 5% 15

1 Some cases were carried over from previous year EEZR A MIER#E DEERSTRAEZR
2 Cases include but are not limited to those being referred to the Council for policy consideration, conciliation, monitoring and/or the Legal Aid Department
BRBEEFARNERXTHESFRRRE B BEL/ EEEHE
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STATISTICS FOR ASSISTED CASES AND APPLICATIONS

OF CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND IN 2021/22
2021/22F B HBEFRAREEZHEERFFRIRE

Assisted Cases
ZHNEISE

Brought forward assisted cases

2020/2021 oy emmmEx

Assistance granted
EESHTFHEINEE
Assisted cases cleared during the year

HAESTHERIZ B E R

2021/2022

Carrled forward assisted cases

Other Applications to be Handled
Hith BB

Brought forward applications
2020/2021 BHEIEIRENRS

20

New applications
BESEENFPRR
Applications handled
ERENHF
Assistance granted
EESHTFHEINEE
Assistance declined
BESREMRIRE
Problem solved
MR ERA
Other actions

Hfthr5iE

2021/2022
(32)

28

(36)

Carried forward applications
2022/2023 g impniemenzs

2022/23 Carried Forward Assisted Cases and Applications
2022/23 FEEBRBERENZIER KRR

Assisted cases

X BhfEZ

Other applications to be handled
2022/2023 BB EIENERE

Carried forward assisted cases and applications

ERERERN X BN EZRE R

15
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Independent Auditor’s Report &/ X iR EE

TO THE TRUSTEE OF CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND
(Established in Hong Kong under the Deed of Trust dated 30 November 1994)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Consumer Legal Action Fund
(the "Fund") set out on pages 159 to 174, which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the income and
expenditure statement, statement of changes in capital and reserves and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of the Fund's affair as at 31 March 2022, and of its deficit and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Fund in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The Board of Administrators of the Fund is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and
our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

BOHBERAESFFEA
(REAMR—NNEE+—B=1THNEEERE
BRI )

R

NIXEET (UTHERE "HM, ) EZEIERE
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BESHE B _ S _F=B=1+—BWHi%
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ARRBESBHRNRSHER  UNMEREW
i (BREESHERBE) -

BFIRR  ZEFMBRERCRETBSTNAS
BAHY (EBMBREER) EEMP BRI
TEENR _F__F=A=1+—HBNHBEIRRU
FESHEZRIEFENERIIREME

RRER

BHEREEEGH AR M L (BBERLE
AU) #EITEF - MAEXFER TAENEEE
EARE T ZBM B BRRAECEE,
MAPE—TEI - REEBSTMAEZ (B
EotAERTR) (MUTHE T7hl, ) - &
MBUINES  WEBTTRPHEMERER

B o HMIEE - RMAPTESHERBRERS
FAEMRBMNE R -
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MR B BN -
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EEREENERR - BMAREZEE - &
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Independent Auditor’s Report B 7 i B sRE=E

TO THE TRUSTEE OF CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND - continued
(Established in Hong Kong under the Deed of Trust dated 30 November 1994)

Responsibilities of Board of Administrators for the Financial Statements

The Board of Administrators is responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such internal control as the Board
of Administrators determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Administrators is
responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of
Administrators either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Administrators is responsible for overseeing the Fund's
financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control;

. obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Fund's internal control;

BOHBERINESFFEA — &
(REBMA—NNTFE+—A=THNGEEERE
EN DAV

WITRRENMERERARENTRE

ATREQRERTBSMASRM (B8
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Independent Auditor’s Report S 37 I EsRE=E

TO THE TRUSTEE OF CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND - continued
(Established in Hong Kong under the Deed of Trust dated 30 November 1994)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements -
continued

. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Board of Administrators;

. conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of
Administrators' use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going
concern; and

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 July 2022
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Income and Expenditure Statement IfZ A E KR
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 8, E — S -~ " =A=+—HItFE

Income
Bank interest income
Application fee from assisted consumers

Sundry income

Less:

Expenditure

Auditor's remuneration
Administrative service expenses
Bank charges

Legal fees for assisted consumers

Sundry expenses

Deficit for the year

NOTE 2022 2021
fyEE = s —F
HKS HKS
I AT

WA
RITHRIBULA 59,742 205,793
ZEHBEERGE 21,500 24,100
IR 221,477 7,858
302,719 237,751

VA

X H
2SN <& 17,500 17,000
ITBURIEZ 6 864,487 1,151,513
WITEH 4,580 4,090
ZBHEE RS 303,006 296,134
FEIESZ 9,147 12,014
1,198,720 1,480,751
REEEER (896,001) (1,243,000)
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Statement of Financial Position B FEARIE TR
AT31MARCH2022 A_E__H#=H=+—H

NOTE 2022 2021
FMegE - S B
HKS HKS$
BT BT

Current assets MENERE
Interest receivables FEUSFI S 36,055 87,388
Bank balances RITHEER 4 14,521,047 15,691,051
14,557,102 15,778,439

Current liabilities EAaE
Account payables and accrued expenses FEAERF N EETEH 248,711 287,021
Amount due to the Trustee FENZEE AGRIE 5 864,487 1,151,513
1,113,198 1,438,534
Net current assets RENEESEH 13,443,904 14,339,905

Capital and reserves BER K #HEE

Capital B 30,000,000 30,000,000
General fund —fpES (16,556,096) (15,660,095)
13,443,904 14,339,905

The financial statements on pages 159 to 174 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Administrators on 29 July 2022
and are signed on its behalf by:

N 159 EESE 174 BN BRRCR T _F LA TN BB TEESHELEERM - WA TRREE

Mr. Clement CHAN Kam-wing, MH, JP Ms. Gilly Wong Fung-han
BREBESIEA - BRER)T > ATHL =REZ T+
ADMINISTRATOR ADMINISTRATOR
BWITES BITES
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Statement of Changes in Capital and Reserves B4 G B E) TR
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 8, E " S~ " =B =+—HItFE

Capital General fund Total

EXR —RES B
HKS HKS HKS
BIT BIT HIT
At 1 April 2020 NIEBE"FFUA—H 30,000,000 (14,417,095) 15,582,905
Deficit for the year NEEEE - (1,243,000) (1,243,000)
At 31 March 2021 RIZ_—F=A=+—H 30,000,000 (15,660,095) 14,339,905
Deficit for the year NEEEE - (896,001) (896,001)
At 31 March 2022 W_B__H#=RA=+—H 30,000,000 (16,556,096) 13,443,904
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Statement of Cash Flows &R EFR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH2022 By E """ F—A=1+—HIFE

Operating activities
Deficit for the year
Adjustment for:
Bank interest income

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

(Decrease) increase in amount due to the Trustee

(Decrease) increase in account payables and
accrued expenses

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities

Interest received

Placement in time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Withdrawal of time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Net cash from investing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash
and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

Total bank balances represented by:
Time deposits with original maturity
over three months

Cash and cash equivalents

&EES

REEREE

B TIIRB fEHAE
SRITABMA

LEESEHHI
EERENE
ENSFEATIE (B ) 38
ENRANEERZ

OB ) s&hn

RREEEE RS FE
REES
EHAIE
FHRREZHARA=EAZ
R
RNREZHRB=EAZ
R
REREEDIREFR
HAELRSFYWRBFELZ
(B4 ) sEhn
RAEFNzRERREEFERA
RAFEZRERREEFERA
RITRESRERRITE R -
REZHEB=EHZ
ERE
RENRSEEERER

2022 2021
s s
HKS HKS

BT BIT
(896,001) (1,243,000)
(59,742) (205,793)
(955,743) (1,448,793)
(287,026) 508,287
(38,310) 120,474
(1,281,079) (820,032)
111,075 229,187
(17,690,000)  (17,283,000)
18,628,000 18,135,000
1,049,075 1,081,187
(232,004) 261,155
1,563,051 1,301,896
1,331,047 1,563,051
13,190,000 14,128,000
1,331,047 1,563,051
14,521,047 15,691,051
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bt} FRMisE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 B E S - —_H#=—A=+—HI-FE

1. OBJECTIVES AND OPERATION OF THE FUND

The Consumer Legal Action Fund (the "Fund") was established
on 30 November 1994 under a Deed of Trust with the
Consumer Council as the trustee (the "Trustee") for the
purpose of offering financial assistance to consumers in
seeking legal redress, remedies and protection. The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the "HKSAR") has granted a sum of HK$10 million as initial
capital to the Fund. The capital should be repayable to the
HKSAR upon termination. Additional capital amounting to
HKS$20 million was further injected by the HKSAR to the Fund
on 6 September 2010 and 31 May 2018, with HKS10 million
each time, increasing the capital to HK$S30 million.

The address of the registered office and principal place of
operation of the Trustee is 22nd Floor, K. Wah Centre, 191
Java Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is also the functional currency of the Fund.

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Fund has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2021 for the preparation of the
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Benchmark Reform - Phase 2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Fund’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf JE&R R HI=E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 &%

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs") - continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Fund has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

2021.

2022.

2023.

be determined.

The Board of Administrators anticipate that the application of
all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Insurance Contracts and the

related Amendments3

Reference to the Conceptual

Framework?

Sales or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 20211

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)3

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies®

Disclosure of Accounting
Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction3

Property, Plant and Equipment
- Proceeds before Intended

Use?

Onerous Contracts —

Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?
Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018 - 20202

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf & sRFTMIET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 B E S - —_H#=—A=+—HI-FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

MBHEMBREER T RS BOR

3.1 HBREmREE

3.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA.

The financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange
for services.

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Cost of financial assistance

All costs connected with the provision of financial
assistance rendered to consumers are recorded on an
accrual basis and charged against income and
expenditure account in the period incurred. Any costs
recoverable from assisted consumers are recorded as
income upon receipt.

Capital contribution

Contribution of cash and capital assets by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the "HKSAR") are accounted for as capital
contribution and recognised in the appropriate capital
and reserves account.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Fund becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments — continued

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf & sRFTMIET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 B E — B -~ —HF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2

Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued
Impairment of financial assets

The Fund performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL") on financial assets which
are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(including interest receivables and bank balances). The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on
the Fund's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

For all other instruments, the Fund measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Fund recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

The ECL on these assets are assessed individually.

3.2
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 73R R M5t

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH2022 By E """ F—A=1+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
3.2  Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Impairment of financial assets - continued

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Fund compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Fund considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument's
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its
debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf & sRFTMIET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 B E — B -~ —HF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2  Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Impairment of financial assets - continued

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Significant increase in credit risk - continued

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Fund presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Fund
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Fund regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Fund considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Fund, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Fund).

Irrespective of the above, the Fund considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 60 days past due unless the
Fund has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one
or more events of default that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2

Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued

Impairment of financial assets - continued

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets - continued

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower's financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Fund writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or when the amounts
are over one year past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the
Fund's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
income and expenditure statement.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

3.2

Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial assets - continued
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Fund
in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Fund expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Fund recognises an impairment gain or loss
in income and expenditure statement for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of accounts
receivables, where the  corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets are classified into financial assets at
amortised cost. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
3.2 Significant accounting policies - continued

Financial instruments - continued

Financial liabilities and equity instrument

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Fund are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including account payables and
accrued expenses and amount due to the Trustee are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Fund derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable
is recognised in income and expenditure statement.

The Fund derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Fund's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in income and expenditure statement.

BANK BALANCES 4.

Bank balances comprise cash and short-term deposits with
an original maturity of three months or less and time
deposits of HK$13,190,000 (2021: HK$14,128,000) with an
original maturity over three months. Bank balances and
time deposits carry interest at market rates which ranged
from 0.001% to 1.82% (2021: 0.001% to 1.82%) per annum.
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5. AMOUNT DUE TO THE TRUSTEE

The amount represents administrative service expenses
payable to the Trustee, details of which are set out in note 6.
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Fund incurred administrative service
expenses amounted to HK$864,487 (2021: HKS1,151,513) for
the administrative service and office support (comprising
salary costs and attributable overheads) provided to the
Fund. The charge by the Trustee is in accordance with the
provision of the Trust Deed governing the Fund and approved
by both the Trustee and the Board of Administrators of the
Fund.

7. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The capital structure of the Fund consists of capital from the
HKSAR.

The HKSAR has granted a sum of HK$10 million as additional
capital to the Fund during the year ended 31 March 2019. The
Board of Administrators of the Fund manages the Fund's
capital to ensure that the Fund will be able to continue as a
going concern. The overall strategy of capital management
remains unchanged from prior year.

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets THEE
Amortised cost HIE A
Financial liabilities =R

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Fund's major financial instruments include interest
receivables and bank balances and cash, account
payables and amount due to the Trustee. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The Board of Administrators of
the Fund manage and monitor these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Financial risk management objectives and policies —
continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Fund's maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Fund due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties arises from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Board of
Administrators of the Fund reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual receivable item at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In addition, the Fund performs impairment assessment
under ECL model upon application of HKFRS9 on
receivable balances individually. In this regard, the
Board of Administrators of the Fund consider that the
Fund's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on interest receivables and bank balances
are limited because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Fund has no significant interest rate risk as it does
not have any interest-bearing financial assets or
financial liabilities other than cash placed with financial
institutions.

Liquidity risk

The Fund is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as the
Board of Administrators closely monitors its cash flow.

The earliest date on which the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities, representing non-interest bearing
financial liabilities of the Fund, can be required to pay is
3 months or less.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The Board of Administrators of the Fund considers that
the carrying values of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the financial statements
approximate their fair values.
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CONSUMER COUNCIL
SERVICES CENTRES

HEBZEERHBPO

Consumer Complaint &
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Consumer Council Services Centre (North Point) Consumer Council Services Centre (Shatin)
Room 1410, 14/F, Kodak House II . Room 442, 4/F, Shatin Government Offices
39 Healthy Street East, North Point . 1 Sheung Wo Che Road, Sha Tin
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. Consumer Council Services Centre (Tsuen Wan)
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Kowloon fEE[& . Room 105, 1/F,
Consumer Council Services Centre (Tsim Sha Tsui) : Princess Alexandra Community Centre
3 Ashley Road, Tsim Sha Tsui ; 60 Tai Ho Road, Tsuen Wan
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Consumer Council HEEZEE

Tel E:%:2856 3113 Fax X :2856 3611

Website #8uk : http://www.consumer.org.hk

E-mail EF : cc@consumer.org.hk

22/F, K. Wah Centre, 191 Java Road, North Point, Hong Kong
EBILEEEE1IIREERERL22E




Paper from
responsible sources

wassc% FSC™ C112031 |

e




	Chairman’s Message 主席的話
	Membership of the Consumer Council 消費者委員會委員
	Co-opted Members of the Consumer Council 消費者委員會增選委員
	Message from the chief executive 總幹事的話
	Management Team of the Consumer Council 消費者委員會管理層
	The Consumer Council 消費者委員會
	2021-22 Highlights of the Year
 年度大事回顧
	21-22-AR-Layout-B1_Web.pdf
	Resolving Disputes between Consumers and Businesses 調停消費者與營商者之間的糾紛
	Improving Product Quality and Safety 改善產品質素及安全
	Promoting Sustainable Consumption 推廣可持續消費
	Collecting Market Information on Goods and Services 蒐集消費品和服務業的市場資訊
	Fostering Competition and a Fair Marketplace  促進市場競爭和公平交易
	Advancing Legal Protection for Consumers  促進消費者的法律權益
	Disseminating Consumer Information 傳播消費訊息
	EMPOWERING CONSUMERS THROUGH EDUCATION 以教育活動提升消費者自我保護能力
	Forging Closer Collaboration for Consumer Protection 加強對外合作保障消費者權益
	Commendations and Compliments  嘉許與感謝

	21-22-AR-appendices_Web.pdf
	Appendix 1 ● 附錄一
	Appendix 2 ● 附錄二
	Appendix 3 ● 附錄三
	Appendix 4 ● 附錄四
	Appendix 6 ● 附錄六
	Appendix 7 ● 附錄七
	Appendix 8 ● 附錄八
	Appendix 9 ● 附錄九
	Annual REport of the consumer legal action fund 消費者訴訟基金年報 2021-22
	Annex A ●附錄甲
	Annex B ●附錄乙
	Annex C ● 附錄丙

	Consumer Council Services Centres 消費者委員會服務中心


